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Corporate Information (Continued)
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cina soutl ¢/ty Shenzhen
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Phase | Trade Center V. China South City Shenzhen
—HRFES

Located in Pinghu, Shenzhen, China South City Shenzhen (“CSC Shenzhen”)
covers a total site area of approximately 1.06 million square meters (“sq. m.”)
with a planned gross floor area (“GFA") of approximately 2.60 million sg. m..
Phase I and Il trade centers and ancillary facilities with a GFA of approximately
1.46 million sg. m. are in operation. Construction of phase Ill with a planned
GFA of approximately 1.18 million sq. m. have commenced.

Positioned as a modern large-scale integrated logistics and trading platform
to serve the Pearl River Delta Region, CSC Shenzhen covers a wide spectrum
of product range, from raw materials to commodities of various industries,
themed products and factory outlets, complemented by comprehensive

Phase Il No.1 Trade Center W ancillary facilities and services including offices, residential facilities,

—HSER5ES conference and exhibition facilities, both bonded and common warehousing,
hotel and restaurants, banking and financial services, on-site logistics services
in couple of quality testing services, on-site governmental organization, etc.
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cHina soutt ¢/ty Nanchang
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Birdview - Trade centers ¥ . .
PR China South City Nanchang

..

Located in Nanchang, the capital of Jiangxi Province, China South City
Nanchang (“CSC Nanchang”) covers a site area of approximately 1.54
million sg. m. with a planned total GFA of approximately 4.28 million sq. m.
upon completion. Construction of phase | with a planned total GFA of
approximately 1.09 million sq. m. is underway and part of the trade centers
and residential facilities have been launched with enthusiastic market

response.

CSC Nanchang aims to make full use of its advantageous location as a
vigorous, integrated logistics trading platform for the Pan Pearl River Delta
and Yangtze River Delta regions. The project site is highly accessible with a

) Administration Twer-CSC Nanchang V comprehensive freight and public transportation network. Benefiting from

FEERAITHIR the office relocation plan of the provincial government to the vicinity of
the project site, CSC Nanchang will excel itself with its profound business
potential, which will in turn help boost the regional economy, as well as its
own economic value.
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Planned Total GFA
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million m2
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Birdview - CSC Nanchang ¥
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CHINA SOUTH ¢/ty Xi'an

No.2 Trade Center under construction ¥
P2 R 5 ES
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Trade center for machine and hardware under constructio‘n v
ERFORSEER S

'V Administration Tower - CSC Xi’an
PRERMITHIE
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China South City Xi‘an

Located in Xi'an, the capital city of Shaanxi Province, China South City Xi‘an
(“CSC Xi'an") is planned to develop a site area of approximately 10 million
sq. m. for a planned total GFA of approximately 17.5 million sq. m. upon
completion. Construction of phase | with a GFA of approximately 607,000
sg. m. have commenced and part of the trade centres have been launched
and achieved enthusiastic response at pre-sale.

With its strategic location at the Xi’an International Trade and Logistics Park,
which is well equipped with a railway container terminal and the largest
bonded area in the Northwest China, CSC Xi’an is amidst an extensive
transportation network. It is situated at an exit of the North Third Ring Road,
and two subway lines are planned to pass through.

Riding on the opportunities arising from the country’s strategic development
of China’s western regions, the Group is positioning CSC Xi‘an to become a
major, comprehensive logistics and trade center that caters to the growing
development needs in the region with its modern facilities and services.

78 2RI
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Planned Total GFA

RIRBEEMIE
million m2
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Trade center under construction ¥
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CHINA SOUTH C(TY Nanning

N L

Exhibition centers and Infrastructure ¥
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Logistics trade center under construction — Plaza 1 ¥
ERPEWRZ S0 — 15 ES

¥ Logistics trade center under construction — Plaza 4
RPN HT 0 — 45 ES

China South City Nanning

Located in Nanning, the capital city of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
China South City Nanning (“CSC Nanning”) is planned to cover a site area of
approximately 1.83 million sq. m. with a planned total GFA of approximately
4.88 million sq. m. upon completion. The construction of phase | with a
planned total GFA of approximately 1.36 million sq. m. is underway, of which
part of the logistics trade centers have been launched for sale with favourable
feedback.

Capitalizing on its ideal geographical position with extensive transportation
network, CSC Nanning will be developed to meet the demand in the Northern
Bay Region and Southeast Asia. The tariff waiver for cross-border trade
since the establishment of the China-ASEAN Free Trade Area will help boost
business and trade activities for CSC Nanning.

P BRI

AELEAN N EEGT AR BN EE - REGEEN S3EST
BK - ERBIREEHEOLSSEBT K - —MREEEO136EBT K
MR TREERN  ERBHNARSFOERETETSRERIFR
fE o

BREE IR B S SR E R - MEERIASH AL EE KR A i & #
FRMER - EPE-REBMEZIRKNIEMBLNBERE SN - S
BRI A0 SIS I B BB B AR A MR L

10 china South City Holdings Limited # &R ER A &



Planned Total GFA
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million m2
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Logistics trade center — Plaza 2 ¥
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clina souty ¢/ty Harbin
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China South City Harbin

Located in Harbin, the capital city of Hellongjiang province, China South City
Harbin (“CSC Harbin”) is planned to develop a site area of approximately 5
million sg. m. in phases for a planned total GFA of approximately 6.30 million
sg. m. upon completion. In June 2012, CSC Harbin has successfully bid for
the land of approximately 263,000 sqg. m.

Capitalizing on its beneficial position in Northeast China, a premier hub for
cross-border trade with countries in Northeast Asia and its proximity to the
China-Russia border, the project aims to capture opportunities arising from
the emerging development potential in the area.
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CHINA sSoUTH ¢y Zhengzhou
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China South City Zhengzhou

Located in Zhengzhou, the capital city of Henan Province, China South
City Zhengzhou (“CSC Zhengzhou”) plans to occupy a net land area of
approximately 7 million sq. m. for phased development so as to echo the
government’s plans for urban rejuvenation, especially the relocation and
consolidation of old wholesale markets in the city. The Group expects to
acquire part of the land for the project in FY2012/13.

CSC Zhengzhou is sited highly accessible Zhengzhou with extensive land
and air network. It is an important passenger and freight hub in China,
together with one of the most important international airport in the country.
Benefitting from its prime location in Zhengzhou City, the project aims to
cater to the strong demand for integrated logistics and trade centers in
China’s interior regions, and will provide a convenient trading platform to
promote trade among cities in central China.
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Financial Highlights
IBRE

(in HK$'000F& )

Revenue = Net profit attributable to owners of the parent
WA F R R A B FRE
3,670,767
2,070,708
1,552,455
2,234,033 1,329,503
1,570,229 I
2010 2011 2012 2010 2011 2012

fetassets value Net profit attributable to owners of the parent excluding fair value
EEEE gains on investment properties and related tax effect
! ATRENEATEURRABRBT SN ATREAREENE e

1,303,046

12,995,291

10,618,036

9,026,685
542,339
410,692 ‘
2010 2011 2012 2010 2011 2012
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Financial Highlights (Continued)

HMBREGE)
For the year ended 31 March
BE3AMBLEE
2012 2011 Approximate
HK$ HK$ Change %
BT BIT A 18 %
Revenue WA 3,670.8 millionHE  2,234.0 millon&H& 64.3
Gross profit ES 2,236.1 millionHE  1,333.0 millon&& 67.7
Gross profit ratio EF=E 61% 60%
Profit attributable to owners HARER AR
of the parent FFE 2,070.7 million®E  1,552.5 million /& 334
Net profit attributable to owners Rt EMELATE
of the parent excluding fair value Wk M AR A 2
gains on investment properties and YRR BIEA A B
related tax effect b IS 1,303.0 millionB & 542 3 millionB & 140.3
Net assets value BEFE 12,995.3 millionE& 10,618.0 milionB & 22.4
Gearing ratio BEARABEE 21% 15%
Proposed final dividend per share FORARER S (FR) HK7.5 cents3&1l HK2.5 cents;& 1l 200.0
Dividend payout ratio RSB R 34% 28%
Annual Report 2011/12 3 17



Chairman’s Statement
FERE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China South City
Holdings Limited (“China South City” or the “Company”), together with
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), | am pleased to report the annual results of
the Group for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012 (“FY2011/12").

Results and Dividend

The Group reported outstanding operating results in FY2011/12 amid a
challenging environment. Total revenue surged by 64.3% to HK$3,670.8
million (the fiscal year ended 31 March 2011 (“FY2010/11"): HK$2,234.0
million), mainly attributable to the revenue contribution from sales and
finance lease of CSC Shenzhen, CSC Nanchang and CSC Nanning. Profit
attributable to owners of the parent increased by 33.4% year-on-year
from HK$1,552.5 million to HK$2,070.7 million. Basic earnings per share
were HK34.58 cents (FY2010/11: HK25.95 cents).

The Board proposed a final dividend of HK7.5 cents per share for the
FY2011/12 (FY2010/11: HK2.5 cents per share), subject to shareholders’
approval at the Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting.

Review of the Market and Operations

Remarkable Performance Achieved

During the fiscal year under review, China’s economy maintained steady
growth despite growing at a slower pace. The central government’s
marco policies in the residential property market during the year caused
overall transaction volumes to decline. As one of the leading developers
and operators of large-scale, integrated logistics and trade centers in
China, China South City remained relatively unaffected by the challenging
operating environment, delivering promising performance.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FRHmE ()

The Group successfully achieved contracted sales and finance lease of
HK$7.1 billion for the fiscal year, recording a multiple-fold year-on-year
increase and realizing its annual sales target; with the sales and finance
lease of phase Il and Il properties of CSC Shenzhen; and the enthusiastic
response and higher than expected average selling price (“ASP”) from
the launch of properties of CSC Nanchang, CSC Nanning and CSC
Xi‘an. Sales revenue and finance lease income of HK$3,431.3 million was
booked in FY2011/12.

The overwhelming market response to the initial launch of CSC
Nanchang, CSC Xi‘an and CSC Nanning, provided unequivocal proof that
the Group’s business model can be replicated in different areas in China.
More importantly, it reveals and proves the management’s capability of
executing its business model. Our experience and expertise throughout
the years enable us to advance ourselves in the development and
operation of new projects.

Strategic Expansion and Disposal

While the existing projects are in place to make contributions to the
Group and drive future revenue, we continue to proactively identify
lucrative markets with high growth potential to further replicate our
business model in other areas in China to sustain the Group’s long term
development. Project agreements for two new projects — CSC Harbin
and CSC Zhengzhou — were signed in October 2011 and April 2012,
respectively. The Group is currently framing the layout of both projects
and expect to have part of their land to be acquired in the fiscal year
ended 31 March 2013 (“FY2012/13"), among which, CSC Harbin has
successfully bid for the land of approximately 263,000 sg. m. in June
2012.

In line with its core strategy of developing and operating integrated
logistics and trade centers, the Group disposed of the residential segment
of China South City Heyuan (“CSC Heyuan”) in September 2011.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FRHmE ()

Strengthened Business Model

The Group has been implementing comprehensive plans to further extend
its unique “One Body with Two Wings” business model, which refers to
with large scale integrated logistics and trade centers as the core business,
and supplemented by commercial facilities and residential properties, to
include five pillars of ancillary services that complement its core business
of developing and operating trade centers.

One-stop logistics services with warehousing, on-site delivery and
freight forwarding for the Group'’s projects.

E-commerce platform for clients to promote their businesses and
products — we plan to revamp our online platform to connect our trade
center shops with online version, in a view of promoting online wholesale
and retail trade and putting online clearing in practice.

Convention and exhibition services through a non-stop exhibition
platform where influential exhibitions and conventions are organized
and which facilitate increase in traffic flow of the projects. The annual
China (Shenzhen) International Industrial Fair (the “Industrial Fair”) in
CSC Shenzhen, as well as the China — ASEAN Light Industrial Products
Fair (the “Light Industrial Fair”) in CSC Nanning instanced the business
opportunities brought to our trade centers and tenants.

Outlet operation and management to further boost overall traffic.
Building on the successful opening of the first outlet center at CSC
Shenzhen last year, we plan to expand the business further at CSC
Shenzhen, and replicate it at other projects in the coming fiscal year.

Property management which takes into account the scale and multi-
industries nature of our business in providing safety and comfort
environment to our staff, clients and end-users across all projects.

These five interdependent service pillars, together with our trade centers
as a trading platform are intended to serve all clients on each project and
represent a self-sustaining operation that strengthens our overall business
model.

Green and Cost Saving

As our business continues to grow, we have enhanced our commitment
to corporate social responsibility by developing projects that are beneficial
to the Group, our clients and the environment as a whole. Taking the
overall costs reduction into consideration, we have been introducing
various initiatives such as LED lighting, photovoltaic system, combined
cooling, heating and power system and automation system, to promote
environmental and social sustainability to our projects progressively.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FRHmE ()

Prospects

Looking forward, the Group maintains a positive outlook on the Chinese
economy, which is backed by the continued rise in internal demand as
a major driver for growth. Capitalizing on the proven success of our
business model and expertise, particularly the anticipated returns from the
existing projects, we are confident of overcoming the challenges ahead as
we continue to grow our business. The Group believes that the successful
launch of CSC Nanchang, CSC Xi‘an and CSC Nanning, in addition to the
ongoing development of CSC Shenzhen, will start and continue to form
broader sources of income to boost revenue and earnings. We expect
target sales of HK$8.0 to 10.0 billion to be achieved in the forthcoming
fiscal year. Furthermore, for the sake of Group’s sustainability in the long
run, we will identify lucrative opportunities to replicate our business model
further across China in a prudent yet proactive manner, to maximize
returns to our shareholders.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders, note
holders, customers and business partners for their trust in the Group and
for their unwavering support. | would also like to thank the management
and staff for their professionalism and dedication to the Group.

Cheng Chung Hing
Co-Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2012

Al

RERK  ERAFTHEERAITHNERE N - K
SEEHELERSEE  BERFRINOEBEER
REFEME - FHERAHE S ROFERLR - &,
PIEE LR RN FB T EREADEKE - NEE
BE - BEERW  ARERRNMEEERRNKD
HEH I ERYIFEEROFEER - B EAKAR
R IBINRAREF - HAEH MEYREEN BT
HEFAB.OE10.0HEATT ° I - RAKENRE
FEER  RASFEMEREDELEEE NN
o E—IRPEEREMANBERN - BERFN
RALR -

RE AABUBEERRETEROBHMBER
R EBERAAN  BPREBBHEAEE —BEUR
MEERREIXE  ARTHEEREREBINEE
e HALENBERARHE -

L UE N
BT ERANTEE

B 201256 H26H

Annual Report 2011/12 3k

21



Management Discussion and Analysis

BN D

Business Review

During the fiscal year under review, China’s economic growth remained
stable amid unfavorable global economic conditions. The central
government'’s policies, such as tightened monetary controls and various
regulatory measures on the residential market, have resulted in a
nationwide drop in property prices and transaction volumes. However,
the later circumstances has diverted capital to and resulted in growth
momentum in the commercial property market. As one of the leading
developers and operators of large-scale, integrated logistics and trade
centers in China, the Group achieved outstanding financial results in
FY2011/12 riding on our niche positioning to cater to the continued
strong demand in integrated logistics and trade centers as well as our
capability of executing our unique business model.

With more projects launched to the market, China South City recorded
remarkable growth in revenue during the fiscal year under review. Sales
and leasing of CSC Shenzhen continued to deliver sound performance.
Meanwhile, the launch of properties in other projects for sale or pre-sale,
namely CSC Nanchang, CSC Nanning and CSC Xi‘an, have been met
with fervent responses among buyers. In FY2011/12, the Group achieved
total contracted sales and finance lease of HK$7.1 billion, exceeding the
Group's target of HK$7.0 billion. Details on contracted sales and finance
lease are shown in the table below:

Contracted Sales and Finance Lease in FY2011/12

¥ EEE

REBYREE  E2HCEBRELHIRET  F
BB MR BTEER - PRBTHER ZHEBR
DREEMSNSBRIEEE  F2EMEEKRER
SEHATR - MEEFEESTAEAMENS I
BEZMBERIERE ) - REBEATRARGERE
EYRMARRHFOERBAMEER 22— UHEE
A ENETSEHEEREDRNARZZFOFE
BN - WRETBREBHmEREXMES - B
2011/ 120 R F EES BRI BI TG 545 -

BEE ZEE B TS - R A KA BB B
EEFABIER « Y FERRNHERBERERR
HE - EERE - BEXYHESERN  mEERRR
PREMPEAB AELNMEHELTAE RER
e R20M/12MBFE - ARBWTOHERRE
HERFEETATEEL  BREAKE7OHEATH
B - FTASHE M EHENFBHN TR -

2011/ 12 N ERTHNHERBMERE

Contracted area

ASP (before
deduction of
business tax)

Contracted amount
(before deduction
of business tax)

FHERB ok

FTAIEAE (HBR & ZHAT) (F0BR & EBLAT)

sg. m. HK$/sq. m. HK$ million

IR PETT/E K BEAT

CSC Shenzhen RIIEEE I 96,800 13,800 1,335
Trade center LT FH 0 51,300 17,300 889
Office PNE 41,000 10,000 41
Residential property FEWE 4,500 7,700 35
CSC Nanchang EEES=E 344,900 8,900 3,063
Trade center RSH 174,300 11,900 2,076
Residential property EEYE 170,600 5,800 987
CSC Xi‘an TR 98,200 11,500 1,133
CSC Nanning o= 35,300 14,400 507
CSC Heyuan *1 AR R * 1 16,700 10,500 169
CSC Heyuan *2 REERI *2 N/A 7338 N/A 7~ F 894
Total 425+ 7,101

22

*1  Contracted sales up to 28 September 2011 (date of disposing residential
segment of CSC Heyuan)

*2  Balance represented disposal consideration of residential segment of CSC
Heyuan (RMB730 million)

China South City Holdings Limited ZFERFIHIZRGR A T
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With broader income sources from the CSC Shenzhen to four projects
including CSC Shenzhen, CSC Nanchang, CSC Xi‘an and CSC Nanning,
the Group has been heading towards a new era of development.

China South City Shenzhen

As the Group's first project in China, CSC Shenzhen is strategically
located in the heart of the Pearl River Delta region, occupying a site
area of approximately 1.06 million sgq. m. with a planned total GFA of
approximately 2.60 million sg. m.. As of 31 March 2012, a total GFA
of approximately 1.46 million sq. m. of trade center units and ancillary
facilities have been in operation, of which approximately 464,000 sq. m.
make up phase | and the remaining approximately 1.00 million sg. m.
make up phase Il. Phase Il has a planned GFA of approximately 1.18
million sg. m.. Construction of the phase Il office tower, the China South
Development Tower, was completed in March 2012, and it is expected to
commence operation in the first half of FY2012/13. It has a total GFA of
52,000 sg. m., of which 40,000 sg. m. is office space that will specifically
cater to the internal demand from merchants at CSC Shenzhen. The
planned construction work on the multi-functional complex Trade Center
No.5, with a total planned GFA of 327,000 sq. m., has its trade center
units designed for electronic goods, gadgets and accessories, is slated for
completion by the end of FY2012/13.

In FY2011/12, CSC Shenzhen generated sales and finance lease revenue
of HK$971.7 million (FY2010/11: HK$1,572.0 million), of which phase |
and Il trade centers had a GFA of 35,400 sqg. m. (FY2010/11: 85,600 sg. m.)
and sold at an ASP of HK$16,500/sq. m. (FY2010/11: HK$16,800/sq. m.).
It's phase Il office tower, the China South Development Tower, has a GFA
of 31,500 sg. m. secured for finance lease contracts at an average price of
HK$10,200/sq. m. (FY2010/11: Nil). As for the phase Il office tower, the
Global Logistics Center, has a GFA of 9,500 sg. m. entered into finance
lease contracts at an average price of HK$9,500/sq. m. (FY2010/11:
HK$8,800/sq. m.). For the residential properties, a GFA of 4,500 sq. m.
(FY2010/11: 2,300 sq. m.) entered into a finance lease contract at an
average price of HK$7,700/sq. m. (FY2010/11: HK$6,800/sg. m.).

¥ CSC Shenzhen Phase Il & Ill office towers:
Y EER — MR = E AR

¥ Brands in CSC Shenzhen
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During the fiscal year under review, the occupancy of CSC Shenzhen
recorded steady growth. The total occupancy rate of the phase | trade
center and shops increased to 95% in FY2011/12 (FY2010/11: 86%),
while that of phase Il trade center and shops released for rent rose to
48% in FY2011/12 (FY2010/11: 36%). The total occupancy rate of the
phase Il office space was 99% (FY2010/11: 96%). With the growing
maturity of the project, and the subsequent rise in total occupancy rate as
well as traffic flow, there is a gradual increase in rental income, property
management income and hotel income.

CSC Shenzhen phase | currently houses suppliers of five key light industries
mutually-complementary, namely, Textile and Clothing, Leather and
Accessories, Electronics and Accessories, Printing, Paper and Packaging,
and Metals, Chemicals and Plastics. To cope with the development of
CSC Shenzhen and surrounding regions, phase Il now has an expanded
product range that includes industrial raw materials, finished products,
small commodities, themed products and factory outlets. Currently, phase
Il has been partitioned into the Tea and Tea Ware Center, Hong Kong
Products Sales Center, Lighting Center, Underwear Center, Men’s Wear,
Women's Wear, Kids Wear and Kids Wares, Home Furnishing Center, Dry
Food Center, Outlet Center, etc..

The Outlet Center in phase Il trade center is one of our major pillars of
development, which on one hand provides value branded goods to end-
users, and on the other hand increases the overall traffic flow of the
project. Since its grand opening in April 2011, it has incorporated a list
of the major international sportswear brands such as Nike, Adidas, Puma,
Kappa, Fila, Lotto and Li Ning. Recently, the business has extended to
fashion, leather goods and accessories renowned brands, for example,
Daniel Hechter, Le Saunda, Sanrio, Lids, Walker Shop, Baleno, etc..

A CSC Shenzhen Phase Il Hong Kong Products
Sales Center
R EER S E L
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As a modern integrated logistics trading platform, CSC Shenzhen makes
available to its tenants and their customers a full range of services and
facilities that include trade center shops, office facilities, residential
facilities, both bonded and common warehousing, and hotel and dining.
Banking and financial services, on-site logistics services and quality testing
services provided by third parties are available at CSC Shenzhen as well.
There are also on-site governmental organizations. We aim to not only
provide one-stop logistics and trading solution to our users, but also a
comfortable and self-sustainable environment. Leveraging our strong
brand recognition and increasing levels of traffic, food and beverage shops
like McDonald and KFC; banks that include Bank of China, Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China, Agricultural Bank of China, Ping An Bank and
Postal Savings Bank of China; as well as a variety of chain stores such as
China Mobile and China Telecom are well underway to serve our tenants
and their customers at CSC Shenzhen.

The Group always endeavors to provide value to its services and facilities.
Considering the rising trend in online platforms, we aim to revamp our
Shenzhen portal to better connect our trade center shops to our online
platform. In the near future, customers can conduct trade, whether B2B
or B2C, with shops at CSC Shenzhen in person or via our online portal.
Subsequently we plan to provide clearing services online and to extend
our e-commerce services to all other projects.

Industrial Fair at CSC Shenzhen

In April 2012, the Group continue to co-organise the 5th Industrial Fair
with the China Council for the Promotion of International Trade, the
China Chamber of International Commerce and the Shenzhen Municipal
People’s Government. As one of the signature annual events in Shenzhen,
the three-day Industrial Fair aims to boost the economy of the region. It
also brings traffic and business flow to CSC Shenzhen, and continue to
attract international and local exhibitors with its unique sense of glamour
and reputation.
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China South City Nanchang

CSC Nanchang, located in Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, aims to make full
use of its advantageous location as a vigorous, integrated logistics trading
platform for the Pan Pearl River Delta and Yangtze River Delta regions. For
suppliers, manufacturers and merchants, the site is highly accessible with
its ideal location within a complete freight network, including a cargo
marshalling yard, a container terminus and an international airport nearby.
For the general public, the Nanchang West Railway Station, a principal of
high speed rail station currently under construction, is just a few minutes’
drive. In addition, as it stands to benefit from the office relocation plan of
the Jiangxi provincial government to the vicinity of the project site, which
will reveal a shift in the focus of the provincial administration accordingly,
CSC Nanchang will excel with its trade centers, extensive supporting
commercial and residential facilities, which will in turn help to boost the
regional economy, as well as its own economic value, with its profound
business potential.
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CSC Nanchang's trade centers will cover a wide range of industries. With
a site area of approximately 1.54 million sq. m., it will provide a total
GFA of approximately 4.28 million sq. m. upon completion, according
to the construction plans. The project will provide a comprehensive set
of facilities that encompasses trade centers, supporting commercial and
residential facilities, warehouse and car parks. Construction of phase |,
with a planned GFA of 1.09 million sg. m., comprising 705,000 sg. m.
of trade centers and 385,000 sg. m. of supporting residential facilities,
commenced in January 2011. During the fiscal year under review, the
construction work on a GFA of 377,000 sq. m. of trade center units
was completed. For FY2012/13, a total GFA of 713,000 sg. m. has been
planned for construction.

China South City Holdings Limited ZFERFIHIZRGR A T

A CSC Nanchang residential facilities
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CSC Nanchang began to make contribution in FY2011/12, as sales were
given a boost with the successful launch of the phase | trade centers and
residential facilities. Trade Center No.1 and No.2, devised for fashion,
clothing and textiles, and leather goods and accessories, generated
sales revenue of up to HK$1,959.2 million in FY2011/12 with total
GFA 174,300 sg. m. sold at an ASP of HK$11,900/sg. m.. Parts of the
residential facilities of GFA of 385,000 sg. m. were also launched for pre-
sale during the fiscal year under review, and have received particularly
enthusiastic response, a GFA of 170,600 sq. m. was pre-sale at an ASP of
HK$5,800/sg. m..

China South City Xi‘an

Located in the Xi'an International Trade and Logistics Park in Shaanxi
Province, which is well equipped with a railway container terminal and
the largest bonded area in the northwestern regions of China, CSC Xi‘an
is located amidst an extensive transportation network. It is situated at an
exit of the North Third Ring Road, and two subway lines are planned to
pass through. One of the subway stations currently under construction is
just next to our phase | buildings.

CSC Xi'an is a joint venture between the Group and Shenzhen Shi Hao De
Tien Cheng Investment Limited and is 65% owned by the Group. Riding
on the opportunities arising from the country’s strategic development of
China’s western regions, the Group is positioning CSC Xi'an to become a
major, comprehensive logistics and trade center that caters to the growing
development needs in the region with its modern facilities and services.

The project has a planned total site area of approximately 10 million sq.
m. and planned total GFA of approximately 17.50 million sg. m., half
of which will be trade centers, while the remaining half is planned for
ancillary facilities. During the fiscal year under review, construction of a
total planned GFA of 607,000 sg. m. of the phase | trade centers was
in full-swing, and the trade centers achieved an enthusiastic response
in pre-sales. They are being developed with the aim of serving the
machinery and hardware and fashion, clothing and textile industries.
With strong prospects for the foreseeable future, the project will tap the
burgeoning demand for trade centers in a broad range of industries,
including machinery and hardware, as well as construction materials and
automobile accessories industries, and will fill the void of deteriorating old
wholesale centers in the city.

¥ (CSC Xi'an trade centers for machinery and hardware
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China South City Nanning

Strategically located in Nanning, the capital city of the Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, CSC Nanning distinguishes itself as a critical gateway
between China and the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (“ASEAN").
Located in an extensive transportation network, the site is well connected
to railway stations, international airport and highways. Capitalizing on its
ideal geographical position and the establishment of the China-ASEAN
Free Trade Area, CSC Nanning will be developed to meet the demand in
the Northern Bay Region and Southeast Asia. With the establishment of
the China-ASEAN Free Trade Area, the tariff waiver for cross-border trade
will help boost business and trade activities for CSC Nanning.

The project has a planned total site area of approximately 1.83 million
sg. m. and a planned total GFA of approximately 4.88 million sg. m. upon
completion. Construction of the project is being carried out in stages.
Phase | of the complex has a total GFA of approximately 1.36 million sq. m.,
comprising approximately 895,000 sg. m. of logistics trade centers and
465,000 sq. m. of residential facilities. During the fiscal year under review,
logistics trade centers serving the machinery and hardware, leather,
clothing and textile industries, with a total GFA of approximately 329,000
sg. m. were completed. In FY2012/13, there are logistics trade center of
planned GFA 566,000 sq. m. and residential facilities of 465,000 sq. m., a
total of 1.03 million sg. m., under construction.

The launch of the logistics trade center at CSC Nanning in March 2012
has received favorable feedback. Total revenue of HK$341.2 million
was generated with the sale of GFA of 24,800 sg. m. at an ASP of
approximately HK$14,600/sg. m.. In addition, apart from a long-term
lease contract with a professional market operator of home furnishing
products in China for an entire block, CSC Nanning also received keen
interest in rental for another logistics trade center from merchants
operating tea and tea ware market and featured ASEAN products. These
two logistics trade centers are planned for construction in FY2012/13.
With the keen demand in the local market and from cross border trade
among China-ASEAN countries, the Group is confident about the future
development of CSC Nanning.
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Light Industrial Fair at CSC Nanning

The 8th Light Industrial Fair, co-organized by the Ministry of Commerce
of China as well as the 10 ASEAN Counterparts, and the China-ASEAN
Expo Secretariat, hosted by The People’s Government of Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, was successfully held at CSC Nanning in October
2011 and it is one of the major annual events of the China-ASEAN Expos.
In light of the success of the Light Industrial Fair, and with the growing
importance of CSC Nanning in the region, the CSC Nanning Exhibition
Center was appointed the official venue of the event by the China-ASEAN
Expo Secretariat.

China South City Heyuan

Located in Heyuan, Guangdong Province, CSC Heyuan comprises a
residential segment with a total site area of approximately 1.14 million
sq. m. and a large-scale integrated logistics and trade center under
planning. The residential segment secured sales income of HK$159.3
million by selling GFA of approximately 16,700 sq. m. at an ASP of
approximately HK$10,500/sq. m. (FY2010/11: HK$10,000/sg. m.) in
FY2011/12 before its disposal on 28 September 2011 for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$1,185.9 million (RMB967.8 million) for
equity interest and assignment of loans due from CSC Heyuan.

The Group signed an agreement with the government of Zijin County,
Heyuan, in Guangdong Province in December 2010 to develop an
integrated logistics and trade center. In a bid to ensure that the
development of the trade center segment is in line with the economic
growth and demand in the region, the project outline will be announced
in due course.

New Projects

Leveraging its replicable business model and strong brand recognition,
the Group is poised to at any opportunity select lucrative markets with
high growth potential, particularly among provincial cities in China, so as
to sustain the Group’s development in the long run. For the fiscal year
under review, two new projects have been included in our development
blueprint.
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China South City Harbin

The Group entered into an agreement with the Harbin Daowai District
People’s Government in October 2011 to develop a large-scale integrated
logistics and trade center.

CSC Harbin is strategically located in Harbin, the capital city of
Heilongjiang Province. Capitalizing on its beneficial position in Northeast
China, a premier hub for cross-border trade with countries in Northeast
Asia, and its proximity to the China-Russia border, the project aims to
capture opportunities arising from the emerging development potential in
the area. With a planned total site area of approximately 5 million sg. m.
and a planned GFA of approximately 6.30 million sg. m. upon completion,
CSC Harbin will be developed in phases. In June 2012, CSC Harbin has
successfully bid for the land of approximately 263,000 sg. m.

China South City Zhengzhou

In April 2012, the Group entered into an agreement with Xin Zheng
City People’s Government in Henan Province to develop a large-scale
integrated logistics and trade center. CSC Zhengzhou is located in
Zhengzhou, the capital city of Henan Province, which is highly accessible
with extensive land and air network as it is a main passenger and freight
hub via the extensive highway and railway networks in China plus one of
the most important international airport in the country. CSC Zhengzhou
plans to occupy an estimated total net land area of approximately 7
million sg. m. and will develop in phases so as to echo the government’s
plans for urban rejuvenation, especially the relocation and consolidation
of old wholesale markets in the city. Benefitting from its prime location
in Zhengzhou City, the project aims to cater to the strong demand for
integrated logistics and trade centers in China’s interior regions, and will
provide a convenient trading platform to promote trade among cities
in central China. The Group expects to acquire parts of the land for the
project in FY2012/13.
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Green and Cost Saving

Being environmentally-friendly is a key component of the Group's
commitment to sustainable development. As a responsible enterprise,
the Group strives to achieve a balance between development and
conservation by integrating environmental considerations into the
planning, operation and maintenance of its projects. As such, the Group
endeavors to introduce advanced energy-saving technologies and systems
to its projects, including the following:

LED lighting system: boasting greater efficiency, energy savings and low
carbon emissions. Widely adopted at CSC Shenzhen, CSC Nanchang, CSC
Nanning, CSC Xi’an and will extend to all new projects.

Automation system: encompasses lighting, air-conditioning and
elevators used to reduce electricity consumption and costs. Apart from
CSC Shenzhen phase Il trade centers, it will also be installed at all newly
constructed buildings of our projects.

Photovoltaic system: mounted on the roof of the buildings in order to
power the DC LED lighting systems in the underground car parks at CSC
Shenzhen, CSC Nanchang and CSC Nanning as well as the public areas at
CSC Shenzhen.

Combined Cooling, Heating and Power (“CHP”) system: the CHP
system is under construction at CSC Nanchang. Since the unconsumed
energy during electricity generation could be recycled and reused, the
system could save energy and costs, and reduce emission.

With the expansion of our business and in light of our commitment to
environmental conservation, the Group will continue to adopt good
practices in energy savings as well as to identify and develop other
suitable energy management systems with the use of renewable energy in
our projects as it aims to benefit the environment at large, to contribute
towards better sustainability and to achieve cost reduction in the long run.

RIREKAEA
RRDAEEHTRHEZRFAENEE R - (FRR
EANLE  AEERNRERBRRENETE ;
YRAERE  BEREEIEEERERE - B
bt - ARERHIAR B AN EBERITR RS - 2
A TEE

LEDRBARL  RIEESMEMRS - &gt LK
e RRYIERY - MEEEW  BEERHMAR
ERMBEZER  YREEESERRIEZ AR -

BECERRS  RERA  =RLRERES - R
EREENKAE - BRYIFERR _AZZHOI - &
ERMAANEER THEHNLRBEESR

HRES - RERNELEWIARL - RARYIERY B
ERW LA EERR SN T =S ERLEDIRA
g WARYIERBRNAHKBARRHE -

REBMERR ZEZANLEFHEERRER - AR
BEE U e MR B ER AR R - B R A A BEIR &%
FRAKECAR - B BhREE ©

BEEEBER R RERENAE  ARESES
RMEEMEET S - URAFFREZEEMSENEIR
EREL - WRIABPEABLERR - AT RER
B RABEERE 2N UREEBREKA -

Annual Report 2011/12 4R

31



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET®WR D (&)

Financial Review

For FY2011/12, the Group reported a remarkable growth in its financial
performance, with revenue growth of 64.3% to HK$3,670.8 million
(FY2010/11: HK$2,234.0 million), and profit attributable to owners of
the parent for the year grew 33.4% to HK$2,070.7 million (FY2010/11:
HK$1,552.5 million). Excluding the effect of fair value gains on investment
properties and related tax effect, profit attributable to owners of the
parent for the year as adjusted increased by 140.3% to HK$1,303.0
million (FY2010/11: HK$542.3 million). Basic earnings per share increased
to HK34.58 cents (FY2010/11: HK25.95 cents).

Revenue

Revenue increased by 64.3% to HK$3,670.8 million (FY2010/11:
HK$2,234.0 million). The increase was mainly due to the commencement
of sales of trade center units at CSC Nanchang and CSC Nanning during
the fiscal year under review.
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FY2011/12 FY2010/11 Change

2011/12 2010/11
HBEE HFEE g
HK$'000 HK$'000 %

FET T
Sales of properties MEEE 3,010,808 1,832,580 64.3%
Sales of trade centers units HEX GO E 2,851,531 1,358,310 109.9%
Sales of residential properties HEFEDE 159,277 474,270 (66.4%)
Finance lease income BEHEEWA 420,515 213,729 96.8%
Rental income HE WA 166,393 133,453 24.7%
Property management service income MEEIBREIA 41,500 30,695 35.2%
Hotel income SBETEHA 26,946 21,670 24.3%
Other fee income Hh&ERKA 4,605 1,906 141.6%
3,670,767 2,234,033 64.3%
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Revenue from Sales of Properties

Revenue from sales of properties increased by 64.3% to HK$3,010.8
million (FY2010/11: HK$1,832.6 million). The increase was mainly due to
the commencement of sales of trade center units in CSC Nanchang and
CSC Nanning, which contributed revenue to the Group of approximately
HK$2,300.4 million. The sales made by each project have been illustrated
as follows:
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RERHEM NS EMMR R EERRANZ S0
R AAREEERY2,300.48 8B TTHWAFTE -
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ASP (before deduction Sales revenue
of business tax) GFA sold (Net of business tax)
(HKS$/sq. m.) (sq. m.) HKS$ million
FHER HEWA
(MBREEBAD) CEREEE (MR ERM)
(BRIEHK) (FA*) BEET
FY2011/12 FY2010/11 FY2011/12 FY2010/11 FY2011/12 FY2010/11
2011/12 201011 2011/12 201011 2011/12 201011
HREE MBEE HREE HHER HHEE HHER
(CSC Shenzhen FER, 16,500 16,800 35,400 85,600 551.1 1,358.3
CSC Nanning HEEEY 14,600 - 24,800 - 341.2 -
(CSC Nanchang MEERN 11,900 - 174,300 - 1,959.2 -
CSC Heyuan RER, 10,500 10,000 16,700 50,200 159.3 474.3
Total st N/A FER N/A g 251,200 135,800 3,010.8 18326
Finance Lease Income MEHEEWRA

Finance lease income, derived from the leasing of office towers and
residential properties, increased by approximately 96.8% to HK$420.5
million (FY2010/11: HK$213.7 million). The increase was primarily
attributable to finance lease contracts secured since the completion of the
phase Il office tower in CSC Shenzhen during the fiscal year under review.

During the fiscal year under review, the Group entered into finance lease
contracts with tenants for approximately 45,500 sq. m. (FY2010/11:
26,200 sg. m.) at an average price of HK$9,800/sq. m. (FY2010/11:
HK$8,600/sg. m.).

Rental Income

Rental income increased by 24.7% to HK$166.4 million (FY2010/11:
HK$133.5 million). The increase was attributable to the continuous
increase in rental income of phase | and Il trade center of CSC Shenzhen.

Occupancy at CSC Shenzhen has been driven by the demand for large-
scale integrated logistics and trade center facilities, and the growing
profile of China South City. As at 31 March 2012, the total occupancy
rate of phase | trade center and shops increased to approximately 95%
(31 March 2011: 86%), while the total occupancy rate for phase Il
trade center and shops increased to 48% (31 March 2011: 36%) of the
launched area. The average effective monthly rental rate for both phase |
and phase Il trade centers and shops was approximately HK$35 per sg. m.
(31 March 2011: phase I: HK$32/sg. m.; phase Il: HK$34/sq. m.).
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Property Management Service Income

Income from property management services rose by 35.2% to HK$41.5
million (FY2010/11: HK$30.7 million). The increase in income was mainly
due to the contribution of rising property management fee from CSC
Shenzhen phase | and Il trade centers and supporting facilities, with an
increase in the total occupancy rate of the launched area up to 95% and
48% respectively as at 31 March 2012.

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales mainly includes construction costs of properties
sold, construction costs of properties held for finance lease and rental
expenses. Cost of sales increased by 59.2% to HK$1,434.7 million
(FY2010/11: HK$901.0 million).

The increase was in line with the area of the properties sold and properties
entered into finance lease contracts during the fiscal year under review.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased by 67.7% to HK$2,236.1 million (FY2010/11:
HK$1,333.0 million). Gross profit margin was slightly increased to 60.9%
during the fiscal year under review (FY2010/11: 59.7%). The rise in
gross profit margin was mainly attributable to an increase in the revenue
contribution from the property development segment. Revenue from
property development segment enjoyed a relatively higher gross profit
margin of 63.1% when compared to the Group’s other segments.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains significantly increased by 1,285.3% to HK$547.2
million (FY2010/11: HK$39.5 million). The increase was mainly due to the
gains generated from disposal of subsidiaries.

During the fiscal year under review, the Group disposed of three wholly-
owned subsidiaries: Fortune Pace Investments Limited, Fortune Great
Investment Limited and China South City Enterprise (Heyuan) Co. Ltd.
("Heyuan Enterprise”), which included development rights for the
residential portion of the Heyuan project. The subsidiaries were disposed
for a total consideration of RMB730.0 million (approximately HK$894.5
million), bringing an after-tax gain of approximately HK$380.4 million to
the Group.

Fair Value Gains on Investment Properties

The fair value gains on investment properties decreased by 23.7% to
HK$1,117.7 million (FY2010/11: HK$1,464.2 million). During the fiscal
year under review, the fair value gain was mainly contributed from new
properties in CSC Nanning, for which fair value was compared with the
booked land and construction costs. The value of the Group’s properties
in Shenzhen remained stable.

For last fiscal year, the fair value gain was mainly contributed from new
and existing properties in CSC Shenzhen. As the property price in Nanning
is lower than that in Shenzhen, the balance of fair value gain was declined
in the fiscal year under review.
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Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs increased by 67.6% to HK$187.3 million
(FY2010/11: HK$111.8 million). The increase was mainly attributable to
advertising and promotional expenses incurred by our new projects in
Nanchang, Nanning and Xi'an, for which these projects have commenced
sales or pre-sales during the fiscal year under review.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by 68.6% to HK$350.9 million
(FY2010/11: HK$208.1 million). The increase was primarily due to the
increase in business activities from new projects and the expansion of the
management team and increased number of employees. During the fiscal
year under review, the Group has granted 226,900,000 share options
to a director and certain employees, and HK$42.3 million share option
expenses were recorded.

Finance Costs

Finance costs were up by 93.1% to HK$58.9 million (FY2010/11: HK$30.5
million). The rise was mainly attributable to an increase in new bank and
other loans for general business purposes with interest expenses recorded
through income statement. The increase in the interest rate announced
by the People’s Bank of China during the fiscal year under review also
contributed to the increase in finance costs.

Tax

Tax expenses recorded an increase of 38.4% to HK$1,258.0 million
(FY2010/11: HK$908.7 million). The increase in tax expenses was
attributable to the increase in current income tax expenses and land
appreciation tax as a result of the income generated from CSC Nanchang
and CSC Nanning during the fiscal year under review.

Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables increased by 2,449.1%
to HK$866.8 million (31 March 2011: HK$34.0 million). The increase
was mainly arose from the consideration receivable generated from the
disposal of three wholly-owned subsidiaries with a total consideration of
RMB730.0 million (approximately HK$894.5 million) and the consideration
receivable for assignment of the loan due from these wholly-owned
subsidiaries with total consideration of RMB237.8 million (approximately
HK$291.4 million). As at 31 March 2012, the remaining consideration
receivable from the disposal was approximately HK$757.0 million.
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Regarding the disposal of residential segment of CSC Heyuan, as disclosed
in the announcement dated 28 September 2011, the total consideration
of approximately RMB967.8 million (including RMB730 million of equity
interest and RMB237.8 million of assignment of loans will be settled by
several installments within 9 months after the date of disposal. A total
installments amount of RMB300 million was received up to 28 March
2012. On 28 March 2012, a mutual supplemental agreement was made
by all contracted parties to reschedule the remaining consideration into
three installments on or before 31 March 2012, 15 June 2012 and 31 July
2012 for the amount of RMB50 million, RMB50 million and RMB567.8
million, respectively.

The Group has collected RMB50 million on 31 March 2012 and 14 June
2012 from the purchasers, respectively.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables increased by 393.2% to HK$6,529.7 million (31
March 2011: HK$1,324.1 million). The increase was mainly due to the
increase in construction fees and retention payables as construction of
new projects are underway, and the increase in sales and rental deposits
received and receipts in advance (including those received for contracted
sales) arising from new projects. As at 31 March 2012, the balance of
construction fees and retention payables and deposits received and
receipts in advance were HK$2,716.3 million and HK$3,462.5 million,
respectively.

Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group finances its operations primarily through internally generated
funds, bank and other loans and senior note financing.

Borrowing and Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had HK$3,832.0 million in cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash (31 March 2011: HK$4,564.5
million), among which non-restricted cash and cash equivalents were
approximately HK$3,315.7 million (31 March 2011: HK$4,521.3 million).
The Group's cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash were primarily
denominated in RMB, HK dollars and US dollars.

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had approximately HK$6,618.4 million
in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes (31 March
2011: HK$6,142.8 million). The Group had aggregated interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings of approximately HK$4,773.4 million as at 31
March 2012 (31 March 2011: HK$4,242.7 million), of which HK$2,740.3
million will be repayable within one year or on demand, approximately
HK$576.6 million will be repayable in the second year, approximately
HK$985.9 million will be repayable in the third to fifth years and
approximately HK$470.6 million will be repayable after five years. As at
31 March 2012, the Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
of approximately HK$2,958.7 million were secured by certain buildings,
hotel properties, investment properties, properties under development,
leasehold land and properties held for sales with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$8,855.1 million.
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All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group bear interest
at floating rates that range from 5.98% to 7.87% (31 March 2011: 4.78%
to 6.10%) per annum and which are denominated in RMB. Furthermore,
as at 31 March 2012, the Group had unused banking facilities of
approximately HK$2,200.3 million. The Group will deploy these banking
facilities as appropriate, depending on project development needs and
working capital status.

In FY2010/11, the Company issued senior notes due in January 2016
with a nominal value of US$250.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,950.0 million) at a coupon rate of 13.5% per annum for the
purpose of financing existing and new projects and for general corporate
use. During the fiscal year under review, the Company repurchased
from the market a portion of the senior notes with nominal value of
US$9.0 million. The average repurchase price was at 74.8% of the senior
note’s nominal value. The repurchase was made at a total consideration
of approximately US$6.9 million, and a gain of HK$14.0 million was
recorded. As at 31 March 2012, the carrying value of the Group’s senior
notes was HK$1,845.0 million.

Gearing ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio (net debt divided by total equity) was 21% as at
31 March 2012, 27% as at 30 September 2011 and 15% as at 31 March
2011, respectively.

Net Current Assets and Current Ratio

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had net current assets of HK$2,350.4
million (31 March 2011: net current assets HK$2,064.7 million). The
current ratio was at 1.22 (31 March 2011: 1.53).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has provided guarantees with respect to banking facilities
granted by certain banks in connection with mortgage loans entered into
by purchasers of the Group's trade center units and residential properties,
and bank loans entered into by lessees of the Group’s residential and
commercial properties. As at 31 March 2012, the guarantees amounted
to HK$352.6 million (31 March 2011: HK$152.6 million). The guarantees
granted to purchasers will be released when the purchasers obtain the
building ownership certificates, which will then be pledged with the
banks. For leased residential and commercial properties, the guarantees
will be released accordingly along with the repayment of loan principals
by the lessees.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEWR D (&)

Up to the end of the reporting period, the Group provided guarantees for
bank facility in the amount of HK$78.9 million to Heyuan Enterprise. As
agreed by both the Group and the purchaser of Heyuan Enterprise on 28
March 2012, the guarantees provided by the Group for Heyuan Enterprise
will be released by 31 July 2012 or otherwise the purchaser of Heyuan
Enterprise will pay on behalf of the Group for any payments requested by
the bank relating to the bank facility.

Commitments

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had future capital expenditure
contracted but not yet provided in the amount of HK$3,129.6 million (31
March 2011: HK$966.1 million), and authorized but not yet contracted in
the amount of HK$2,731.7 million (31 March 2011: HK$6,408.7 million).

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts its business mainly in Renminbi; this includes our
income and expenses, assets and liabilities. During the fiscal year under
review, the exchange rate of Renminbi to HK dollars and US dollars
increased steadily. The Group’s management believes that the fluctuation
of the Renminbi will not have a significant impact on the Group's
operations. The Group has not issued any financial instruments for
hedging purposes.

Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Associated
Companies

Aside from the disposal of three wholly-owned subsidiaries — Fortune
Pace Investments Limited, Fortune Great Investment Limited and Heyuan
Enterprise — as mentioned above, the Group made neither material
acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies in the
fiscal year under review.

Land for Projects and Restriction on Sales

The Group signs project agreements with local governments prior to the
development of all projects in order to outline the blueprints of relevant
projects in the area. Agreements generally set out the intended size and use
of land. However, the acquisition of land, actual land area and other land
restrictions are subject to the relevant regulations and local government
procedures of public tender, auction and listing. The actual area of the
land acquired and other relevant conditions will be subject to these
procedures.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERFIHIZREGR A T
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The progress of the land acquisition and project development depends
on the progress of the Group’s planning and construction of the relevant
projects, as well as the procedures required and the time required for
each of these procedural formalities as determined by the different local
government departments, including the approval for land use quotas,
the requisition and planning of land, the changing of land use, and
the evaluation and valuation process prior to the procedures of public
tender, auction and listing. As the time taken and requirements for such
procedures vary in different places, as do the formalities and time the
Group requires for applying for certificates for different projects, the
Group adjusts the development for each project accordingly. In view of its
substantial land bank and greater flexibility in project planning, the Group
believes such circumstances have little impact on its development as a
whole.

Pursuant to certain land grant contracts signed by CSC Shenzhen, the
saleable GFA of CSC Shenzhen properties built on these parcels of land
is limited to 30% of the total buildable GFA. The Group builds and holds
the properties with restrictions for leasing and self-use. Pursuant to
certain land grant contracts signed by CSC Nanchang and CSC Nanning
in 2009, the saleable GFA of trade centers and storage facilities built on
these parcels of land are limited to 60% of the total buildable GFA. This
restriction does not apply to properties built for residential, commercial
and other uses, and also does not apply to the land obtained by CSC
Nanchang and CSC Xi‘an in 2011, nor the land acquired by CSC Harbin in
June 2012.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had a workforce of approximately
2,100 people, including approximately 1,900 people directly employed
by the Group and approximately 200 people employed by our jointly-
controlled entities. The number of staff increased by 12.3% from 1,870
as at 31 March 2011. During the fiscal year under review, the total
employee benefit expenses amounted to HK$262.8 million, increased by
83% (FY2010/11: HK$143.4 million). The Group aims to recruit, retain
and develop competent individuals who are committed to the Group's
long-term success and growth. Remunerations and other benefits of
employees are reviewed annually both in response to market conditions
and trends, and are based on qualifications, experience, responsibilities
and performance. In addition to basic salaries and other staff benefits,
discretionary bonuses and share options may be awarded to employees
who display outstanding performance and contributions to the
Group. During the fiscal year under review, the Company has granted
226,900,000 share options to a director and certain employees.
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Project Portfolio
HEAS

Properties held for sale/finance lease

FEHE/MEREYRE

40

Project site
Group's area Approx. GFA  Completion
Project Location Interest (sq. m.) Description (sq.m)  Year
EEEREER BHREER
JEH B AEBEESR (FHK) AR (EHK)  RIFH
China South City Shenzhen ~ No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100% 1,060,000 Phase | trade centers 6,900 2004
TR Pinghu, Longgang District, —BZ5%0
Shenzhen, China
BRI I T4 Phase Il residential facilities
EPRER — West Garden 23000 2008
“HRERERE
—EBAL
Phase Il commercial and other
supporting facilities
— Warehouse 43,900 2008
HREREBEESRS
— Bk
— Global Logistics Center 4,200 2010
— RIRMRRO
Phase Il trade centers 1,200 2009
ZHRSPD
Phase Il commercial and other
supporting facilities
— Office Tower 8400 2012
“HREREBEESRS
— B
China South City Nanning No. 56, Shajing Blvd, Jiangnan 100% 890,000 Phase | trade centers 281,900 2012
HEERH District, Nanning City, Guangxi —HRZH 0
Zhuang Autonomous Region,
China
HEERmTRE AREED
IREDHRES6H
China South City Nanchang ~ China South City Nanchang, 100% 1,537,000 Phase | trade centers 125,800 2012
HEERN Xiangyun Blvd, —BZ 5%
Honggutan New District,
Nanchang City,

Jiangxi Province, China
HEIIFEE R EMAREN R
HEAEBEERY

China South City Holdings Limited ZFERFIHIZRGR A T



Project Portfolio (Continued)
HBEMAS ()

Properties for Investment

REW=
Group’s Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest Description (sg. m.) Lease Term
MAREEE
EH 1t 26 rEEREE AE (EFHK) BNFEH
China South City Shenzhen  No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100% Phase | trade centers 167,100  Medium Term Lease
RINZE R Pinghu, Longgang District, —HRZH 0 HEAZ LY
Shenzhen, China
RELFY M EEE R Phase | Commercial and other
FhEERE R supporting facilities
— Business centers 22,400  Medium Term Lease
—HiEE R E MR ERE REIZZA
— BBRL
Phase Il trade centers 352,800  Medium Term Lease
ZHZSH0 i ERE2 A
Phase Il commercial and other
supporting facilities
— Global Logistics Center 15,100 Medium Term Lease
“HmEREMELERE HERZ A
— BRI L
— West Garden Shopping 15,200  Medium Term Lease
Plaza HHAZ 4
— EEREBES
Phase Il commercial and other
supporting facilities
— Office tower 4,400  Medium Term Lease

—HBERENRERE
— g

SRS
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Project Portfolio (Continued)
HBEMAS ()

Properties under Development — with Land use Rights Certificates

REDYE-RELHERERS

Approx. Estimated
Group's  Project site Approx. GFA under completion
Project/Location Interest areald GFA@  Description construction®  Stage of completion calendar year
BRERL )
BR/MY rEEER wEEY  BEEEC AR HREEERY TAKR BARIEE
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
(FrK)  (FhK) (FHX)
1. China South City Shenzhen 100% 1,060,000 2,120,000 a.  Trade centers, commercial and 327,000 Superstructure in progress 2012-2013
FYEE supporting facilities TETREAT
No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Pinghu, e BEREMEERE
Longgang District, Shenzhen, China
FEAmREEE T b.  Remaining portions - Planning -
EN BTHH RE
2. China South City Nanning 100% 890,000 2,397,000 a.  Trade centers, residential, commercial 1,031,000  Superstructure in progress 2012-2013
BEZEY and supporting facilities TETREAT
No. 56, Shajing Blvd, Jiangnan RERL BT BRRABEERE
District, Nanning City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
PEEEAREAREED BTHH RE
TR HAES 5
3 China South City Nanchang 100% 1,537,000 3,529,000 a.  Trade centers, residential, commercial 713,000 Superstructure in progress 2012-2013
HEEMY and supporting facilities FETREND
China South City Nanchang, RGP FE - BEREMEELS
Xiangyun Blvd,
Honggutan New District, b, Remaining portions - Planning -
Nanchang City, BTEHS Rl
Jiangxi Province, China
FEIEERETAAENR
HEXBHEERY
4. China South City Xi'an 65% 596,000 1,686,000 a.  Trade centers, commercial and other 607,000 Superstructure in progress 2012-2013
BREE supporting facilities FETREAT
No.8, Port Avenue, Xi'an International RgR - BEREMEERE
Trade & Logistics Park, Xi*an City,
Shaanxi Province, China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
PEREERLTARERARE BTHn REl
BRI I
5. China South City Harbin 100% 263,0009 835,000 Construction has not been commenced - Planning -
REEERY BRAFR REl
Tuan Jie Town, Daowei District,
Harhin City, Heilongjiang Province, China
FEREIEREEMENERLA
Note 1: The Group has acquired these parcels of land as at 31 March 2012. MRET + ANEER201263A31HERIEZ SR -
Note 2: The approximate GFA does not include the area of underground facilities. WiE2 « MABREEBE TR IEMERMEEE
Note 3: The approximate GFA under construction includes the area of underground  Fi5E3 © B E R T2 2 EEME B IE /KR MM TE
facilities.
Note 4: The Group has successfully bid for these parcels of land on 16 June 2012. MiET4 © NEER2012496 A 16 BN FRIZ IS E 1
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Financial Summary

B TEEER

Year ended 31 March

HE3ANBLEE
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET THET THET TET
RESULTS ES
Revenue LN 3,670,767 2,234,033 1,570,229 224,399 562,880
Gross Profit E7 2,236,096 1,333,048 982,707 70,759 276,904
Profit before tax TaAE 3,305,515 2,452,776 2,112,991 1,025,740 796,850
Income tax expense FREHBX (1,257,953) (908,658) (785,345) (272,170) (241,726)
Profit for the year REEFE 2,047,562 1,544,118 1,327,646 753,570 555,124
Attributable to: TH& F ek -
Owners of the parent BRAEEA 2,070,708 1,552,455 1,329,593 754,048 556,075
Non-controlling interests FERER (23,146) (8,337) (1,947) (478) (951)
Net profit/(loss) attributable to REHREME AT EWE R
owners of the parent excluding il 2= di0l SYNG]
fair value gains on investment BEAEEFAE
properties & related tax effect (FE1R) 1,303,046 542,339 410,692 (106,034) 58,176
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE 17,421,439 15,398,215 11,379,165 8,398,009 5,774,890
Current assets MEERE 13,244,904 5,985,682 4,920,603 923,306 1,531,378
Total assets BEBE 30,666,343 21,383,897 16,299,768 9,321,315 7,306,268
Current liabilities Ve 10,894,500 3,920,948 2,853,708 1,565,645 935,479
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 6,776,552 6,844,913 4,419,375 3,259,712 2,728,237
Total liabilities BEATE 17,671,052 10,765,861 7,273,083 4,825,357 3,663,716
Equity attributable to owners SAREBAREE
of parent =3y 12,938,680 10,540,914 8,913,024 4,461,963 3,608,780
Non-controlling interests iR 56,611 77122 113,661 33,995 33,772
Total equity BERBE 12,995,291 10,618,036 9,026,685 4,495,958 3,642,552
Earnings per share attributable ~BERBARZER
to ordinary equity holders BRBEEAZ
of the parent EREF
Basic HE HK34.58 cents  HK25.95cents  HK25.32 cents  HK16.76 cents N/A
Al gl bl Al NEA
Diluted ] HK34.51 cents ~ HK25.80 cents ~ HK25.10 cents ~ HK16.76 cents N/A
Bl gyl &l Al TER
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management

ESRTEEEERE

Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Hing, aged 51, is our Co-Chairman and an executive
Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been appointed as a
Director since 2 August 2002. He is primarily responsible for formulating
the overall strategies and assessing the performance of the Group as
well as providing leadership for the Board. He has more than 28 years of
management experience in the manufacturing, wholesale and distribution
businesses. Mr. Cheng has been awarded the “Young Industrialist Awards
of Hong Kong 1997” from the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, the
Distinguished International Entrepreneur of the Year Award 1997 from
San Francisco State University and the Chinese Outstanding Entrepreneur
Award 2008 from the China Enterprise Confederation and the China
Enterprise Directors Association. Mr. Cheng is the vice chairman of the
China Chamber of International Commerce, a member of the 10th
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference and a member of the 3rd, the 4th and
the 5th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Cheng is also presently the foundation honorary
chairman of Gem and Jewelry Committee of China General Chamber of
Commerce, a standing member of the China Enterprise Confederation
and the China Enterprise Directors Association, vice president of the
China Chamber of International Commerce Shenzhen, chairman of the
Shenzhen Logistics and Supply Chain Management Association, vice
chairman of the Federation of Shenzhen Industries, honorary life president
of the Hong Kong Gemstone Manufacturers’ Association Limited, and
honorary chairman of Zhejiang Pearl Trade Association. Mr. Cheng is also
the chairman of Man Sang International Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (”Stock
Exchange”) (stock code: 938) and the director of China Metro-Rural
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Man Sang International (B.V.1.)
Limited), a company listed on the NYSE Amex, formerly known as the
American Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: CNR). Mr. Cheng is a younger
brother of Mr. Cheng Tai Po, a non-executive Director.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERFIEEEERERE (&)

Mr. LEUNG Moon Lam, aged 56, is the Chief Executive Officer and
an executive Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been
appointed as a Director since 1 June 2002. He is primarily responsible
for the execution of the Board's decision and the overall management
of the Group. He has more than 28 years of management experience in
the garment manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses. Mr.
Leung received the Chinese Outstanding Entrepreneur Award 2008 from
the China Enterprise Confederation and the China Enterprise Directors
Association. Mr. Leung was a member of the 3rd and the 4th Shenzhen
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. At
present, Mr. Leung is a member of the Liaoning Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, the vice chairman of the Jiangxi
Chinese Overseas Friendship Association, chairman of Shenzhen Textile
Industry Association, the executive chairman of the Shenzhen Leather
Industry Association, an honorary chairman of the Shenzhen Longgang
Charity Association and the honorary professor of Business of Hang Seng
School of Commerce. Mr. Leung was newly appointed as the president of
the Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen Associations in December 2011.
Also, Mr. Leung is the chairman of Wetter (China) Limited and Kings Faith
International Limited.

Professor XU Yang, aged 73, is an executive Director. Professor Xu
joined our Group as a senior consultant in September 2002, and was
appointed as a Director since 4 February 2008. He is primarily responsible
for the general development direction, operational strategy, market
promotion, and governmental relations of the Group. Professor Xu has
over 23 years of experience in capital operations management, focusing
on optimizing allocation and managing the use of capital in business
operations. From 1992 to 2000, Professor Xu was the chairman of
Shenzhen Investment Limited (previously known as Shum Yip Investment
Limited, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 604). He was the vice chairman of the 2nd Shenzhen Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, deputy chief
secretary of the Shenzhen Municipal Government and director of the
Shenzhen Economic Development Bureau. Professor Xu is currently the
permanent honorary chairman of the Federation of Shenzhen Industries,
honorary chairman of Shenzhen Enterprise Confederation and Shenzhen
Entrepreneur Association and deputy chairman of China National
Industrial and Economic Association. Professor Xu graduated from Harbin
Institute of Technology in 1964. He completed the Stanford executive
program at Stanford University in 1988. He also holds the qualification of
senior engineer.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)
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Non-Executive Directors

Dr. MA Kai Cheung, s8s, B8S, aged 70, is our Co-Chairman and a
non-executive Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been
appointed as a Director since 2 August 2002. He is primarily responsible
for advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models
and development strategies and major issues. Dr. Ma has more than
41 years of management experience in garment distribution and
manufacturing businesses. Dr. Ma was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star
(BBS) and a Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) by the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region in 2003 and 2009 respectively. Since 1998,
he has been a member of the National committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. Dr. Ma is the president of Shenzhen
Overseas Chinese International Association, permanent honorary president
of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce Limited, chairman and
executive committee member of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong
Community Organizations, president of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu
Chow Public Association and permanent honorary chairman of Federation
of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organizations. Dr. Ma received
an honorary doctoral degree in philosophy from the Morrison University
in the United States in 2004. He received a fellowship from the Asian
Knowledge Management Association in 2008. Dr. Ma is also the chairman
of Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 126).

Mr. SUN Kai Lit Cliff, 88S, Jp, aged 58, is a non-executive Director. He is
a co-founder of our Group and has been appointed as a Director since 2
August 2002. He is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation
of the Group’s general business models, development strategies and
major issues. Mr. Sun is an associate of the Institute of Industrial Engineers
of Ohio and has over 33 years of management experience in the
businesses of wholesale distribution and manufacturing of kitchenware
and other metal and plastic products. He was appointed as Justice of
the Peace (JP) and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003 and
2006 respectively. At present, Mr. Sun is a member of the 10th Zhejiang
Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and a
member of the Standing Committee of the 13th Ningbo Committee of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is also the honorary
chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, honorary chairman
of The Hong Kong Exporters’ Association, honorary chairman of the Hong
Kong Q Mark Council, president of the Hong Kong Plastics Manufacturers
Association Ltd. and the honorary founding president and executive
vice president of Shenzhen Overseas Chinese International Association.
Mr. Sun is the executive director of Kinox Enterprises Limited and Kin
Hip Metal and Plastic Factory Ltd. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Ming Fai International Holdings Limited (stock code:
3828) and Ka Shui International Holdings Ltd., (stock code: 822), which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Dr. MA Wai Mo, aged 68, is a non-executive Director. He is a co-founder
of our Group and has been appointed as a Director of the Company since
2 August 2002. He is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation
of the Group’s general business models, development strategies and
major issues. He has more than 33 years of management experience in
the printing and packaging, manufacturing, wholesale and distribution
businesses. Dr. Ma was a member of the 3rd and the 4th Shenzhen
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the
chairman of the 13th, 14th, 16th and 17th Hong Kong Corrugated Paper
Manufacturers’ Association. Currently, he is a member of the Committee
of Foreign and Overseas Chinese Affairs, the Standing Committee of
Shenzhen Municipal People’s Congress, the honorary chairman of the
2nd Chaoyang District Shantou City Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, the vice chairman of the 7th general
committee of the China Packaging Federation, the honorary chairman of
the 7th and 8th Shenzhen Packaging Association, the vice president of
the 7th and the 8th Guangdong Printing Association, the executive vice
president of the Guangdong Overseas Chinese Enterprises Association, the
honorary founding president and the executive vice president of Shenzhen
Overseas Chinese International Association, and the chairman of the
Shenzhen Graphic Society and Shenzhen Longgang Cultural Industry
Association. Dr. Ma is also the chairman of Luk Ka International Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of Luk Ka Overseas Investments Limited. Dr. Ma
was awarded the World's Outstanding Chinese in 2005 and received an
honorary doctor of science degree from Armstrong University in 2005.

Mr. CHENG Tai Po, aged 60, is a non-executive Director. He has been
appointed as a Director since 30 April 2010 and is primarily responsible
for advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models,
development strategies and major issues. Mr. Cheng has over 27 years’
experience in manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses. He is
a board member of the Zhanjiang Ocean University, China and a general
committee member of the Hong Kong Jewelry Manufacturers’ Association
Ltd. Mr. Cheng is also the executive director and deputy chairman of
Man Sang International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 938) and the director and vice-chairman
of China Metro-Rural Holdings Limited (formerly known as Man Sang
International (B.V.l.) Limited), a company listed on the NYSE Amex (formerly
known as an American Stock Exchange) (ticker symbol: CNR). Mr. Cheng
is an elder brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, the Co-Chairman and
executive Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Kwan Yuen Andrew, GBS, SBS, JP, aged 61, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director since 4 September
2009. He has more than 33 years of management experience in the textile
manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses. Mr. Leung is a
member of the Industrial (First) Functional Constituency of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong, also a member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Leung is currently
the honorary chairman of Textile Council of Hong Kong, a council member
of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council, the honorary president
of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, a fellow of The Textiles
Institute as well as The Clothing and Footwear Institute in the United
Kingdom. In addition, Mr. Leung is the chairman of Sun Hing Knitting
Factory Limited, he is also an independent non-executive director of Dah
Sing Banking Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, (stock code: 2356). Mr. Leung was an independent non-
executive director of Meadville Holdings (BVI) Limited (formerly known
as “Meadville Holdings Limited”), a company withdrawing the listing of
its shares from the Stock Exchange effective 19 April 2010 (stock code:
3313), until his resignation effective from 1 June 2010.

Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 55, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 4 September 2009. Mr. Li has more than 35
years of experience in financial management. Mr. Li graduated from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and holds a master degree in business
administration from the University of East Asia, Macau, currently known
as the University of Macau. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Li is the executive director and chief financial
officer of GDH Limited, executive director of Kingway Brewery Holdings
Limited (“Kingway”), non-executive director of Guangdong Investment
Limited (“GDI”) and an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen
Investment Limited (“SZ Investment”) and Hans Energy Company Limited
("Hans"). Kingway, GDI, SZ Investment and Hans are companies listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock codes: 124, 270, 604
and 554 respectively). He is a director of Shenzhen City Airport (Group)
Company Limited, a member of the Council of the Hong Kong Chinese
Orchestra Limited, and serves as the vice chairman of the Financial and
Accounting Affairs Steering Committee of the Hong Kong Chinese
Enterprises Association. Mr. Li was also an independent non-executive
director of Hong Long Holdings Limited (stock code: 1383) until 27 May
2011.
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Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen, Jp, aged 65, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 11 April 2011. Mr. Hui has
over 41 years of experience in the securities and investment industry. He
had for years been serving as a council member and vice chairman of
the Stock Exchange, a member of the Advisory Committee of the Hong
Kong Securities and Futures Commission, a director of the Hong Kong
Securities Clearing Company Limited, a member of the Listing Committee
of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, an appointed member
of the Securities and Futures Appeal Tribunal, a member of the Standing
Committee on Company Law Reform and an appointed member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Investigation Panel
A. He was also a member of the Committee on Real Estate Investment
Trusts of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission. Mr. Hui
is @ member of Government “Appointees” (independent member) of
Appeal Panel of the Travel Industry Council of Hong Kong. Mr. Hui was
appointed by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 2004 and was also appointed as a
member of the Zhuhai Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference in 2006. He also serves as non-executive
director of Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 590)
and independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited (stock code: 388), Jiuzhou Development Company
Limited (stock code: 908), Lifestyle International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1212), Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 711)
and Frasers Property (China) Limited (stock code: 535), whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange.

Key Management

Mr. FUNG Sing Hong Stephen, aged 47, is our Group’s chief financial
officer. Mr. Fung joined our Group in July 2006, and is responsible
for formulating corporate financing strategy and the overall financial
management of the Group. Mr. Fung graduated from the University of
Wales, United Kingdom with a master degree in business administration.
He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. Mr. Fung has more than 19 years of experience in financial
management, mergers and acquisitions, capital markets financing and
corporate restructuring. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Fung was an
executive director and the chief financial officer of Guangdong Investment
Limited (“GDI"”). From December 2002 to November 2004, Mr. Fung
served as an executive director and the chief financial officer of Kingway
Brewery Holdings Limited (“Kingway”). Both GDI and Kingway are
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock codes:
270 and 124, respectively). Mr. Fung was also a key member of the
Guangdong Enterprises (Holdings) Limited (“GDE") restructuring team
and has been extensively involved in the US$5.3 billion debt restructuring
of GDE.

HRALE - A TH1 0 655%  B2011F4 811 BES
EAEBILIENITES - FLEAFHBMNFZESRE
BI85 ZHERGEABRRARESHEERAERF -
EABSFRHEEHERZEGHKNEECEE B
BRREEERAGIES  BERIREEFMERA
RILtTLZEEZE  BHRUEEB LHREBZES
B ARENERBEE S L ERERSHMAEH
ENEAEEZE - BERAETEEFRPESEHERE
BERMEREEAECTESLZERRAB IR
¥ LFEEGBIUZEE - FEENR2004FEES
[ BRI B 4R K S 4 £ 48467 - I 52 2006 4 78 AR B Bk
ETMARBAMESHEZTABRIBEE - HFELENA
AP REE R BT E 2 N EEE(ER) AR AR (D
R 590) ZIPTEENE ARG REEMERA
A (B SE - 388) « NBEEABR AR (BT
908) * FiERBREBEAR AR (BRMHARE - 1212) - &
MEREEBRAT(PRMOMAS - 711) RERMHE (F
B)BR AT (BDRER : 535) 2B IFMITES -

FEEEE

BEMEE 475 SEERUEHEE - BLER
2006F7 AMAAREHE - BEHIESETHRE LA
EENEEYKER -  BELEERNRBERBIA
2 BEIRTEBELIEMN FARSSHNAE]
FEERERNESTAACEE  FNABEES
BeEREE - BLERUBER  6HRKE - &
AMEMERTCESMASTERABBIOFLERE - I
AREBZR  BEEAEFREGRAR ([ BEFE
EDITES M BLRE - 52002412 A £20044F
1A BrREETeREBEEERAE([£/])H
TEERPBBE - BRI BB A EIR LT
AR (B RIED R BE270%124)  BRENEG A
BErEEER)ERAR(EErE D EEKMAENE
ENE - Bz EEGMES NSIEETNERE
‘A -

Annual Report 2011/12 4R

49



50

Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTECEREBE(E)

Ms. TSE Man Yu, aged 41, is the company secretary and the Group’s
deputy chief financial officer. Ms. Tse joined our Group in February 2008.
She assists the chief financial officer in the overall financial management
of the Group and is responsible for investor relations and the company
secretarial duties. Ms. Tse graduated from the City University of Hong
Kong with a bachelor of science (honours) degree in finance. She is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Tse has
more than 15 years of experience in financial management, mergers and
acquisitions, corporate finance and asset management. Prior to joining
our Group, Ms. Tse was the assistant chief financial officer of Guangdong
Investment Ltd., which is a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 270). Ms. Tse was an alternate director of
Guangdong Development Fund Limited (“GDF"), which is a company
listed on the London Stock Exchange (code: gdf), and a director of
Guangdong Investment Management Limited, which is the fund manager
of GDF. Ms. Tse had also been a senior corporate finance executive of
Tung Fong Hung (Holdings) Limited (now known as Freeman Financial
Corporation Limited) and Sing Pao Media Group Limited (now known as
China Gamma Group Limited), which were companies listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock codes: 279 and 164 respectively).

Mr. JIANG Kai, aged 60, is the Group’s deputy general manager. He
joined our Group in January 2007, and is responsible for managing
construction projects of the Group, including coordinating the planning
and designs, managing tenders and bids, budgeting, costing and
construction management. Mr. Jiang has over 18 years of management
experience in the construction industry. Mr. Jiang had been working for
the 1st branch of the Shenzhen Architectural Design Institute as the chief
engineer, Shenzhen Construction Investment Holdings Ltd. as the manager
of the construction department, and Shenzhen New World Group Co.,
Ltd. as the group deputy general manager. Mr. Jiang graduated from the
Underground Construction Faculty of Tongji University in 1982 with a
bachelor degree in underground construction, and holds a qualification of
senior engineer.
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Report of the Directors

EEEWE

The Board has pleasure in presenting this annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the fiscal year ended
31 March 2012.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group is developing and operating large-
scale integrated logistics and trade centers in China, providing a
comprehensive trading platform of raw materials and finished products
for domestic and international wholesale suppliers, buyers, manufacturers
and distributors. With its unique business model, the Group not only sells
and leases well-designed, high quality trade center units for businesses to
display and sell their products, but also provides trade center occupants
and their customers with a full range of facilities and services such as
offices, residential facilities, warehousing and on-site logistics services,
conference and exhibition facilities, hotels, restaurants, banking services,
on-site government services in a bid to offer one-stop convenient
supply chain solutions. Details of the principal activities of the principal
subsidiaries, jointly-controlled entities and associates are set out in notes
19 to 21 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

Results and Dividends

The Group's results for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 192 of this annual
report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK7.5 cents
per share in respect of FY2011/12 (FY2010/11: HK2.5 cents). Subject to
the approval of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at
the annual general meeting to be held on 21 August 2012 (the “"AGM"),
the proposed final dividend will be distributed on or about 11 September
2012 to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 29 August 2012.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 28 August
2012 to 29 August 2012, both days inclusive. In order to be qualified
for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 27 August
2012.

Use of Proceeds from the Company’s Listing

As at the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012, all the net proceeds from
the Company’s issue of new shares at the time of its listing on the Stock
Exchange has been utilized in accordance with the proposed application
set out in the section headed “Future plans and use of proceeds”
contained in the prospectus of the Company dated 17 September 2009.
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Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” and in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

Distributable Reserves

Details of the Company’s reserves available for distribution as at 31
March 2012, calculated in accordance with the provision of Section 798
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to HK$599,746,000
(31 March 2011: HK$459,331,000), of which HK$449,067,000 (2011:
HK$149,689,000) has been proposed as final dividend for the fiscal year
are disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Senior Notes

On 14 January 2011, the Company issued senior notes due January
2016 with nominal value of US$250 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,950 million) at a coupon rate of 13.5% per annum (the “Senior
Notes”) for the purpose of, amongst others, funding its properties under
development and planned for future development (including land grant
fees) and for general corporate purposes.

In September 2011 and February 2012, the Company has repurchased the
Senior Notes with the principal amount of US$5 million and US$4 million
respectively from the open market. All of the Senior Notes repurchased
has been cancelled during the fiscal year under review. Further details
of the Senior Notes are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Donations
During the fiscal year under review, the Group made charitable donations
totaling HK$4,566,000 (FY2010/11: HK$8,630,000) to various charitable
organizations.

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2012 are set out in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors
The Directors during the fiscal year and up to the date of this Directors’
Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Leung Moon Lam (Chief Executive Officer)
Professor Xu Yang

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Ma Kai Cheung, sss, sgs (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, sss, s

Dr. Ma Wai Mo

Mr. Cheng Tai Po

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, css, sss, Jp

Mr. Li Wai Keung

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen, s (appointed on 11 April 2011)
Mr. Shi Wan Peng (resigned on 8 February 2012)

In accordance with the Company’s new articles of association (the
“Articles”), Mr. Leung Moon Lam, Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, Mr. Cheng Tai
Po and Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew shall retire from office and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the existing Independent Non-executive Directors pursuant to
rule 3.13 of the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Board considers all Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors has entered into letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The service contract and the letter of
appointment may be terminated by either party thereto by giving not less
than three months’ prior written notice.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

None of the Directors has a material beneficial interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any significant contract to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, its holding companies or a subsidiary of its holding companies
was a party during the fiscal year or as at 31 March 2012.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Key
Management

The biographical information of the Directors and Key Management of
the Company are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Key Management” on pages 44 to 50 of this annual report.

Enforcement of the Deed of Non-Competition
Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 4 September 2009 (“Non-
Competition Undertaking”) entered into by each of Mr. Cheng Chung
Hing, Mr. Leung Moon Lam and Mr. Cheng Tai Po, each of them has
undertaken with the Company (for itself and on behalf of each other
member of the Group) that so long as the Company is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and so long as any of:

(i) in respect of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, he remains as the controlling
shareholder or a Director of the Company;

(i) in respect of Mr. Leung Moon Lam, he remains as a Director of the
Company;

(i) in respect of Mr. Cheng Tai Po, he remains as the controlling

shareholder of the Company,

that he shall not, and shall procure his associates not to, either alone
or jointly with any other person or entity, or for any other person, firm
or company, or as principal, partner, director, employee, consultant or
agent through any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual arrangement, be engaged, invested, or otherwise involved,
whether as a shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise,
directly or indirectly, in the carrying on of any business in any form or
manner in China that is in competition or is likely to be in the competition,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, unless those business
opportunity has been first offered to the Group upon terms which are
fair and reasonable and the Board has declined such opportunity, in
accordance with the provisions of the Non-Competition Undertaking, Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing, Mr. Leung Moon Lam and Mr. Cheng Tai Po or any
of them or their respective associates may pursue such opportunity.

The Company has received annual confirmations from Mr. Cheng Chung
Hing, Mr. Leung Moon Lam and Mr. Cheng Tai Po confirming their
compliance with the Non-Competition Undertaking for the fiscal year
ended 31 March 2012. The Independent Non-executive Directors have
reviewed their compliance with the Non-Competition Undertaking during
the fiscal year under review.

Directors’ Emoluments
Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the fiscal year ended 31
March 2012 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statement.
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

The Company has received confirmations from the Executive Directors
and Non-Executive Directors (excluding Independent Non-Executive
Directors) that none of the them have engaged or were interested in any
business which were in compete or were likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the fiscal year under
review.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Securities

As at 31 March 2012, the interests and short positions of the Directors
in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transaction by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

Long position in the Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company

EERBERRB 2 ES
ARREEEENTEERIENTES BIINT
HERIN) BRREROBEM RN - TR SR
REEEHEER RS 2 SRR AT ERT
2 ¥R A -

EERFETHRAEREZES

20123 A31H » ESRARRQE) ok E E R A5
E(E&ERBEHFLIBEEG([EHLEBEEG ])EXV
AR R ([R5 ]) ~ BRI R EEE %
BHEARRNBIREBEESFLBEGEOMIEI2KETHE
RIEREM - SR E EMRITAZEREITESFR ZHIEZ
A= RI([HRLESFRI ) B E 2N A B B 2 P ) fE 2 2
KRBT

RAEXTROGEEERGNETRE

Number of Shares
RE
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
Corporate Personal Family Share total issued
Name of Directors  Class of Shares interest interest interest options Total  share capital®
ERDAH
2HERT
RARL
Exp? R R ARER BARR Rk BiE st BARY
Cheng Chung Hing  Ordinary shares/share options 2,456,508,558" 10,000,000 - 66,000,000"  2,532,508,558 42.29%
g LERERE
Ma Kai Cheung Ordinary shares 888,966,649° - - - 888,966,649 14.84%
Leung Moon Lam  Ordinary shares/share options 523,899,770 57,389,977 2,000,000 66,000,000" 649,289,747 10.84%
2 LERERE
Sun Kai Lit Cliff Ordinary shares 217,241,662° - 800,000 - 218,041,662 3.64%
TR el
Ma Wai Mo Ordinary shares 226,197,662 - - - 226,197,662 3.77%
Cheng Tai Po Ordinary shares 2,456,508,558" 4,936,000 - - 2,461,444,558 41.10%
BRR EER
Li Wai Keung Ordinary shares - 4,300,000 - - 4,300,000 0.07%
EEE ERR
Xu Yang Share options - - - 15,000,000¢ 15,000,000 0.25%
ki RRfRE
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These represent the long positions of the Shares falling to be allotted and
issued to the relevant Directors upon the exercise of the outstanding share
options of the Company granted to the Directors as their personal interest
under the pre-IPO share option agreements dated 31 July 2008.

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is interested in 50% and 54% of the respective
issued share capital of Accurate Gain Developments Limited and Proficient
Success Limited which in turn holds 1,339,913,759 and 1,116,594,799
Shares respectively and is therefore deemed to be interested in an aggregate
of 2,456,508,558 Shares. Mr. Cheng is a director of each of Accurate Gain
Developments Limited and Proficient Success Limited. Mr. Cheng Chung Hing
is the younger brother of Mr. Cheng Tai Po.

Dr. Ma Kai Cheung, as beneficial owner and beneficiary of trust and through
the interest of his spouse, being interested in 44.48% of the issued share
capital of Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited which through a number of
intermediaries, wholly owns Carrianna Development Limited, Dr. Ma Kai
Cheung is therefore deemed to be interested and duplicated interested in an
aggregate of 888,966,649 shares held by Carrianna Development Limited via
its holding company. Dr. Ma is a director of each Tak Sing Alliance Holdings
Limited, Carrianna Development Limited, Sincere United Holdings Limited,
Carrianna Holdings Limited, Gartrend Development Limited and Carrianna
(BVI) Ltd.

Mr. Leung Moon Lam owns 100% of the issued share capital of Kings Faith
International Limited which in turn holds 523,899,770 Shares and is therefore
deemed to be interested in 523,899,770 Shares. Mr. Leung Moon Lam is a
director of Kings Faith International Limited.

Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff owns the entire interests in Kinox Holdings Limited and
is therefore deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 217,241,662 Shares
held by Kinox Holdings Limited.

By virtue of Dr. Ma Wai Mo's 50% shareholding interests in Luk Ka Overseas
Investments Limited which is interested in 100% interests in Luk Ka
International Limited, Dr. Ma is deemed to be interested and duplicate in the
interest in the same 226,197,662 Shares held by Luk Ka International Limited.

Mr. Cheng Tai Po is interested in 50% and 38% in the respective issued share
capital of Accurate Gain Developments Limited and Proficient Success Limited
which in turn holds 1,339,913,759 and 1,116,594,799 Shares respectively
and is therefore deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,456,508,558
Shares. Mr. Cheng is a director of each of Accurate Gain Developments
Limited and Proficient Success Limited. Mr. Cheng Tai Po is the elder brother
of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.

The relevant interests are share options granted to Professor Xu Yang
pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 4 September
2009. Further details of the share option scheme is set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.

The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 5,987,564,000
Shares issued as at 31 March 2012.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, to the knowledge of the
Directors, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be: (i) notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the
Directors and chief executive were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); (ii) entered in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2012, to the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short position in the Shares
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

br EXFR#EEEESIN - BBMEFA - 1201293 A 31
B BEARAEERETETHRABRARAIREMS
AIFREEE (F & R EH R EEFIEXVED) 2 AR
% HERGEEEFHEEE  (REFHFRHE
{EBIEEXVERSE 7 R E 8D EAIE A B KB 32 Fr 2 (E 1A
ERRAR(BREEERTBTHRABREZ SRS
EBIRBGESOREES R AR ZEERAR)
(VAR RIRAR B 5 M HAE 6] 55352 6 BR8N B 5D
Mz EERSK A « SV EEETA BN R D
B B X FT 2 AT R s UK R ©

FERFER

R2012F3 8318  BESHA LW TFAL (KRR
ERERFTBTHABRINRBROSBEROPHES
TR BNEIEEBIRIBEES LB GAIEXVEE2
3D BMESCBRAARAREE - A ARARIRIEE
H LB GKRAIEIB6KETHFEN S DMAERIOX
.

Long Position in the Shares REAFPNIFE
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
Number of total issued
Name Nature of interest Shares held share capital®
HAELFE
Fifs BITRAEH
HE/ER ERME RHEE BMABED S
Accurate Gain Developments Limited ~ Beneficial owner 1,339,913,759" 22.37%
EmEAA
Proficient Success Limited Beneficial owner 1,116,594,799? 18.64%
EmEAA
Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 888,966,649 14.84%
EREE WARVER P A E
Carrianna (BVI) Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 888,966,649 14.84%
WARVER P A E
Gartrend Development Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 888,966,649 14.84%
RRERBR AT WARVER P A E
Carrianna Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 888,966,649 14.84%
FEERBEEBERAF WARVER P A B
Sincere United Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 888,966,649 14.84%
WARVER P A E
Carrianna Development Limited Beneficial owner 888,966,649 14.84%
EmEAA
Kings Faith International Limited Beneficial owner 523,899,770% 8.74%
RIEBRER AR BEmEA A
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Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai Po each own 50% of the issued
share capital of Accurate Gain Developments Limited.

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai Po owns 54% and 38%
respectively of the issued share capital of Proficient Success Limited.

Carrianna Development Limited is wholly owned by Sincere United Holdings
Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by Carrianna Holdings Limited.
Carrianna Holdings Limited is wholly owned beneficially by Gartrend
Development Limited with Dr. Ma Kai Cheung holding one share on trust
for Gartrend Development Limited. Gartrend Development Limited has two
classes of issued shares: ordinary shares and non-voting deferred shares. Dr.
Ma Kai Cheung and his brother Mr. Ma Kai Yum each holds 50% of the non-
voting deferred shares of Gartrend Development Limited, which (a) carry no
right to attend or vote at, or to receive notice of, general meetings, (b) do
not entitle its holders to receive dividends until (i) after the holders of ordinary
shares have been paid, (i) the company’s profit available for distribution
as dividends exceed HK$100,000,000,000,000.00 and (iii) the company
determines to make such distribution to the holders of non-voting deferred
shares, and (c) rank after the claims of the ordinary shareholders as regards
to repayment of capital in the event of insolvency in that only one half of
the balance of HK$100,000,000,000,000.00 in the assets of the company (if
any) is distributable among the holders of non-voting deferred shares. All of
the ordinary shares of Gartrend Development Limited are beneficially held by
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd, with one share held by Dr. Ma Kai Cheung on trust for
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd. Carrianna (BVI) Ltd is wholly owned by Tak Sing Alliance
Holdings Limited.

These 523,899,770 Shares are held by Kings Faith International Limited which
in turn is 100% owned by Mr. Leung Moon Lam.

The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 5,987,564,000
Shares issued as at 31 March 2012.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, to the knowledge of the
Directors, no other person (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed or taken to have interest or short position
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

Share Capital
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
fiscal year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Information On Share Options

Pre-IPO Share Option Agreements

The Company entered into the pre-IPO share option agreements to
recognize the contribution of and to provide for incentives and reward
to the Directors and certain employees who have contributed to the
economic achievement to the Group (the “Grantees”). The pre-IPO share
option agreements were entered into on 31 July 2008 to formalize all
previous arrangements with the Grantees. No further options maybe
granted under the pre-IPO share option agreements.

The table below summarized the details of movements in share options
granted pursuant to the pre-IPO share option agreements.

EREER
BRAMBERDABREDRSR
RATEF R AFEERNAIBRERZE - UATE
EERATERE(ABRAD AREBEEHNEER
Bt WAKSREREE - 5 RBERMATERE
W R2008F7 A31HEE] - IR EAI AT BB
TP - R ARBEERMABRERZE TS HR
B AR o

TREHRBERLHEEROBRERZER LB
BB B -

Number of Share Options
BREZA
As at Cancelled/ As at Exercise
Name Date of Grant 1 April 2011 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 March 2012 price Exercisable period
R2011%E 0128
2] BEAH 451R B BTfE  BEBAX 3A31R N L
HKS
B
Executive Directors
HITES
Cheng Chung Hing 31.07.2008 66,000,000 - - - 66,000,000 1.05 30.09.2009 - 29.09.2012
LN
Leung Moon Lam 31.07.2008 66,000,000 - - - 66,000,000 1.05 30.09.2009 - 29.09.2012
ik
Other Employees 31.07.2008 40,000,000 - - (40,000,000) - 1.05 30.09.2009 - 29.09.2011
AftfES
172,000,000 - - (40,000,0000 132,000,000
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Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4 September 2009
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The major terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarized as follows:

1. The purpose is to provide incentives to eligible persons for their
contribution to the Group and to enable the Group to recruit high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

2. The Board may at its discretion grant options to directors, employees,
officers, agents, consultants or representatives of the Group.

3. The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time. The total number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% in nominal amount of the issued Shares as at the date
of commencement of the listing of Shares on the Stock Exchange
unless with the prior approval from the Shareholders. The maximum
number of the Shares available for issue upon exercise of all share
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is
396,000,000, representing approximately 6.61% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report.

4.  The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to approval of the Shareholders.

5. The period during which a share option may be exercised will be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save that no

share option may be exercised more than 10 years after grant.

6. The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options is
HK$1.
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7.  The exercise price in relation to each share option will be determined 7.

by the Directors at their absolute discretion and shall not be less than

the highest of (i) the official closing price of the Shares as stated

in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of

grant; (ii) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the

daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal

value of the Share on the date of grant.

8.  The Share Option Scheme will expire on 29 September 2019 after 8.

which no further options will be granted under the Share Option

Scheme. In respect of the options granted and accepted prior to

such expiration and not then exercised, they shall continue to be

valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance with the Share
Option Scheme.

The table below summarized the details of the movements in share

EXARDNBRESBRBNITEE - ETEE
RTISBEZESEN) RETRERERR - B
TR MER PR AR B RAD BB T U E ¢ (i)
EEXTHEREAPILERSHE - BRAER
RPN AR BB AD 0B J7 U E + Kiii)
RIRTERE A B R EE -

BERSHEET 214570201989 A 20 KR 1E - HEBT
BEAR IR PB AR R T IR T REARIE - BRI LERIE
BT REXMERIARITEZ BIE - HIRERE
REAEETE S DA B R AT 1T -

RAEENREB R BIR DB B 15

options granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme: FRTRZA
Number of Share Options
BREHE
As at Cancelled/ As at Exercise
Category Date of Grant 1 April 2011 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 March 2012 price Exercisable period
H20115E R2012%
E<pi RLinH 4A18 BRM BT EEBAR 3A31H 5@ T
HKS
BT
Director
BE
Xu Yang 11.04.2011 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 1.29 11.04.2011-10.04.2016
e - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 1.29 11.04.2012-10.04.2016
- 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 1.29 11.04.2013-10.04.2016
Employees 02.12.2010 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 141 02.12.2011-01.12.2015
€8 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 141 02.12.2012-01.12.2015
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 14 02.12.2013-01.12.2015
11.04.2011 - 74,400,000 - (700,000) 73,700,000 129 11.04.2011-10.04.2016
- 57,300,000 - (4,900,000) 52,400,000 1.29 11.04.2012-10.04.2016
- 57,300,000 - (4,900,000) 52,400,000 1.29 11.04.2013-10.04.2016
- 22,900,000 - (4,200,000) 18,700,000 1.29 11.04.2014-10.04.2016
6,000,000 226,900,000 - (14,700,000) 218,200,000
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Notes:

1. The closing prices of the Shares immediately before the date on which the
share options granted on 2 December 2010 and 11 April 2011 were HK$1.41
and HK$1.27 per share respectively.

2. Details of the Share Option Scheme is set out in note 34 to consolidated
financial statements.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests in Securities” and “Information on Share Options” in this report
and in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during
the fiscal year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the Company
(including their spouses or children under 18 years of age) to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

Continuing Connected Transaction

On 23 February 2011, the Company entered into a sharing of office
agreement with Man Sang Jewellery Company Limited (the “Man Sang
Jewellery”) in relation to the sharing of an office premises situated at
Suite 2205, 22nd Floor, Sun Life Tower, The Gateway, 15 Canton Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong (“Sharing of Office Agreement”). The
estimated annual caps (the maximum aggregate value of the transactions
contemplated under the Sharing of Office Agreement) set for each of the
four fiscal years ending 31 March 2014 are as follows:

paz -

1. EER2010F12828%2011F4 /811 BREBERER
BRI AR BRMD KT ES B AZR1.41E T R1.27
T

2. BRESENFHBENESM BRI T -

EERBROVEBF FHER

BRABREEEREIETRABNENEE | R B
Pt AR | 8D R AR A M IS MR 34T IR EEE S -
AR B E AR B 2 B S B B A e BRI AR
ETEMNLZH  BREESFRARFIETHAR(E
HRRFHRBHIHEA T TR)EBREARRR X
I E A A BB AR S AR A4 -

M201152A238 » ARRHEREKEARARITR
SHRB DI EABRRAE G ([ XBRAE W=D
NABBEANREBNERYDBEEREISHBE
KNEKBAERAE22 #2205 ENPRAEYWE - HE
2014F3A31H L2 MEMREE - HARAERS
ZEFENET ERSRENT ¢

From For the fiscal For the fiscal From
17 March 2011 to year ended year ending 1 April 2013 to
Party A Party B 31 March 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2013 16 March 2014
BZE Bz
B201143H178 201243A31HL  201343F31HL  H2013%4A18
L3l Yy 1 £201153H318 MEFE BMBEE F2014%3H16H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Man Sang Jewellery The Company
RAKE Wi N/NE] 80,000 1,900,000 1,900,000 1,800,000
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As at the date of the Sharing of Office Agreement, Man Sang Jewellery
was wholly owned by Man Sang International Limited (“Man Sang”)
which was held as to approximately 19.21% by Mr. Cheng Chung Hing
directly, approximately 8.48% by Mr. Cheng Tai Po directly and 38.2%
by a private company which was owned as to 60% by Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing and 40% by Mr. Cheng Tai Po respectively. Both of Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai Po are Directors and deemed to
be the substantial shareholders of the Company. Therefore, Man Sang
Jewellery was an associate of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai
Po, connected persons of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Sharing of Office Agreement constituted
continuing connected transaction of the Company under chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules and were subject to reporting and announcement
requirements. The premises is used as the office of the Company. The
Sharing of Office Agreement was entered in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and the terms of which were determined after
arm’s length negotiations by reference to the prevailing market rent for
comparable properties and rent charged by the landlord to Man Sang
Jellewery. Details of the transactions were disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 24 February 2011.

The actual rentals and related fees paid by the Company to Man Sang
Jewellery in respect of the Sharing of Office Agreement for the period
from 17 March 2011 to 31 March 2011 and FY2011/12 were amounted
to approximately HK$79,380 and HK$ 1,822,000 respectively.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange, the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have conducted
an annual review and confirmed to the Board that the Sharing of Office
Agreement has been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Company; (ii) on normal commercial terms; and (iii) in
accordance with the above tenancy agreements on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
issued its unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in
respect of the Group’s continuing connected transactions as disclosed
above in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
independent auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

REARAERZEE  REKBERARARBEERA
ARENZERE  REABNRELLEEEREY
19.21% « BRI EEHEIFEH8.48% » W —HIFL
ARRIEHE#XI38.2% » AR AR5 Bl g1 EEFAE 5
HEFEE60% KB KM EIFH40% o ERAAEL ST 4 K 6
ABREEHABARRZEERERARRRIZEER
B oo Bt RERE AERELE A REFAR%E 4 (K
RAZEBBEATINBEA - At - AR AEHZ
ETHETHRZ BB EMARAE14AE 2R EEK
RARWMFBEBERS  WAET EMHRAZIREE
HAEREM RSB ERE - RYERIEARE ZWAE -
HAWRAERE IR AEEAER —MEKBREFRE]
o BEEFRSEALEYELEMSHS REER
REFBWIMHHSEEAFHERER - 2R HHF
BEEBENRART011F2A24B HIER AL -
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As far as the transactions set out in note 41 to consolidated financial
statements under the heading of “Related Party Transactions” are
concerned of the fiscal year under review, the transaction at the amount
of HK$756,000 set out in note 41(a)(ii) was connected transaction
which was exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules. The transaction set out in note 41(a)(i) were continuing connected
transaction, details of which are disclosed above. The transaction set
out in note 41(a)(ii) at the amount of HK$63,000 did not constitute
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules. As far
as transactions set out in note 41(d) are concerned, the remuneration of
the Directors as determined pursuant to the service contracts or letters
of appointment entered into between the Directors and the Group was
connected transactions which were exempt from reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the fiscal year under
review.

Bank Borrowings
Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2012 are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest customers were less than
3% of the Group’s total revenue. The aggregate purchases from the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 46%
(FY2010/11: 57%) of the Group’s total purchases and purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for approximately 19% (FY2010/11: 20%) of
the Group’s total purchases for fiscal year ended 31 March 2012.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital has any interests in the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.

Corporate Governance
Principal corporate governance adopted by the Company are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual report.
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Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained the public float of
the issued Shares of the Company as required under the Listing Rules.

Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five fiscal years is set out on page 43 of the annual report.

Management Contract

During the fiscal year, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

Subsequent Events
The subsequent events are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Ernst & Young
who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at
the AGM. A resolution for the reappointment of Messrs. Ernst & Young as
independent auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board
CHENG CHUNG HING
Co-Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2012
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The Company recognizes the value and importance of achieving high
standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate performance
accountability and is committed to doing so. The Board is also committed
to the principles of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices, which
has been renamed as Corporate Governance Code with effect from 1
April 2012, (the "CG Code”) contained in the Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
provisions set out in the CG Code throughout the fiscal year ended 31
March 2012.

The Board of Directors

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2012, the Board comprises ten Directors, including three
executive Directors, four Non-executive Directors and three Independent
Non-executive Directors. The brief biographical details of the Directors are
set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and
Key Management” on pages 44 to 50 of this annual report.

During the fiscal year, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three Independent Non-executive Directors with at least one
Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.

For the fiscal year, all existing Independent Non-executive Directors
had confirmed their independence to the Company in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

Role and Function

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and performance
monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-day operations of the
Company to the executive Directors and senior management within the
control and authority framework set by the Board. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Further details
of these committees are set out in this report.

Relationship between Directors

Mr. Cheng Tai Po is a brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing. Dr. Ma
Kai Cheung and Dr. Ma Wai Mo are investors in China East City in
Liauyungang, a property located in Jiangsu Province in China.
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Compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code of the Listing Rules as a
code of conduct of the Company for Directors’ securities transactions.
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
fiscal year ended 31 March 2012. Employees who are, or likely to be, in
possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the
Company or its shares are required to prohibit from dealing in shares of
the Company during the black-out period.

Board Meetings

During the fiscal year, six board meetings were convened by the
Company. The attendance of the Directors at the board meetings were as
follows:

BTERETRZRZ 2BRESTA

RNARE RN LR RIFTEHEIZESFR] - fEARAR
ERRTHELFRHNZE - RRAIEREBESED
BESH BEREE2012F3A318 LMBEER
—HETIRETRIFME NN TIZE - EEXEHES
BRARRREROHRARRESZERHEET
BREFIHARESAARRD

EEgER
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FEGANEFLRBEAMT -

Number of
attendance
Directors == HERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman) BB A (B SE) 6/6
Mr. Leung Moon Lam (Chief Executive Officer) R (TTBAE#E) 6/6
Professor Xu Yang OB 6/6
Non-Executive Directors FETES
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung, sss, gss (Co-Chairman) SN B Tasnes  wenes(BEEE) 4/6
Mr. Sun Kai Lit CIiff, gss, s RS E g s T 4/6
Dr. Ma Wai Mo FEREL 6/6
Mr. Cheng Tai Po BRI & 6/6
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHITES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, 6ss, ss, p REER Eopnes wEngs A Fo+ 6/6
Mr. Li Wai Keung TEMSEE 6/6
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen, s (appointed on 11 April 2011)  EFRBHR e A w74+ (201 14E4 5 11 HEZE(T) 5/5
Mr. Shi Wan Peng (resigned on 8 February 2012) REB A (R201292 A8 A FT) 1/5

The Directors are provided with agenda and relevant materials related to
the agenda in advance before the meeting. They can access to the senior
management and the company secretary of the Company at all time and,
upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice at the
Company's expense.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years.

The Company’s Articles provide rotation and re-election for all Directors. As
provided by the Articles, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation. The Articles also provide that
any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible to
offer for re-election. Accordingly, four Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Moon
Lam, Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff, Mr. Cheng Tai Po and Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen
Andrew shall retire and stand for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of
the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated. Mr. Cheng Chung Hing
and Dr. Ma Kai Cheung are Co-Chairman of the Company and they
provide leadership for the Board and ensure the proper and effective
functioning of the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities. Mr. Leung
Moon Lam, the Chief Executive Officer, is accountable to the Board
for the overall implementation of the Company’s strategies and the
coordination of overall business operations.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of the Board and the
Company’s affairs. All board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for the review and supervision of
the Group’s financial reporting process, internal controls and review of
the Company’s financial statements. The written terms of reference are
in line with the provisions under the CG Code and the roles and the
responsibilities delegated to the Audit Committee by the Board.

During the fiscal year under review, the Audit Committee consists of Mr.
Li Wai Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, Mr. Hui Chiu
Chung Stephen (appointed on 11 April 2011) and Mr. Shi Wan Peng
(resigned on 8 February 2012). All the Audit Committee members are
Independent Non-executive Directors. During the fiscal year, two meetings
of Audit Committee were held to review the FY2010/11 annual results
and FY2011/12 interim results of the Company before submission to the
Board.

During FY2011/12, the Audit Committee had reviewed the internal
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control system, connected transactions, interim results and annual results — ZREEIEHIE - BER S « RHAEE NS FEEUNLAK
of the Group, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the EERMANETRAINIEN - EXEZESSZNES
Group. The attendance of the Directors at the Audit Committee meetings  H/EIFRWT :
were as follows:
Number of
attendance
Directors = HERE
Mr. Li Wai Keung (chairman) REBEE(FE) 2/2
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, Gss, sgs, Jp REE T Eesnes Renes AT+ 2/2
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen, s (appointed on 11 April 2011)  EFRBHR4E A w44+ (201 14E4 9 11 HEZE(F) 22
Mr. Shi Wan Peng (resigned on 8 February 2012) FBIEE(R201242 A8 HEHT) 0/2

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
on the Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and other
benefits. The remuneration of all Directors and senior management is
subject to regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee so as
to ensure that the level of their remuneration and compensation are
reasonable. The written terms of reference are in line with the provisions
of the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two Independent Non-executive
Directors and one executive Director, including Mr. Li Wai Keung as
chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew and Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.
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The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for executive
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate executive
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual performance
as measured against the Group’s corporate objectives and operating
results, taking into account also the comparable market conditions. The
principal elements of the remuneration package of an executive Director
include basic salary, performance and/or discretional bonus, participation
in the Share Option Scheme and other benefits. Remuneration of Non-
executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors)
includes mainly the director’s fee which is a matter for the Board to decide
by reference to the duties and responsibilities of Non-executive Directors
(including Independent Non-executive Directors) and the comparable
market conditions.

During the fiscal year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held
for considering the (i) director fee of Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen who
was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director during the fiscal
year, (ii) granting of share options under the Share Option Scheme to a
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Director and certain employees of the Company, (iii) policies of granting {TEE % - HFMZEeeZNESEEB RN
certain bonus and (iv) the remuneration of the Executive Directors during T :
the fiscal year. The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration
Committee meetings were as follows:
Number of
attendance
Directors BE HERE
Mr. Li Wai Keung (chairman) FEBELE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, Gas, sss, /p REEFT Erunes wengs AvHt 2/2
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing LN 1/2
Nomination Committee REZES®
The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendation to 124 ZE @A EMEEIERIRMEES - UETAHIE
the nomination of Directors with a view to appointing suitable individuals ~ BAZE 33 R BAEE A - R E=emESE

with relevant expertise and experience to enhance the constitution of the
Board and to contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including reputation of
candidates for integrity, accomplishment and experience, professional and
educational background. The written terms of reference are in line with
the provisions of the CG Code.
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The Nomination Committee comprises two Independent Non-executive
Directors and one Executive Director, including Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen
Andrew as chairman, Mr. Li Wai Keung and Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.
During the fiscal year, one meeting was convened by the Nomination
Committee for considering the appointment of Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
Stephen as an Independent Non-executive Director. The attendance of the
Directors at the Nomination Committee meeting were as follows:

REZBEHMBBILFRNTEER—2RITESA
B BRRBERLE(ERE)  FREEERERNESL
Ko RAVBREFEANBRR —RIRRLZEEEH - U
ZEEEARPEERBIIFNTES - RELEE
CENBEFZHEBRAOT

Number of
attendance
Directors =4 HERE
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew GBS, SBS, JP (chairman) REERE 2LHEE  REFEE - X F4+(F/E) 11
Mr. Li Wai Keung TEEEE 11
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing /NS e 11

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the internal control of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness. A defined management structure with specified
limits of authority and responsibilities is developed for safeguarding assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publications and the compliance of applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

An internal audit department has been established to perform regular
financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary actions to
the relevant management. The works carried out by the internal audit
department ensure the internal controls are in place and function properly
as intended. The results of the internal audit and reviews are reported
to the executive Directors and Audit Committee of the Company. The
Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system and are satisfied with the adequacy of the system of internal
control of the Group for the fiscal year under review.

For the annual review on the internal controls, the Audit Committee
considered the internal control report was satisfied as to effectiveness of
the Group's internal control system. There were no matters of material
concerns relating to financial, operational or compliance controls. The
Board is satisfied with the adequacy of the system of the internal control
of the Group during the fiscal year under review.

RRREEHE

EXSREAEE I AMEE  WRTEARME - K
RAEFIEARATENEIREE - WiIARRSER
BE  UHLEREREEANEEEE - BRERZ
EEFREE . UWRRHASEMBERERIERKT
B WETERED - RBIBOER -

WEPEAZEBFIE RN - N EHETHBE R ES R
o WRERERABRBABITE o NEEZEM
FTETTEN TR AR HEIR A BPEE TR & BT - W IR
EWRERRELE - AR BZLBEHNERGRAARA
HITEERERZEEHE - EXCEHAKER
ERFAGNARE - YERATEERLBEWREERN
HABREIE R E B 50

HRAREIENFEENMS @ BREEeEANE
FEHRE - WEMAEBAREZERTBEYN - BXE
ERWY  BELAaREEMARERINEH &
ZEEMAEEROBEMBEENAREZERSET

%
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EXRERRE (B)

Independent Auditors’ Remuneration

The Group’s independent auditors are Messrs. Ernst & Young. For the
FY2011/12, the remuneration paid and payable by the Group to the
independent auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by them were as follows:

B AT S

RNEBHNBYZEMALZ KEHMEBA - #HE
2011/ M2 BFE - AEBRE L ZEEBE SR
HEZRIEERRBE S REFOBSET

HK$'000
THTT

Audit and review services

EZLEERS

2,880

/2

Directors’ Responsibility on the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for FY2011/12 which were prepared
in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The reporting responsibility of the independent auditors of the Company
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
independent auditors’ report on pages 73 to 74.

Communication with Shareholders and Noteholders
The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders,
Noteholders and other investment community is essential. During the
fiscal year, the executive Directors, chief financial officer and head of
investor relations of the Group’s held regular briefings, press conferences
and analysts meetings of interim and annual results, attended investor
forums and participated in roadshows and conducted meetings with the
institutional investors and financial analysts in China, Hong Kong and
overseas countries to keep them abreast of the Group’s business and
development. Investors can also communicate with the Company through
email at ir@chinasouthcity.com.

The Shareholders’ meeting provides a useful forum for the Shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Directors and chief financial
officer of the Group will attend the Shareholders’ meetings to answer the
questions raised by the Shareholders. Published documents together with
the latest corporate information and news are available on the Company’s
website at www.chinasouthcity.com.

China South City Holdings Limited ZFERFIHIZRGR A T
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Independent Auditors’ Report
R EE S

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

= ik

To the shareholders of China South City Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China South
City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
"Group”) set out on pages 75 to 192, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2012,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

HERHERBRATZTRE
(REBREMK L BIRAA])

BMEEZINERETSE1N2EMNERMRITRERA
B([ERR D REMB AR (SR S5 )BT B®R

= HhBFER2012943 A31 BHE4RA KA BB R
MK RELEZBAEFENGEREE  REe2AEK

5% GARREHRNEAHLARENREES
SRS R R ER -

EERMBREARENER
BEARESAARRBEEAGHMARTIRNE B
BREEAREBR A GOIRERIRE R HRE
ASEARBRRFLAEMATHORY - REEE
RARLEAMSRRAV BN - UL
BTSRRI s A ERRE B SR M B B RIR
it o

BB EE

RMMEERIBERMOBRE LSRN HRERE
RER - AWERBEBAFEHIE 141 FERMT
(EREIME)RE - Btz sh - DI E 1) « A4

BT B B AR i OB LM A+ 8 SRR
G
RPEREEEEHAAGTIBNEEBIEAILT

FiZ o FUREREREFIETERRE - WREILH
TEZ  NAREENSHBBERES NI FREMNE
REBERERAL
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)
B A SRS ()

Auditors’ responsibility (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
March 2012, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central

Hong Kong

26 June 2012

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A 7
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Consolidated Income Statement

AN =<
,%T\ (=] q&ﬁﬁ Z:E
Year ended 31 March 2012
B F2012F3H31H IFFE

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLFE
2012 2011
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
MiaE FET FET

REVENUE KA 5 3,670,767 2,234,033
Cost of sales THEKAK (1,434,671) (900,985)
Gross profit EF 2,236,096 1,333,048
Other income and gains H U A R e 5 547,191 39,499
Fair value gains on investment properties KEMENTFERER 5 1,117,696 1,464,168
Selling and distribution costs $HE KD HHBCAR (187,334) (111,805)
Administrative expenses TR (350,918) (208,079)
Other expenses HibfxZ 477 (34,566)
Finance costs BB B 7 (58,873) (30,495)
Share of profits and losses of: FEAE 3175 A E R 518 -

A jointly-controlled entity —RIEFZEHIEE 20 1,497 1,337

Associates YN (317) (331)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX AT RIE 6 3,305,515 2,452,776
Income tax expense Fris i 2 10 (1,257,953) (908,658)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A EFIE 2,047,562 1,544,118
Attributable to: B

Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZZEPN 11 2,070,708 1,552,455

Non-controlling interests e Sl (23,146) (8,337)

2,047,562 1,544,118

EARNINGS PER SHARE BENEBAREER

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EERFEAZ

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT BRER 13

Basic BN

— for profit for the year — REEFIE HK34.58 centsi{ll  HK25.95 cents &l

Diluted
— for profit for the year

— AFEME

HK34.51 centsi& 1l

HK25.80 cents &1Ll

Details of the dividends proposed for the year are disclosed in note 12 to

the financial statements.

AERE RS FH BN SRR 1245 -
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
AEEEWER

Year ended 31 March 2012

HZE2012F3H31H IFF/E
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A31BILEE
2012 2011
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERE 2,047,562 1,544,118
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME HpZmEKA
Exchange differences on translation of BEFINETER
foreign operations PE i Z=%8 366,059 302,644
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR REEHZEBA
THE YEAR 2,413,621 1,846,762
Attributable to: T 5% R -
Owners of the parent SARER A 2,434,132 1,851,482
Non-controlling interests EEalivg (20,511) (4,720)
2,413,621 1,846,762

/6 China South City Holdings Limited Z &R GR A &



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

nVT (=] ,\jﬁ%;‘ﬁ;ﬂv%‘%

31 March 2012
201243H31H

31 March 2012
201243 H31H

31 March 2011
201143 A31H

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

KiaE FET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE N&E 14 195,960 204,119
Investment properties BEME 15 13,637,107 11,285,288
Properties under development i rl=aly 16 2,878,003 3,403,663
Prepaid land premiums Rt i ES 17 7,116 7,036
Goodwill ﬁ;@ 18 20,066 20,066
Investments in jointly-controlled entities RARESIEBIRE 20 2,850 11,106
Investments in associates REE N EHIRE 21 (1,531) (1,177)
Finance lease receivables BB ERWEIE 22 38,445 46,795
Deposits paid for purchase of land BE TR NNiEe 23 376,035 261,316
Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE 32 267,388 160,003
Total non-current assets EMEEELRE 17,421,439 15,398,215
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties held for finance lease HIERNEHEE 145,940 161,571
Properties held for sale FHEHEME 24 7,762,555 482,607
Trade receivables e E SRR 25 525,630 589,943
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — JEfZUIE - %4 M H i E W KIAE 26 866,806 34,005
Held for trading investments at FBERUARNTFENEZ

fair value through profit or loss BIEEERE 27 111,986 153,065
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash & MBS EBY NI R HIE & 28 3,831,987 4,564,491
Total current assets mREEEEE 13,244,904 5,985,682
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and other payables Z 5 R HMFERFRIA 29 6,529,731 1,324,051
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SESRTREMESE 30 2,740,273 1,696,394
Tax payable FEfBIE 1,624,496 900,503
Total current liabilities MEAERT 10,894,500 3,920,948
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 2,350,404 2,064,734
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥EZERADARL 19,771,843 17,462,949
Annual Report 2011/12 F 3k
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

R BRI AR ()

31 March 2012
201243H31H

31 March 2012
201243 H31H

31 March 2011
201143 A31H

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
KiaE FET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STRRITERHEMES 30 2,033,109 2,546,303
Senior notes BRER 317 1,844,984 1,900,083
Amount due to non-controlling interests FEf IR AR e RS TR I 41(c)(i) 53,113 51,170
Deferred tax liabilities FRERRIEAFE 32 2,845,346 2,347,357
Total non-current liabilities JERE B EREE 6,776,552 6,844,913
Net assets BEFE 12,995,291 10,618,036
EQUITY xR
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BARHEA AEG#ER
Issued capital BT 33 59,876 59,876
Reserves & 35(@a) 12,429,737 10,331,349
Proposed final dividends HOR R HARS & 12 449,067 149,689
12,938,680 10,540,914
Non-controlling interests FEPERR A 56,611 77,122
Total equity RSB 12,995,291 10,618,036

/8

CHENG CHUNG HING ZB#A 8

Director &%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BAERBBR

Year ended 31 March 2012

BZE2012F3H31HIFFE
Attributable to owners of the parent
BATERAERS
Capital ~ Statutory Share Share  Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued redemption  surplus  Capital premium  option fluctuation Retained final controlling Total
capital reserve  reserve  reserve  account  reserve  reserve  profits  dividends Total interests equity
EEfT e R Rt ERE EX iR iR
Bx  RERE BHEE E4RG  EER fiff  RBRE RENE  RERS @it BE EREE
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
i3 Thm Tér Tz TEn TEn Tér  Tér  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr TEn
(note )
(i)
At 1 April 2010 R201064A18 60,000 = 86,269 - 3,039,402 67520 594820 4945422 119591 8913024 113,661 9,026,685
Profit for the year REEFE - - - - - - - 1552455 - 1,5524% (8337) 1,544,118
Other comprehensive income TFEEMZE
for the year: WA :
Exchange differences on translation A E550 54
of foreign operations EiZEE - - 4,640 - - - 294387 - - 299,027 3617 302,644
Total comprehensive income TERLEENA
for the year - - 4,640 - - - 294387 1552455 - 1851482 (47200 1,846,762
Repurchase of shares BERR 3 (204) 204 - - - - - (24616 - (24610 - (4616
Evercise of share options riFtEmE 3 80 = = -1 (3,001) = = = 8400 = 8,400
Equity-settled share option NEREENRIRE
arrangement ZH 34 - - - - - 39% - - - 3% - 3%
Acquisition of non-controling interests - W& 3E4 MR = = - (8181 - - - - - (88181 (31819 (120000
Final 2010 dividend paid BR010F KRS = = = = = = = - (119591)  (119,591) - (119591)
Proposed final 2011 dividend RRONERFRE 12 - - - - - = - (149689 149,689 - - -
Transfer from retained profits ERERATE - - 33,640 - - - - (33640) - - - -
At31 Mrch 2011 Ra11E3A318 59,876 04 124509 (88181 3050723* 64915 89207 6289932 149689 10540914 7712 10618036
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
mERREBR(E)

Year ended 31 March 2012

ELZ2012F3 31 H IFFIZ
Attributable to owners of the parent
BLREEARE
Capital ~ Statutory Share Share  Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued redemption  surplus  Capital premium  option fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
capital reserve  reserve  reserve  account  reserve  reserve  profits  dividends Total interests equity
B&f &% EE Rt  BRE E% Rk FER
ke RERE BHEE EARE  EER i RBEE REHE  RERS EH B REAR
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
g TEn Tén TR TEr  TEr  TEr T TEn  TEr  TEr TR TER
(note )
(Hiti)
At 1 April 2011 R2011%4A18 59876 204 124549 (88,181) 3,050,723 64915 889,207 6289932 149,689 10,540,914 71,122 10,618,036
Profit for the year AERHA = = - - - - - 2000708 - 2070708 (23,146) 2,047,562
Other comprehensive income REREMZE
for the year: WA :
Exchange differences on translation of &850 754
foreign operations ERES - - 5763 - - - 357661 - - 36344 2635 366,059
Total comprehensive income REREZERA
for the year - - 5763 - - - 357661 2,070,708 - 2434132 (20511) 2,413,621
Lapse of share options BRELH 34 - - - - - (15,004) - 15,004 - - - -
Equity-settled share option WEREEH
arrangement BRERS 34 - - - - - £314 - - - 42314 - 42314
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF 36 - = - 88180 = - (1) = - 71,009 - 71,009
Final 2011 dividend paid BRONERHRE - - - - - - - - (149689 (149,689) - (149689)
Proposed final 2012 dividend WR0NFRERE 12 - - - - - - - (449067) 449,067 - - -
Transfer from retained profits ERERATIE - - 73,906 - - - - (73.900) - - - -
At31 March 2012 R01238318 59,876 04 20218 <3007 95t 12969 TESLEN* 9067 12938680 56611 1299591

30

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEREEEPEGAVEBRIRMANLEG S

HK$12,429,737,000 (31 March 2011: HK$10,331,349,000) in the fi& 1% 12,429,737,000 7 7t ( 2011 £ 3 A 31 H
consolidated statement of financial position. 10,331,349,00077T ) ©

Note: Ff3E -

(i)  Inaccordance with the PRC Company Law, the Group's subsidiaries registered ()  RIBFFBERQEE - NEERFE MK BARZAR
in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit FEEERENBE(GCEHEEMBTFEEIERZ)D
after tax (after offsetting any prior years' losses) to the statutory surplus 10% BN EERBFER - BREESHEBEETERT
reserve. When the balance of the reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s MERBS0%E - AIEERTHRBAES ° &
registered capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus TERBRFEATARBEBATFEEBIEMER A
reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital. o EERBRBENMELZEREBNERUESD
However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at MR EARR25% ©

a minimum of 25% of registered capital after such usages.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A 7



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘/-.r\/\Iﬁ'ﬁl)lbi’%%

Year ended 31 March 2012
BZE2012F3H31HIFFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MALEE
2012 2011
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Kzt FET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES E&EBBRESHE
Profit before tax TN 3,305,515 2,452,776
Adjustments for: S
Finance costs & R A 7 58,873 30,495
Share of profits and losses of A —REEZEFI TR
a jointly-controlled entity and associates ik NEIVINEDSE SE s (1,180) (1,006)
Bank interest income RITHBHA 5 (8,770) (5,700)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - KE R
plant and equipment HAEIEE EE 6 32 3,250
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries i EMTE A Rl 36 (545,720) -
Depreciation e 6 23,175 35,451
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums SEUR ks e | 6 187 180
Changes in fair value of investment properties 12 &¥EE A FEEH) 5 (1,117,696) (1,464,168)
Provision for impairment of trade receivables EH&Z%%%?XW@%% 6 - 34,959
Write-back of impairment of HEIZEHEEEM
investment in a jointly-controlled entity &ﬁﬁfﬁﬁé@ 6 (477) (393)
Gain on repurchase of senior notes BREEREW R 5 (14,018) -
(Gains)/losses on held for trading investments  3#Fi@1EzRIAAFEYRZ
at fair value through profit or loss, net BIEEERE (W),
Ei8FRE 5 40,260 (20,098)
Equity-settled share option expense DARE 25 45 & A BE RS A 52 6 42,314 396
1,782,495 1,066,142
(Increase)/decrease in properties held for sale = {ESEZELMN), T (3,379,785) 619,774
Decrease in properties held for finance lease BHIEREMSEMFRRD 21,766 121,593
Decrease in loan receivables FEWE SRk - 652
Decrease in finance lease receivables & TH B e U R 10,127 9,854
Increase in trade receivables FEYE 5 BRI AN (113,661) (380,394)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FERRIE - B REM
deposits and other receivables M RIE ()R (388,946) 17,581
Increase in restricted cash PR HIZE 230 (473,149) (34,330)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K H M FE FRIEIE AN 3,636,667 9,365
Cash generated from operations RESHRE 1,095,514 1,430,237
Overseas taxes paid 2REHMIEIA (159,794) (104,920)
Net cash flows from operating activities L EEIR SR AFEE 935,720 1,325,317
Annual Report 2011/12 F 3k
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

mERTRER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2012
BZE2012F3H31HIFFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLFE
2012 2011
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
MiaE THERT FET
Net cash flows from operating activities BEEFIR SR AFE 935,720 1,325,317
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREZEBHRLSRE
Purchases of items of property, BEYHE  BEKEKBIEE
plant and equipment (11,273) (22,417)
Dividends received from held for trading BiEBm AR EIER 2 FE
investments at fair value through profit or loss B EF&%E& 2 WS 819 -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE - BERREEBEEB G
plant and equipment PO 332 529
Purchase of held for trading investments BEEBEZUATEYIERZ
at fair value through profit and loss BHEE E&é - (28,937)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U BE I Hx’f& = (30,156) (89,844)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBA 36 286,264 =
Net advances from jointly-controlled entities HEEHE ﬁjﬁ FORERE 10,674 1
Additions to properties under development ?’*JEEF'%%M\ (2,315,650) (1,826,712)
Interest received ECRE 8,770 5,700
Net cash flows used in investing activities & EHIR SR FE (2,050,220) (1,961,680)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZEBHRERE
Issue of senior notes BITRERE 31 - 1,842,887
Payment for repurchase of shares BB DR 33 - (24,616)
Payment for repurchase of senior notes AR R LN 31 (54,069) -
Payment for interest on senior notes BEEERN S % 31 (262,164) =
New bank and other borrowings FERITREMER 2,171,514 2,050,143
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BRIRITREME R (1,588,163) (2,196,016)
Exercise of share options 1T AR - 8,400
Dividend distribution AN =N (149,689) (119,591)
Increase in amount due to FEAS FEIE R 2
non-controlling interests RIFIE AN - 51,170
Interest paid 2RFIE (259,403) (210,506)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities gi&/EEIR S (Rt ),RAERE (141,974) 1,401,871
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERREEEYEMER
CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,256,474) 765,508
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year E%}]E’jfﬁ%&fﬁ{ﬁE%‘f% 28 4,521,310 3,694,126
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ME R g2 8550 50,821 61,676
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FENBESRRESEEY
AT END OF YEAR 3,315,657 4,521,310
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERBESEEVERIN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBEEEEY 28 3,315,657 4,521,310
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Statement of Financial Position

BAFEAR AR

31 March 2012
201243H31H

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
20124 20114
3A31H 3A31H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
et FHx FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MRS 1,783 1,639
Investments in subsidiaries KRB R RIRIRE 19 2,953,675 2,253,675
Total non-current assets ERENEEETE 2,955,458 2,255,314
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — JETEUA ~ 24 N Eith fE Uk 78 529 3,708
Due from subsidiaries A NG R 19 2,250,736 968,195
Cash and cash equivalents BERESEED 28 477,387 2,342,869
Total current assets MEVEELRTE 2,728,652 3,314,772
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBaE
Due to subsidiaries FERTH B A R IR 19 899 899
Other payables, accruals and HAibERFIE - EEHIEE &
deposits received BliL & 35,453 34,055
Total current liabilities mEaERE 36,352 34,954
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 2,692,300 3,279,818
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥EAFERABHER 5,647,758 5,535,132
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Senior notes BRER 37 1,844,984 1,900,083
Net assets BEFE 3,802,774 3,635,049
EQUITY R
Issued capital BT 33 59,876 59,876
Reserves i 35(b) 3,293,831 3,425,484
Proposed final dividends R AR HARR B 12 449,067 149,689
Total equity AR 3,802,774 3,635,049
CHENG CHUNG HING 23435 LEUNG MOON LAM 2@tk
Director =& Director £
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Notes to Financial Statements
SR e

31 March 2012
201243H31H

2.1

Corporate Information

China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered office
of the Company is located at Room 2205, 22/F, Sun Life Tower, The
Gateway, 15 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group is principally engaged in developing
and operating the large-scale integrated logistics and trade centers,
developing supporting residential and commercial facilities, property
management and operation of hotels.

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties and held for
trading investments at fair value through profit or loss, which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2012. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting
period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All intra-
group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting
from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated on
consolidation in full.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.1

2.2

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the
non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial

HKFRS 1 Amendments

Reporting Standards — Limited
Exemptions from Comparative HKFRS
7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures
Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments:

HKAS 32 Amendment
Presentation —
Classification of Rights Issues

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

Amendments Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirements
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in May 2010

Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010

2.1

2.2

mBEXE ()

mEEEE)

HEBAR 2 2 E RS A5 R BRI -
ENE | Bt tp BB B o

—RMBRRINMAEERHRES (L EAE
THE) - RS H AR -

A S BR L HHTB A BRI - R ERER
(ZMBARNEE(RERE) RAE - ()EMA
TR it o A BR T B R (i) IO M s D RE SR A R 5
BMEZE  REROERRENRFE - ()RR
BRI E B QB K (i) et & F A B B E
A BERHERD o SERTREA 2 A RRER
REB RGN EF D BB RE A (40
R ©

B ERENEEREE
AR A A RS RR A B R T 73] R
S TE B IR ER -

BRMBRSE BERBREENE1REAKS
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FEIRRENBRAE ZEF]
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(&155T)
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20102203 SRR 2 55T
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)
Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of HKAS
24 (Revised), and amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 1 and HKAS 27
included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 (Include other standards as
appropriate), the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had
no significant financial effect on these financial statements.

The principal effects of adopting these HKFRSs are as follows:

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definitions of
related parties. The new definitions emphasise a symmetrical
view of related party relationships and clarify the circumstances
in which persons and key management personnel affect
related party relationships of an entity. The revised standard
also introduces an exemption from the general related party
disclosure requirements for transactions with a government
and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the same government as the reporting entity. The
accounting policy for related parties has been revised to reflect
the changes in the definitions of related parties under the
revised standard. The adoption of the revised standard did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group. Details of the related party transactions, including
the related comparative information, are included in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B R R MR ()

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures

(Continued)

(b) Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There are separate
transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption of
some of the amendments may result in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments has had a significant
financial impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group. Details of the key amendments most applicable to the
Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: The amendment clarifies
that the amendments to HKFRS 7, HKAS 32 and HKAS 39
that eliminate the exemption for contingent consideration
do not apply to contingent consideration that arose from
business combinations whose acquisition dates precede
the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendment limits the scope of
measurement choices for non-controlling interests. Only
the components of non-controlling interests that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by another HKFRS.

The amendment also added explicit guidance to clarify
the accounting treatment for non-replaced and voluntarily
replaced share-based payment awards.

o HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The
amendment clarifies that an analysis of each component
of other comprehensive income can be presented either
in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to
the financial statements. The Group elects to present
the analysis of each component of other comprehensive
income in the statement of changes in equity.

(b)

2.2 2 BENEEREE 2)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)

(Continued)

o HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements:
The amendment clarifies that the consequential
amendments from HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) made
to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and HKAS 31 shall be applied
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2009 or earlier if HKAS 27 is applied earlier.

The Group has voluntarily changed its accounting policy
regarding the current/non-current assets classification in
respect of properties under development. In prior years, the
Group initially classified the properties under development
in non-current assets in the statement of financial position
and transferred the properties under development to current
assets when completed and ready for use as properties held
for sale. Under the revised accounting policy, properties under
development are initially classified as non-current assets and
transferred to current assets when the construction of the
relevant properties commences and the construction period
of the relevant property development project is expected
to complete within normal operating cycle. The basis of
measurement of properties under development is not affected
by the above change in accounting policy. In the opinion of
the directors, the financial statements according to the revised
policy will provide reliable and more relevant information to
the users of the financial statements, and better reflect the
financial position of the Group following the diversification of
the Group’s project portfolio during the year and would bring
the Group more in line with the treatment adopted by other
entities in the real estate industry.

This voluntary change of the accounting policy has had no
effect on the consolidated income statement. The effect on
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2012 is to decrease the non-current assets properties under
development of HK$5,636,286,000 and to increase the current
assets properties held for sale for the same amount.

The above change has no material impact on the comparatives
as at 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2010 accordingly
comparatives for the year ended 31 March 2011 and the
opening balances at 1 April 2010 were not restated.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRSs Amendments
HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 12 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters'

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Government
Loans*

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets’

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities*

Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2009-
2011 cycle*

Financial Instruments®

Consolidated Financial Statements*
Joint Arrangements*

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities*
Fair Value Measurement*

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income3

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes
— Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets?

Employee Benefits*

Separate Financial Statements*

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures*

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities®

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine*
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2013

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So far, the
Group considers that these new and revised HKFRSs are unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Group's results of operations and
financial position.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or indirectly,
controls more than half of its voting power or issued share capital or
controls the composition of its board of directors; or over which the
Company has a contractual right to exercise a dominant influence
with respect to that entity’s financial and operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company's investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Joint ventures
A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the
Group and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the
capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration of the
joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be realised
upon its dissolution. The profits or losses from the joint venture's
operations and any distributions of surplus assets are shared
by the venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture
agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(@) a subsidiary, if the Group, directly or indirectly, controls more
than half of its voting power or issued share capital or controls
the composition of its board of directors; or over which the
Company has a contractual right to exercise a dominant
influence with respect to the joint venture’s financial and
operating policies;

(b) ajointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral
control, but has joint control, directly or indirectly, over the
joint venture;

(0) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint
control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less than
20% of the joint venture's registered capital and is in a position
to exercise significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS
39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less than 20%
of the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither joint
control of, nor is in a position to exercise significant influence
over, the joint venture.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to
joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties having
unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled
entity.

The Group's investments in jointly-controlled entities are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group's share of
the post-acquisition results and reserves of jointly-controlled entities
is included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Where the profit sharing ratio is different to
the Group's equity interest, the share of post-acquisition results of
the jointly-controlled entities is determined based on the agreed
profit sharing ratio. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the jointly-
controlled entities, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of jointly-controlled entities is included as part of the
Group's investments in jointly-controlled entities.

The results of jointly-controlled entities are included in the
Company's income statement to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company's investments in jointly-controlled
entities are treated as non-current assets and are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 ERETBERME 5)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled
entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not
less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The Group's share of the post-acquisition
results and reserves of associates is included in the consolidated
income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates and is not individually tested for
impairment.

The results of associates are included in the Company's income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company's investments in associates are treated as non-current
assets and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date
through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to
be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with HKAS
39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will
not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. In instances where the contingent consideration does not fall
within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the
appropriate HKFRS.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 ERETBERME 5)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of
in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets, investment properties and goodwill), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and
its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the income
statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family

and that person:

(i)

(ii)

(ifi)

or

(b)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it
is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3%

4.5% to 20%
9% to 18%
9% to 18%

Hotel properties
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 ERETBERME 5)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the income statement in the year in which
they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost comprises the land costs, construction
costs, capitalised borrowing costs and other cost directly attributed
to such properties during the period of construction.

Properties under development are initially classified as non-current
assets and transferred to current assets under the category of
properties held for sale when the construction of the relevant
properties commences and the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete within normal
operating cycle.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the
minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land
lease payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant
and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to the income statement so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 EASHEEME (@)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables. The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except
in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

The Group's financial assets include cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, trade and other receivables, loan receivables, finance
lease receivables and quoted financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in other income and gains in the income statement.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest
earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria under HKAS 39 are satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to sell them
in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances,
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive
markets and management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable
future significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets. The reclassification from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-
for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends
on the nature of the assets. This evaluation does not affect any
financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss using
the fair value option at designation as these instruments cannot be
reclassified after initial recognition.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 ERETBERME(5)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
income in the income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the income statement in finance costs for loans and in
other expenses for receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

e therights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.4 ERETBERME(5)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in
a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in
the income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has
been transferred to the Group.
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the income statement.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings. The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the
case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
senior notes, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the income statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.4 ERETBERME (5

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair
value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm's length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument which is
substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option
pricing models.

Properties held for sale and held for finance
lease

Properties held for sale includes completed properties held for
sale and properties under development expected to be completed
within normal operating cycle. Properties held for sale and held for
finance lease are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost includes land cost, all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to such
properties. Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 ERETBERME (5

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 ERETBERME(5)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@) from the sale of completed properties, when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the properties sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

Frig®i @)

EIERREENRE(E - AEREHRE TUE
Bl - ETBRIREH RARRTAE A A AENE
BREOBELERREE - AIFIRELERAEER
HfE - BERTHERNVELEHBEEN S REH
REFEHTAHS - MAER LA B SIERTAE R A
M2 F RO REHBEE - RIBRBER
THROEEHREE -

FREENFERENIRAREROHE &

RtETEEERIALE KRR - WAREHRE
EEEBAARR EEEERNHEK(RBUE) AE
* o

fid F A AT OB BT T HORE RS BN AT IR 4 = S B AR
HMIAB AR - MELHRIAERR R ERE &R
HRMBEHEGR - RIRELEHRREEREERIEA
BIEE R -

LN+
WATIRE BN A AT e AN E - WAESTAT
SEHETEWAZE » T HIEERER

() REHEERTMENEA - RAAERNE
REREOHREEZ TER - MAKEL
TMREBREMEEAENEEEREE
EMENBIES

(b) WA - EEEH IR L PIEAE

Annual Report 2011/12 £f

(RN



112

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

() finance lease income, when the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the properties have been transferred
to the lessee;

(d) property management service and other fee income, when the
services have been rendered;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(f)  revenue from hotel operation and the provision of related
services, when the services have been rendered.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using an appropriate pricing model, further details
of which are given in note 34 to the financial statements.
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2.4 ERETBERME(5)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of
each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the income statement for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute 10% to 20% of their respective payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the
statement of financial position, until they have been approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company's memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. All differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are taken to the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or
loss arising on retranslation of a non-monetary item is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation differences on item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, jointly-
controlled entities and associates are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period and their income statements are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the income statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

2.4 ERETBERME (5

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of
the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion
that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only
if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Transfer from properties under development and
completed properties held for sale to investment properties
Properties under development and completed properties held for
sale are transferred to investment properties when there is a change
in use with sufficient evidence. The Group determines whether a
change in use has occurred based on assessment of all relevant
facts and circumstances, which include but are not limited to: (a) a
business plan that reflects the future rental income generated by
the property; (b) the resources to hold and manage an investment
property; (c) legal permissibility for the change in use; (d) the
commencement of development if the property requires further
development for the change in use. Any excess of fair value over
the original carrying amount of such properties at the date of
transfer was recognised as current year profit or loss. During the
year ended 31 March 2012, properties under development and
completed properties held for sale with a total carrying amount
of HK$718,850,000 (2011: HK$312,388,000) were transferred to
investment properties due to a change in use, giving rise to a net
fair value gain of HK$904,897,000 (2011: HK$681,573,000) in the
consolidated income statement.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the investment properties
excluding those newly transferred from properties under
development and completed properties held for sale give rise to a
net fair value gain of HK$212,799,000 (2011: HK$782,595,000) in
the consolidated income statement.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
March 2012 was HK$20,066,000 (2011: HK$20,066,000). Further
details are given in note 18.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A 7

BEREFTHER &)

FIE (@)
BRPYVERBEHERTIYELEERE
S

BB ERAREESE  BERYERFEH
ER TMELEETREYE - XEBHENAE
HASERBANTEECARERESE - £
BREETRR : (RMRUYFEFREEHRS KA
WEESE: OFEAREEREMEMTNE
B (OB REBBERBRKNERZTA - ()Y
%& ARG AR - BB R RGHETT
REEAPZEMENRFEBRL REEDED
AR FBERANFEEZ - BIE20129F3H31
AItFE @ BRE4E/4718,850,000/% 75(2011
£ : 312,388,000/8 7T ) B B & R ) 5 M I VESH
ERTMERNARESMEESRENE - Wi
Gz R E A A T FE 904,897,000 7T
(20114F : 681,573,000/87T) °

RIEEME(TEIENLBERFYERFIE
SHE®R TR EEBNME) NEkE201243A4
BNHIEFEMNGRERERTFEERA T FERKE
212,799,000/ 7T (20114F :782,595,000/87T) °

TN A RERE
BERRNEBBREURRFERREFTEELR

RRERN T —EARBRFEHEE B ENRA
BEELEAFARNEMEBHEITHEEREZRR
£ T Gmit

BERE

AEEE)GFEFNESTAE - ERZHE
AEFMENRSELENFEABEEL G o &
FHEREER - AEBEANRSEA BN ATE
KRB REELEET - MAEREEZNTR
R EZERMEMIIRE - R20126F3H31
B EEMEEEEA20,066,00057C (20114 ¢
20,066,000/ 7T) © FHIEEAHIE18 ©



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited (“Savills”), independent professionally qualified valuers, to
perform the valuation of the Group’s investment properties at the
end of the reporting period. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 March 2012 was HK$13,637,107,000 (2011:
HK$11,285,288,000).

Impairment allowances for trade receivables and other
receivables

The Group estimates the impairment allowances for trade receivables
and other receivables by assessing the recoverability based on
credit history and prevailing market conditions. This requires the
use of estimates and judgements. Allowances are applied to trade
receivables and other receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will affect the carrying amounts of trade receivables and
other receivables and thus the impairment loss in the period in which
such estimate is changed. The Group reassesses the impairment
allowances at the end of each reporting period. At 31 March 2012,
the carrying amounts of trade receivables and other receivables were
HK$1,354,331,000 (2011: HK$612,689,000).

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has five reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@) the property development segment engages in the
development of integrated logistics and trade centers and
supporting residential properties;

(b) the property investment segment invests in integrated logistics
and trade centres and supporting facilities;

() the property management segment engages in the
management of the Group’s developed properties;

(d) the hotel operation segment engages in the provision of hotel
services; and

(e) the “others” segment comprises, principally, the provision of
exhibition and other services.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

R R MR ()

Operating Segment Information (Continued)
Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss),
which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently with the Group's
profit before tax except that interest income, finance costs, fair value
gains from the Group’s financial instruments as well as head office
and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss and other unallocated
head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes, tax payable and other unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

No geographical segment analysis is presented as the majority of
the assets and operation of the Group are located in PRC, which is
considered as one geographical location in an economic environment
with similar risk and returns.

There was no single customer who contributed to 10% or more of

the Group's revenue during the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011:
nil).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4, REFBER )
Property Property Property Hotel
Year ended 31 March 2012 development  investment management operation Others Total
HEW1E3AMALEE NERR NERE NEEE EEEE Htth @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TARL TARL TARL TARL TARL
Segment revenue: AHEA
Sales to external customers HNPEPHRE 3431323 166,393 41,500 26,946 4,605 3,670,767
Intersegment sales PEPFIHE - - 7,586 37,469 - 45,055
3,431,323 166,393 49,086 64,415 4,605 3,715,822
Elimination of intersegment sales DEEEE L (45,055)
Revenue WA 3,670,767
Segment results before increase in fair % & #)E A TFEE AT
value of investment properties PEEE 2,165,806 94,321 (26,173) (356) 2,498 2,236,096
Increase in fair value of investment REMELNTE
properties = - 1,117,696 - - - 1,117,696
Segment results after increase in fair & MEATFEL MR
value of investment properties DR 2,165,806 1,212,017 (26,173) (356) 2,498 3,353,792
Interest income FISIA 11,985
Unallocated income and gains R BB R 535,206
Unallocated expense ABAS (537,775)
Finance costs EREN (58,873)
Share of profit of a jointly-controlled e/ —F L FiHIER
entity Gil)i] 1,497
Share of losses of associates e E ARIES (317)
Profit before tax AT 3,305,515
Segment assets PBEE 8,728,396 16,519,202 1,886 64,021 7,097 25,320,602
Reconciliation: b
Investments in jointly-controlled entities FA$tRIE4| &2k E 2,850
Investments in associates REAAFHRE (1,531)
Unallocated assets AOWEE 5,344,422
Total assets EEEE 30,666,343
Segment liabilities PHEE 5,430,907 3,551,468 6,793 2,142 1,124 8,992,434
Reconciliation: g
Unallocated liabilities ApkERE 8,678,618
Total liabilities afes 17,671,052
Other segment information: HiaHEs
Depreciation & 294 - 653 3814 204 4,965
Corporate and other unallocated AAREMRAE
amounts ] 18,210
23,175
Increase in fair value of investment REWE
properties AFEEN - 1,117,696 - - - 1,117,696
Capital expenditure* BARZ* 7,127,810 2,180,737 179 160 8,990 9,317,876
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B M Rk AT (4E)
4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4, REFBER )
Property Property Property Hotel
Year ended 31 March 2011 development investment  management operation Others Total
BE011F3A31BLLEE NEER NERE NEER EE&E Hth &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T Tir
Segment revenue: AHHA :
Sales to external customers B RPEE 2,046,309 133,453 30,695 21,670 1,906 2,234,033
Intersegment sales DEPEIHE = = 21,200 30,912 = 52,112
2,046,309 133,453 51,895 52,582 1,906 2,286,145
Elimination of intersegment sales AEREEHE (52,112)
Revenue WA 2,234,033
Segment results before increase in fair - AW E A FEZMF
value of investment properties DEEE 1,315,764 61,964 (33,158) (13,427) 1,905 1,333,048
Increase in fair value of investment ~ REMEATE
properties 0 - 1,464,168 - - - 1,464,168
Segment results after increase in fair  AEAFEL L
value of investment properties DEEE 1,315,764 1,526,132 (33,158) (13,427) 1,905 2,797,216
Interest income FIEMA 9,978
Unallocated income and gains RO Rz 29,521
Unallocated expense AOEREY (354,450)
Finance costs BERAK (30,495)
Share of profit of a jointly-controlled  JEfs — Rt FiE4 B
entity Gil) 1337
Share of losses of associates NG (331)
Profit before tax AT 2,452,776
Segment assets AHEE 1950534 14,243,061 2,255 67,041 119 16,263,010
Reconciliation: k-
Investments in jointly-controlled entities 73t 4| BaE8% 4 11,106
Investments in associates REEARNEE (1,177)
Unallocated assets KOREE 5,110,958
Total assets BEEE 21,383,897
Segment liabilities AHEE 163,091 3,004,583 8,837 2,664 189 3,179,364
Reconciliation: -
Unallocated liabilities APEEE 7,586,497
Total liabilities Lt 10,765,861
Other segment information: AthAEER
Depreciation bl = 6,327 590 10,812 121 17,850
Corporate and other unallocated AAREMAAE
amounts Ea 17,601
35,451
Increase in fair value of investment REWE
properties NTEEM - 1,464,168 - - - 1,464,168
Capital expenditure* BARS 623,125 1,683,342 66 450 37 2,307,020

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment, properties under development and investment properties.
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Revenue, Other Income and Gains 5.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents the net sales
of completed properties, finance lease income, rental income, hotel
income and income from the provision of property management
services and other fee income, net of business tax.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

WA~ AR W
LONGEIES S L E S ARE EalCtE 2l s s
THEEEFE  RERERA - BEKA B
FE M B AR A 2 AR TS A B L1 2 B M
A °

WA~ B AR ASFTAT -

For the year ended 31 March

HBZ3B31HILLEE
2012 2011
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
izt FET FHET
Revenue WA
Sale of properties YIEHE 3,010,808 1,832,580
Finance lease income mMEHREKWA 420,515 213,729
Rental income G ON 166,393 133,453
Hotel income BEEWBA 26,946 21,670
Property management service income MEEIBREIA 41,500 30,695
Other fee income HihBRUA 4,605 1,906
3,670,767 2,234,033
Other income Hil A
Interest income from: KA TS IENFBIA -
Banks R1T 8,770 5,700
Finance lease receivables B EFE & EGR IR 3,215 4,278
Others Hib 9,365 9,423
21,350 19,401
Gains E
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME AR 36 545,720 =
Gains/(losses) on held for trading BiBBRARNTENEZ
investments at fair value through BIEEEREWE
profit or loss, net (E518) 358 (40,260) 20,098
Gain on repurchase of senior notes BEOE e 2 s 31 14,018 -
Others Hib 6,363 =
525,841 20,098
547,191 39,499
Fair value gains on investment REWMELNTEE
properties W 15 1,117,696 1,464,168
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B M Rk AT (4E)
6. Profit Before Tax 6. FAITFIE
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEBFNFEAAMBEDHE GEA) ™88 -
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A3IHLEE
2012 2011
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
st THERT FET
Cost of properties sold [BA=17ES¥N 1,044,147 610,004
Cost of properties held for finance lease BhE SV SR A 221,370 120,541
Cost of services provided RERRISA AN 169,154 170,440
Depreciation e 14 23,705 35,638
Less: Depreciation capitalised in respect of & : BEEEHRWEE AL
properties under development e (530) (187)
23,175 35,451
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums TE L RS E g 17 187 180
Minimum lease payments under operating ~ +h R iEF R )SEHLL
leases in respect of land and buildings and ~ FAE THHEES
vehicles 10,305 6,853
Auditors’ remuneration % S Em 5 B 2,880 3,018
Employee benefit expense (including REBFAXZ (BIEESHM)
directors’ remuneration):
Wages and salaries* IENHE* 206,876 136,227
Equity-settled share option expense RS EE R B ERX 42,314 396
Pension scheme contributions RIREET B 13,626 6,739
262,816 143,362
Foreign exchange differences, net HNE Z= FBIFRE (18,385) (2,838)
Provision for impairment of trade FEE SRR BB~
receivables** - 34,959
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant  H&EY% - HERREER
and equipment 518 32 3,250
Write-back of impairment of investment R—RAREH BENIRE
in a jointly-controlled entity** B [E]** (477) (393)
@ Included amounts of HK$34,138,000 and HK$22,718,000 for the years & BIEEHZE2012FR2011F3A31BEFENEE
ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively, which were capitalised 5 %1134,138,0005 7T % 22,718,000/ 7T © & F A
under properties under development. B S AR o

** Included in “other expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Ordinance, is as follows:

IR ER R EE (&)
7. Finance Costs 7. BERA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEKAZ DT
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31BLEE
Group
REE
2012 2011
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Interest on bank and other borrowings, net SRITREMEER S/F5E
Wholly repayable within five years ARAFAZEER 236,729 198,528
Wholly repayable beyond five years BERAFREHER 30,818 19,360
Interest on senior notes (note 31) BEREER B (H:231) 275,152 57,196
Less: Interest capitalised B BAMEFE (483,826) (244,589)
Total st 58,873 30,495
8. Directors’ Emoluments 8. EE¥HD
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the BIEETARRIREARTEBIE 16115 - RAF
Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies EREEHMRELT -

For the year ended 31 March

BZ3A31HLLEE
Group
REE
2012 2011
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Fees e 3,948 3,652
Other emoluments: HiMe
Salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind e ZELREWET 13,200 9,400
Performance-related bonuses* EAZRIA BN IEAT 18,989 12,099
Equity-settled share option expense A E MR 3,468 -
Pension scheme contributions RN FTEIHR 24 24
39,629 25,175
*  Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus @ RRARETHITESARREUR RS BRI XIE

payments which are determined as a percentage of the Group’s
consolidated net profit after taxation and non-controlling interests but
before extraordinary items of the financial year.

AR R B AT R AN I R IR IR B ATAR
BFEMEE D LLEEMIEA -
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IR ER R EE (&)

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEFIH
During the year, one of the directors was granted share options, in TN —REERMEREBIREZ REMBE
respect of his services to the Group, under the share option scheme RAGIBIRFET 2 RERE - HE—SHI15H
of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 34 to RETFEIRRM 3134 - ZEBEROAFE(ER
the financial statements. The fair value of such options which has HEBAERN M ERER) DAL AHEE - m
been recognised in the income statement over the vesting period, HN RN FEMBRERNESECEER EXEEN
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in MEHEEER -

the financial statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors () BUFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FANTEIIENTESNRESOT ¢
the year were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March

BE3A31HLFE
Group
rEE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Shi Wan Peng Vap=yi 256 300
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew DEE 300 300
Li Wai Keung R 300 300
Hui Chui Chung Stephen FTHRA 292 -
1,148 900
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FN - BEEGCENBYIENTEETOE
non-executive directors during the year (2011: Nil). (0114 : &) o
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive

8. EEHFTwW)
(b) BITEERFHUITES

directors
Salaries, Equity-
allowances, Performance- settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
¥ RMR ERRAN LNBREEN  BASHY
k7 BNEA Wi BRERX 5% b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERL TERL TERT THET THET
2012 20126
Executive directors: BITES:
Cheng Chung Hing A - 5,800 9,322 - 12 15,134
Leung Moon Lam AT - 5,800 9,322 - 12 15,134
Xu Yang &5 - 1,600 345 3,468 - 5413
- 13,200 18,989 3,468 24 35,681
Non-executive directors: FRITES:
Ma Kai Cheung ENE 1,000 - - - - 1,000
Sun Kai Lit Cliff HRIZ 600 - - - - 600
Ma Wai Mo SR 600 - - - - 600
Cheng Tai Po Ll 600 - - - - 600
2,800 - - - - 2,800
2,800 13,200 18,989 3,468 24 38,481
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B RS R R MI AT (4B)
8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEH®H
(b) Executive directors and non-executive (b) BITEERIIHITEE ()

directors (Continued)

Salaries, Equity-
allowances,  Performance-  settled share Pension
and benefits related option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total
Fo RMR  ERBEY DEREEN  BReHE
we ENER ML BRERY 5K &t

HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THT THT TR T AT THT

2011 201ME
Executive directors: WIEE:
Cheng Chung Hing ENE - 3,900 5,632 - 12 9,544
Leung Moon Lam Y - 3,900 5,632 - 12 9,544
Xu Yang i - 1,600 835 - - 2,435
- 9,400 12,099 - 24 21,523
Non-executive directors: FHES:
Ma Kai Cheung 5NE 1,000 = = = = 1,000
Sun Kai Lit Cliff sl 600 = = = - 600
Ma Wai Mo SRR 600 - - - - 600
Cheng Tai Po BRH 552 - - - = 552
2752 - - - - 2752
2,152 9,400 12,099 - 24 24,275
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or FR - BREEHEXRERENEHZE
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2011: Nil). PEQO11M4F : £8]) o
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B M Rk AT (4E)
9. Five Highest Paid Employees 9. HfUERSHAL
The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2011: FR - AlsEeFEEDHIBE=2EE(201
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 F:=4) HMeEHN EXWES8 - Hirm
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2011: two) ZIBEZEQONE : ML) FARSHEESF
non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows: SHFIBWOT ¢
For the year ended 31 March
HZE3A31MALEE
Group
rEH
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e SRR REYER 6,024 5,480
Bonuses 1EAL - 7,450
Equity-settled share option expense AR A E O BE RS AE 7 2 14,400 -
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFT IR 24 24
20,448 12,954
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose NFUTHENFESHEFTEEFAHN
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: TS ¢
Number of employees
EEAH
2012 2011
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7C%2,500,000/8 7T - 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7C 25,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000 10,500,001,87c2 11,000,000 7T - 1
HK$15,500,001 to HK$16,000,000 15,500,001,87C 2 16,000,00078 7T 1 =
2 2
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10.

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

Five Highest Paid Employees (Continued)

During the year, share options were granted to non-director, highest
paid employees in respect of their services to the Group, further
details of which are included in the disclosure in note 34 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has been
recognised in the income statement over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the above
non-director, highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

Income Tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2011:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
made as the Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year (2011: Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China are calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the provinces in which the Group operates.

During the 5th session of the 10th National People’s Congress,
which was concluded on 16 March 2007, the PRC Corporate Income
Tax Law was approved. It became effective on 1 January 2008. The
PRC Corporate Income Tax Law introduces a wide range of changes
which include, but are not limited to, the unification of income tax
rates for domestic-invested and foreign-invested enterprises at 25%.
Accordingly, the corporate income tax (“CIT”) as at 31 March 2012
and 2011 have been provided at the enacted corporate tax rates.

Subsidiaries of the Group operated in Shenzhen, Mainland China,
had enjoyed preferential CIT rate granted for foreign investment
enterprise established before March 16, 2007. The preferential tax
rate was gradually transited to the unified tax rate of 25% over a
five-year transitional period. Hence, the applicable CIT tax rates for
the subsidiaries in Shenzhen were 25% and 24% for the year ended
31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

10. Income Tax (Continued)

The PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT") is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value,
being the proceeds from the sale of properties less deductible
expenditures including amortisation of land use rights, borrowing
costs and all property development expenditures. Amounts of LAT
of HK$403,171,000 and HK$284,174,000 were charged to the
consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 March 2012

and 2011, respectively.

The major components of income tax expense for the year are as

10. FrEHi (@)

TR E (BN EE TS RIER B 15 L E A
S - (EERA R A EERASEANA
MRS TS S5 ) B130% 260% N EH R i
TR B B E R ([ L HIEER ) - B
403,171,000 7T 5 284,174,000/ 7t #) £ b 18
B - EPRIEHZE2012F %2011F3A31H
LEFERERA R AR -

FA - AEHAXEIZEIOT

follows:
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A31HLLEE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
Group: FTER FET
Current — Mainland China BIEA — rp B fe 569,597 221,824
LAT in Mainland China AP B A e - 3 (E R 403,171 284,174
Deferred Mainland China corporate income tax IRIE R B RRE ZEFATISH
(note 32) 285,185 402,660
Total tax charge for the year FERIAS M R%E 1,257,953 908,658
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

10. Income Tax (Continued)

11.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at
the statutory rate to the tax expense at the Group's effective income
tax rate is as follows:

10. Fii8Hi ()

ROATE B R AT L AR AT AR B9 15 18 5 2 LR
REBAFEERNEAEHNTIRR RN
T

For the year ended 31 March

BZ3B31HILLEE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Profit before tax R 3,305,515 2,452,776
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% 216.5% EEMEHENTIE 545,410 404,708
Higher tax rates enacted by local authorities b5 HE R I E B e B R 317,329 185,503
Income not subject to tax BAFRKA (472) (6,106)
Expenses not deductible for tax GIE b3 9,546 3,006
Tax losses utilised from previous years BABEFENTIBEE (19,745) (9,054)
Profit attributable to jointly-controlled entities HEZEGIEE RS AT
and associates FEASAIE (421) (336)
Tax losses not recognised RIERTIEE B 11,052 20,565
LAT TR ER 403,171 284,174
Tax effect of LAT TR ET TS E (100,793) (68,721)
Effect of change in tax rate HEEHTE (713) 13,838
Withholding tax effect BT E 93,589 81,081
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate BAEBERRERTENFRES L 1,257,953 908,658

The share of tax attributable to associates and jointly-controlled
entities amounting to nil (2011: nil) and HK$79,000 (2011:
HK$64,000), respectively, is included in “Share of profits and losses
of a jointly-controlled entity and associates” in the consolidated

income statement.

ENR R AR EEEGHRESNAZ
(20114 : &) }.79,0007 7t (20114F : 64,000

AIL) » Wat ASRE Was R A0 e MG — R AKRIEH
EREBERRNBERERIA

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent for the
year ended 31 March 2012 includes a loss of HK$62,478,000 (loss
for the year ended 31 March 2011: HK$41,886,000) which has been
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note 35(b)).
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12.

13.

Dividends

12.

IR

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MALEE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Proposed final dividends — HK7.5 cents per ordinary 2z 7k B B — &A% T 3@A% 7. 5781
share (2011: HK2.5 cents) (20114 : 2.531) 449,067 149,689

The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
Company'’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary
Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit for
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 5,987,564,000
(2011: 5,982,908,219) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in
the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all potentially
dilutive ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

13.

BRI B AR ARARRNEERRBEX
SHOER - AR -

FERABAREERERFEEAZS
Bt 2 A
EREAENDBESQREBERERSZTE A
FEAG & A FIE & F A B 817 5,987,564,000 %
(20114F : 5,982,908,2190% ) & 38 A% B0 A HEF 15
HEtE o

SREIRFIRESA R LBRIESEAAR
fEEPFIBEE - SHEM AN T BB IETHH
TR E SR EARFIFRNENERTEBR
BB - AT ERAR BB TR (T
B BB HE I ) BB I R AR A
R
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

13. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary

Equity Holders of the Parent (Continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based

13. BERBAREERERREAZE

BREBF ()
FREA RIS RFINTEHER

on:
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3B31HILLEE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Earnings 2R
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of BRETEERERREF Z &R A
the parent, used in the basic earnings per share TR A AEMGFE
calculation 2,070,708 1,552,455
Number of shares
R
2012 2011
Shares ;i

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year used in the basic
earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of
ordinary shares:
Share options

AR EEREARRHZ ER
B BT B AR A T8

2 WRRIE
T8
BRI

5,987,564,000 5,982,908,219

13,482,984 33,361,963

6,001,046,984 6,016,270,182
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

14. Y% - BERZRE

Group K&
Furniture,
fixtures
Hotel and Motor
Buildings properties  equipment vehicles Total
B
£ EENE  HERRRE RE b
31 March 2012 201253431R HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR TAR Thx
At 1 April 2011: R2011F4R18 :
Cost AR 166,272 121,395 59,284 27,284 374,235
Accumulated depreciation BEiNE (56,931) (67,810) (36,507) (8,868) (170,116)
Net carrying amount REFE 109,341 53,585 2,111 18,416 204,119
At 1 April 2011, net of accumulated depreciation  72011F4A18 @ EHB2HE 109,341 53,585 22,777 18,416 204,119
Additions NE - - 5822 5451 11,273
Disposals it - - (172) (192) (364)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) HE-FHBARMH36) - - (1,798) (1,252) (3,050)
Depreciation provided during the year (note 6) B EEE(H1:76) (7,199) (3.614) (7,259) (5,633) (23,705)
Exchange realignment A% 4,152 2,035 853 647 7,687
At 31 March 2012, net of accumulated M201263A318 ' BB R4
depreciation bl 106,294 52,006 20,223 17,431 195,960
At 31 March 2012: #201243A318 :
Cost A 172,585 126,801 64,553 31,119 395,058
Accumulated depreciation REITE (66,291) (74,795) (44,330) (13,682) (199,098)
Net carrying amount REFE 106,294 52,006 20,223 17437 195,960
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

14. Y% - BERSKE®)

Group (Continued) TEE )
Furniture,
fixtures
Hotel and Motor
Buildings properties equipment vehicles Total
FRif -
¥ EENE  RERGB e @t
31 March 2011 2011534318 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT TAT THT THT
At 1 April 2010: R201064R18 :
Cost AR 110,314 115,023 51,715 13,134 290,186
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (42,766) (54,416) (29,682) (5,638) (132,502)
Net carrying amount REFE 67,548 60,607 22,033 7,49 157,684
At 1 April 2010, net of accumulated depreciation 78201064818 » EHB 25t E 67,548 60,607 22,033 7,49 157,684
Additions NE 154 359 6,619 15,285 22417
Transfer from properties under development BRERERYE
(note 16) (Hit16) 56,525 - - - 56,525
Disposals e (3,255) - (183) (341) (3,779)
Depreciation provided during the year (note 6)  FEHEREHH6) (14,619) (10,061) (6,637) (4,321) (35,638)
Exchange realignment A% 2,988 2,680 945 297 6,910
At 31 March 2011, net of accumulated W201E3A318 « EHR 24
depreciation e 109,341 53,585 2,777 18,416 204,119
At31 March 2011; R2011E3 /318 -
Cost A 166,272 121,395 59,284 27,284 374,235
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE (56,931) (67,810) (36,507) (8,868) (170,116)
Net carrying amount FaFE 109,341 53,585 22,777 18,416 204,119
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

15.

Group (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s buildings and hotel properties with
aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$42,002,000 and
HK$42,017,000 as at 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively, were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group

(note 30).

At 31 March 2012, certificates of ownership in respect of certain
buildings of the Group in the PRC with an aggregate net book value
of HK$3,426,000 (2011: HK$3,428,000) had not been issued by the
relevant PRC authorities. The Group is in the process of obtaining

the relevant certificates of ownership.

14. Y% - BERSKE®)
AEE(®)

R2012FE K20114E3 8310 A"EEE@mAE
53 5114342,002,0007% 7T % 42,017,000/ LA %= T
EFBEYEERREALEBER —RIRIT

B RO IR (HTRE30) o

#20129F3A31H » AEBERFREEFES X
3,426,000 7T (20114F : 3,428,000 7T ) K9 &
TFRERBHIREBEZR L AAREE - AEE

EHEEBRR A HEE

Investment Properties 15. REWE
Group NEH
2012 2011
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
st THERT FET
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHIREREE 11,285,288 9,077,250
Additions =T 71,135 -
Transfer from properties under development ### [ 3% E R ¥ % 16 572,213 312,388
Transfer from properties held for sale ERARFEREDE 146,637 =
Net gain from a fair value adjustment N EFHEF R 5 1,117,696 1,464,168
Exchange realignment PE 54, 3% 444,138 431,482
Carrying amount at end of year FREAREE 13,637,107 11,285,288

The above investment properties are held under medium term leases

and are situated in Mainland China.

PR EYE T REERE - WANFER

B o
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15. Investment Properties (Continued)

Group (Continued)

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 March
2012 and 2011 by Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited (“Savills”), independent professionally qualified valuers,
at RMB11,061,000,000 and RMB9,501,000,000, respectively,
(equivalent to HK$13,637,107,000 and HK$11,285,288,000,
respectively) on an open market, existing use basis. The investment
properties are leased to third parties under operating leases, further
summary details of which are included in note 39(a) to the financial
statements.

The Group's investment properties with aggregate carrying values of
approximately HK$8,595,019,000 and HK$9,172,434,000 as at 31
March 2012 and 2011, respectively, were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30).

The Group's investment properties with aggregate carrying values of
approximately HK$13,637,107,000 and HK$11,285,288,000 as at
31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively, are restricted for sale (note
19(vii) (viii)).
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AEE )
BUBELSERGEME-—AFEENGHER
SXEMARAT(FE—KFRA])R2012
FR20MFIANBEHFAERNREME -
RARAMBSREERAEEENEEDAARE
11,061,000,0007T & A R #9,501,000,0007T (5
BIFAZ13,637,107,00078 7T 52 11,285,288,000
BIL) c RWEAYERCERERTE=F  #—
FH B E NI SR EMEE39() °

R2012F M2011F3A31H  AEBE@AE
%3 711#78,595,019,0007%8 7T %.9,172,434,0007 7T
RIREMECEIMEAAREBER —RIBITHE
RIPELR (FI5E30) ©

R2012FE K20114F3A31H » "EBRE#E
2 R1%713,637,107,00078 7T }.11,285,288,000/8
TORIIEE W3 2 B S BR 1 (BEE 19(vii) (viil)) e
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B iR MY =T (&)
16. Properties Under Development 16. BEHDYE
Group REE
2012 2011
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mzt FTHET FET
Carrying amount at beginning of year FYIREEEE 3,403,663 1,978,789
Additions NE 9,235,468 2,284,603
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWEAF 36 (321,633) =
Transfer to property, plant and equipment BB Z=Y)ZE « BE MR 14 - (56,525)
Transfer to investment properties [ e 2 L 15 (572,213) (312,388)
Transfer to properties held for sale and BRI EHEMER
held for finance lease HERERE (8,996,307) (577,881)
Exchange realignment PE 5, A% 129,025 87,065
Carrying amount at end of year FRAREE 2,878,003 3,403,663
The above properties under development are held under medium LR EEPREERS - LR PEA
term leases and are situated in Mainland China. BE o
Certain of the Group's properties under development with R2012F K20114F3A31H  AREEEAE
aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$115,060,000 and 53 B1#3115,060,0007%8 7T £ 121,395,000 LK)
HK$121,395,000 and as at 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively, ETERTYRCIEFERARBRER —RIRT
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the BE MR (FIEE30) ©

Group (note 30).
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17. Prepaid Land Premiums

17. AT HES

Group REE
2012 2011
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Mzt FTHET FET
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHREEEE 7,207 7,082
Recognised during the year FRER 6 (187) (180)
Exchange realignment B i, B 283 305
Carrying amount at end of year FIRAREE 7,303 7,207
Current portion included in prepayments, STAENRE - e hEM
deposits and other receivables FEUFRIE /Y BN AR RS > (187) (171)
Non-current portion JEBNHERER 7,116 7,036

The leasehold land is held under a medium term lease and is situated

in Mainland China.

Certain of the Group’s leasehold lands with aggregate carrying
values of approximately HK$2,530,000 and HK$2,496,000 as at 31
March 2012 and 2011, respectively, were pledged to secure general

banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30).
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18. Goodwill 18. &
Group rEH HK$'000
FAT

At 31 March 2012 and 2011: R20124 2011434318 :

Cost and net carrying amount AN % BR R 58 20,066
Impairment testing of goodwill EERERH
Goodwill acquired through a business combination has been BREFSHRBNNED SERBEEENER
allocated to the hotel operation cash-generating unit for impairment SEFBMIERER BEEENRESEELS
testing. The recoverable amount of the hotel operation cash- IR ATULEl S RE TR R S AE 12 B #E A ) L F
generating unit is determined based on a value-in-use calculation MBEENReRERAFENEREBRETE -
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by REREBARBOITIRER12% (20114 :
senior management covering a five-year period. The discount rate 12%) » FALAMEEDA L 2 BN A FHMERER
applied to the cash flow projection is 12% (2011: 12%). The growth EMBRETIREA3%(2011F : 3%) o F£4
rates used to extrapolate the cash flows of the hotel operation BETERRERERMEREMANEZR/RR
beyond the five-year period is assumed to be 3% (2011: 3%). The ZRAED 2 NIMEEREETE -

key assumptions adopted on growth rates and discount rate used
in the value-in-use calculation are determined by considering both
internal and external factors relating to the relevant segment.

Annual Report 2011/12 £f

141



142

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

19. Investments in Subsidiaries

19. RIB A RIMKRE

Company PN/
2012 2011
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Unlisted investments, at cost FEEHERE - KA 2,201,275 1,501,275
Loan to a subsidiary m—XHBARIER 752,400 752,400
Due from subsidiaries FEU M B A R R IE 2,250,736 968,195
Due to subsidiaries JE B B A B FUE (899) (899)
5,203,512 3,220,971

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in the Company’s
current assets and current liabilities of HK$2,250,736,000 (2011:
HK$968,195,000) and HK$899,000 (2011: HK$899,000) are
unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand or within one

year.

The loan to a subsidiary bears fixed interest of 8%, and is unsecured
and repayable from 2012 to 2015. The carrying amount of the loan

to a subsidiary approximates to its fair value.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

19. RMIB DA RNEKRE®)

19. Investments in Subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: B ARFEBWT
Nominal value of
Place of issued ordinary/
incorporation/ registered share  Date of Percentage of equity
registration and capital asat  incorporation/ attributable to the
Name operations 31March 2012 registration Company Principal activities
£1 ARAL/ AR R01253A31R  RMAL/ ARAEEE  IEEE
mghy BRTEE/ZR  ZREH BERAML
RAHEE
Direct  Indirect
EE BB
% %

China South International Industrial Materials City PRC/Mainland China HK$2,200,000,000 18 December 2002 100 - Development and management of
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (i) (vi) (vi) wE/REARE 2,00,000,000/7C 18-12-2002 integrated logistics trade centres

EEEBTERRA ORI ER D) i) (vi) REBEMRRERRARL

FRLEE

Shenzhen First Asia Pacific Property Management PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 31 December 2003 25 75 Provision of property management
Co,, Ltd. (i) v) 8/ hE AR ARH5,0000007T 31-12-2003 services

MIE-SANFERERAA) W) REMEERRY

Shenzhen International Electronics Procurement PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 6 November 2003 - 95 Dormant
Centre Co., Ltd. i) () /B AR ABRH20,0000007T 06-11-2003 TaLy
RYBEEFFEREROARA ) (vi)

Shenzhen China South City Investment Holdings PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 20 July 2004 - 100 Investment holding
Co., Ltd. (i) (v hE/HEAE AK®300,000,0007T 20-07-2004 REER

YRR B IR EIR 2 &)

Shenzhen China South City Advertising PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000 20 July 2004 - 100 Provision of advertising services
Co, Ltd. i) (v VAN ABRH1,500,0007T 20-07-2004 RUELRIS
RMERIEEER A M)

Shenzhen China South International Convention and PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 10 February 2006 - 100 Provision of exhibition services
Exhibition Centre Co., Ltd. (i) (v /B KR AR%2,0000007T 10-02-2006 BHEERE

RmERFERLRRLER A M)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

19. RIMIB D RINEKRE®)

19. Investments in Subsidiaries (Continued)

Nominal value of

Place of issued ordinary/
incorporation/ registered share  Date of Percentage of equity
registration and capital asat incorporation/  attributable to the
Name operations 31March 2012 registration Company Principal activities
&1 HARAL/ ARE R201253A31  #ARL/ ARREELE  TEER
fens BRAEE/HR  HRAS BREEAN
RAHEE
Direct  Indirect
B BE
% %
Harbin China South City Company Limited (i) (iv) (i)~ PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 10 February 2012 - 100 Development and management of
REEEEHAR LA (v) (vii) e/ PEARE AR1200,000,0007  10-02-2012 integrated logistics trade centres
FEBEMRRERZZTL
e
Grand City Hotel (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (i) (vi) PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 16 June 2005 - 100 Hotel operations
SBAEE(RIDBRLA) W) /B AR AR40,000,0007T  16-06-2005 BEEE
Grand City Hotel Investment Limited (v) Hong Kong HK$10,000 9 April 2005 100 - Investment holding
ERBEREBRAAN Bk 10,000%7T 09-04-2005 REER
Nanchang China South City Company Limited (i) (vi) (vii) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,100,000,000 16 November 2007 - 100 Development and management of
BEZRIMERAE) (i) (vii) e/ R AR AR 16-11-2007 integrated logistics trade centres
1,100,000,00070 FRAEMRRARR ST
FRREE
Zhuji Pan-Asia Property Management Enterprise Ltd. (i) (vi) PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 8 November 2007 = 80 Dormant
HEZEMEERARRD i) () e/ HERE AR500,0007 08-11-2007 TELy
Tieling First Asia Pacific Property Management PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 26 December 2007 - 100 Dormant
o, Ltd. i) i) /B KB ARH500,0007 26-12-2007 LSS
HEE-SAMFERERA (i)
China Central City (BVI) Limited (v) British Virgin Islands US$1 23 October 2007 100 - Investment holding
ZRGEEVERAEN) ABRLES %1 23-10-2007 REER
ASEAN City (BVI) Limited (v) British Virgin Islands US$1 23 October 2007 100 - Investment holding
REHBVIERAT) EBRLES 1ET 23102007 RERR

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HIZRGR A 7



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

19. Investments in Subsidiaries (Continued)

19. RIMIB D RINEKRE®)

Nominal value of

Place of issued ordinary/
incorporation/ registered share  Date of Percentage of equity
registration and capital asat  incorporation/ attributable to the
Name operations 31March 2012 registration Company Principal activities
28 AL/ R R2012638318  #MAL/ ARAEE TEER
TeEwy BRTLE/ZR  ZREH E&EAL
BAEE
Direct  Indirect
EE BB
% %
China Central City (Hong Kong) Limited (v) Hong Kong HK$1 9 November 2007 - 100 Dormant
£ (B8 BRAAN) B 1T 09-11-2007 R
China South City Management Company Limited (v) Hong Kong HK$1 9 November 2007 - 100 Dormant
ERERARARN) &h 1AL 09-11-2007 Rl 3
Nanning China South City Company Limited (ii) (v (viii) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 28 August 2009 - 100 Development and management of
FEERE R A (v) (vi) e/ PEARE AE150,000,00077  28-08-2009 integrated logistics trade centres
GRBEMRRERR ST L
HEREE
Xi'an China South City Company Limited (i) (vi) (vii) PRC/Mainland China 1S$30,000,000 12 November 2009 - 65 Development and management of
BZERH AR DA Vi) (vii) W/ AEE 30,000,00057 12-11-2009 integrated logstics trade centres
GATEMERERR AT
REREE
Andarton Investments Limited (v) British Virgin Islands US$1 23 November 2009 - 100 Investment holding
RERRES 1% 23-11-2009 REER
Grow Rich Holdings Limited (v) British Virgin Islands US$T 16 October 2009 100 - Investment holding
RBRAHE 1% 16-10-2009 REER
RERHEERR LA (i) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 17 March 2011 = 100 Dormant
hE /eI 20,000,007 17-03-2011 LEEg
R ERRE AR AR (Vi) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 19 Novernber 2010 = 100 Management of integrated logistics
hE/HEAR ARIE10,000,0007T 19-11-2010 trade centres
GRBEMRRERRAPLEE
HERBELESERAR AR (V) PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 15 March 2012 = 100 Management of integrated logistics
hE/REIAR AE5,000,0007 15-03-2012 trade centres

RABEMARARR ST LEE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

19. Investments in Subsidiaries (Continued)
Notes:

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law.
A wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.
Limited companies under PRC law.

No audited financial statements have been prepared for these
companies as they were newly incorporated/registered and had
not conducted any business since the dates of their incorporation/
registration.

No audited financial statements have been issued for these companies
up to the date of the financial statements of the Group.

The statutory financial statements of these companies for the year
ended 31 December 2011 were prepared in accordance with PRC
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“PRC GAAP”), and were
audited by Shenzhen Yida Certified Public Accountants Co. Ltd, Jiangxi
Zhongrun United Certified Public Accountants’ Firm, Xi‘an Yongming
Certified Public Accountants Ltd, and Guangxi Zhongzhongyi Certified
Public Accountants Co. Ltd, which are registered in the PRC.

Pursuant to several land grant contracts entered by China South
International Industrial Materials City (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., the saleable
gross floor area of properties built on these parcels of land is limited to
30% of the total gross floor area that can be built. The Group holds
and constructs the properties with sales restrictions for leasing and self
use.

Pursuant to the land grant contracts entered by Nanchang China South
City Company Limited and Nanning China South City Company Limited
in 2009, respectively, the saleable gross floor area of trade centres and
storage facilities built on these parcels of land are limited to 60% of
the total buildable gross floor area. This restriction does not apply to
the properties that are built for residential, commercial and other uses,
also does not apply for the land obtained by Nanchang China South
City Company Limited and Xi'an China South City Company Limited
in 2011, nor the land acquired by Harbin China South City Company
Limited in June 2012.

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HIZRGR A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

20. Investments in Jointly-Controlled Entities

20. RAREFIERHNIRE

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET BT

Share of net assets EiE&EEFE 8,048 6,291
Due from jointly-controlled entities FEU L RlE 1 B B B 1,208 11,479
9,256 17,770
Provision for impairment (6,406) (6,664)
2,850 11,106

The amounts due from the jointly-controlled entities included in the
investments in jointly-controlled entities above are unsecured, have
no fixed terms of repayment and bear interest at 7%. The carrying
amounts of these amounts due from jointly-controlled entities

approximate to their fair values.

AL S FEHE I B R 1 U R I B
BIFORAREER  BEEETHMIRT %L -
ZE W ARG ERRANRE(EEE A TE
EE=I
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

20. Investments in Jointly-Controlled Entities
(Continued)
Particulars of the jointly-controlled entities are as follows:

20. AEREZEFHIERBNKRE @)

HKFEHEHIERBFBOT

Nominal value of

issued and fully Percentage of
Place of paid-up registered  Date of equity attributable to
registration and capital asat  incorporation/ the Group
Name operations 31March 2012 registration asat31March  Principal activities
R2012538318
R BRARMRER  HMEL/ W3A31AALE
£R Eeny EXEE HMAH EiEERS L TEER
2012 2011
% %
China South National Express Logistics (Shenzhen) PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 2 July 2004 51 51 Provision of logistics services
Co, Ltd* 8/ hE AR AR%3,00000070 02-07-2004 AR
MImEEIRE SR ARAT
China South Royal Restaurant (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd# ()~ PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 16 June 2005 50.5 50.5 Restaurant operations
FHERBERI)ERAFN) i,/ PEAR ABH5,000,0007T  16-06-2005 HEEE
Notes: Hfat
# The Group holds 51% and 50.5% of the registered capital of China “ REE S RIFARITERRTREWREARA
South National Express Logistics (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and China AINRERESEECFRY)ERAFFMEARD
South Royal Restaurant (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., respectively. Pursuant 51% K% 50.5% ° 18 5 3% B 17 2 18 = 8% & AL R
to memorandums of the shareholders’ agreements and articles of FIEBALERMA - F—HEHZFERZES
association of the jointly-controlled entities, none of the parties has ERRAEE R RR Y B 5 T $ sk — XA
unilateral control or unanimous consent over the operating and BERER - Et - EERA - BESKAEERE
financing decisions of these jointly-controlled entities. Accordingly, the S ARSI AR LR E ez IEE
directors consider it appropriate to continue to account for the Group’s =4
interests therein as investments in jointly-controlled entities.
(i) Sino-foreign equity joint venture. @ RIMEEEENT

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A 7



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

20. Investments in Jointly-Controlled Entities 20. RFEE4IEENIRE @)

(Continued)

The Company holds the jointly-controlled entities indirectly. The
jointly-controlled entities have financial years ended 31 December.
The consolidated financial statements are adjusted for the material
transactions between the jointly-controlled entities and group
companies between 1 January and 31 March.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
of the Group's jointly-controlled entities:

RNATEEREE XEEFIEE - XRIEHEELN
MIREEDEHE12A3181F - RAHBHREIH®
1A1BE3A3 1B AT EEEERKE
RRIZENEARSIELFHE -

TRFAREE LR BROMBEEE

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Share of jointly-controlled entities’ assets and FE(RHRIEH TR EE
liabilities: REfE
Current assets MENEE 8,509 6,175
Non-current assets FEMBENE EE 740 214
Current liabilities mEBE (1,201) (98)
Net assets BEFE 8,048 6,291
Share of jointly-controlled entities’ results: FE(L LRI S R SEAR -
Revenue WA 4,626 4,055
Expenses 53 (3,129) (2,718)
Profit for the year REZFH 1,497 1,337

Annual Report 2011/12 F3k

149



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BTSRRI EE (1)
21. Investments in Associates 21. R QA TNIRE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Share of net assets BIEEEFE 1,563 1,807
Due to associates AL AN E R (3,094) (2,984)
(1,531) (1,177)

The amounts due to associates included in investments in associates
above are unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed repayment

A LB R B IR A H B (B R B F0R
REER - 28 RERETEERDY

terms.
Particulars of the associates are as follows: B A RFIBAT
Nominal value of Percentage of equity
Place of issued and fully  Date of attributable
registration and or partly paid-up  incorporation/ to the Group
Name operations registered capital  registration asat31March  Principal activities
W3A318
BRARARATR EMAL/ REEEL
£R ERREEE AREMEREE ERAS BREAM  TEER
2012 2011
% %
China South Intimex Technology (Shenzhen) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 18 January 2004 30 30 Website development and construction,
Co, Ltd. () i) VNS AE#10,0000007T  18-01-2004 maintenance and development of
EERERRBIDERLE) () software, provision of consultancy
services and trading of e-commerce
hardware and software
MiERRER BAEERRE R
HERRERETEERRENE
7
China South City Pico Exhibition (Shenzhen) PRC/Mainland China HK$2,000,000 13 October 2009 30 30 Provision of exhibition services
Co., Ltd. ) i /B 2,000,000%7  13-10-2009 RERERE

AEBRER ERBRAA) ()
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

iy ST EL L6 D)
21. Investments in Associates (Continued)

22.

23.

Notes:
(i) Sino-foreign equity joint venture under PRC law.

(i) The Company holds the associates indirectly.

The associates have financial years ended 31 December. The
consolidated financial statements are adjusted for the material
transactions between the associates and group companies between
1 January and 31 March.

The associates have been accounted for using the equity method in
these financial statements.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
of the Group's associates:

21.

REE QN TNRE @)
Hiat -

() FEERTHFRIGELERT -
(i) AAREEEEHLE AT

VCPN

BE AR BEENEZE12A3181E © &4
BEHmEAM1A1BE3A31 B E AT HE
EE AR ZEMERAR S EL A -

B2 R R THAREEDERN I FE I TERRALR

TRITHESEAEERE R RN EERGE :

2012 2011

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Assets BE 8,089 8,795

Liabilities =VE 2,880 2,772

Revenue N 75 75

Loss 518 (1,056) (1,103)
Finance Lease Receivables 22. MEHEREKRRE

The balance represents entrusted loans provided by the Group to
lessees through Shanghai Pudong Development Bank in connection
with the finance lease of its properties. The finance lease receivables,
which bear interest at a rate between 6.336% to 6.435% per
annum, are repayable by monthly instalments within 10 years. The
carrying amounts of the finance lease receivables approximate to
their fair values. The amounts of the current portion of the finance
lease receivables of HK$8,109,000 and HK$7,409,000 were included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables as at 31 March 2012
and 2011, respectively.

Deposits Paid for Purchase of Land

The balance represents deposits paid for acquisitions of parcels of
land in Mainland China. The carrying amounts of the deposits paid
for purchase of land approximate to their fair values.

23.

EREASBREMENRMERS - BB L8R
RERIBITOABARENETER - iEHE
JEU R IE I EF RN F6.336% £6.435%:T 2.
WHEARI0FRNT AN HEE - mEHSEUK
HRREEEE A EERSE o R2012F %2011
F3A31H  BERERKITENASHTD S5
2 548,109,000/ 7T &% 7,409,000/ 7T © 25T A
T IE « e REAL YR -

BELHXANNES
R AR KB RE N RS - BEL
RS MERERLATERE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B iR M =T (&)
24. Properties held for sale 24. HEHEME
2012 2011
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET BT
Completed properties held for sale BHEHER I ME 2,126,269 482,607
Properties under development expected to TEHAR I E 2B A A
complete within normal operating cycle WITRZERERE 5,636,286 -
7,762,555 482,607

25.

Certain of the Group’s completed properties held for sale with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$100,476,000 (2011: Nil) at the end
of the reporting period were pledged to secure the banking loans
granted to the Group (note 30).

RIEEBHRE - BREMES ££100,476,0007%8 7T
(20114 - B|MIWAEEE TIHEHER T
EEFEAREBERRITERMER(KE
30) °

Trade Receivables . EIE ZBRA
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade receivables eI E SRR 590,459 652,401
Impairment NERIE] (64,829) (62,458)
525,630 589,943

Trade receivables represent sales income, rentals receivable and
service income receivables from customers which are payable
on presentation of invoices or in accordance with the terms of
the related sales and purchase agreements. The Group generally
allows a credit period of not exceeding 60 days to its customers.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In
view of this and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate
to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. The carrying amounts of
the trade receivables approximate to their fair values.

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HIZRGR A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

25. Trade Receivables (Continued)
An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, net of provision, is as follows:

25. EWE SRR (%)

REEHIRE - RUE 5 MR TR R B R ARk
DI

2012 2011

HK$°000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Within 1 month REEIPNA 415,754 403,419
1 to 2 months 12218 A 17,072 29,310
2 to 3 months 2%E318AR 43,530 49,835
Over 3 months #31E A 49,274 107,379
525,630 589,943

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are as
follows:

FEWE 5 R RHREREZEFMT

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FHT

Carrying amount at beginning of year REVNREE 62,458 25,512
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) ERERBIEEE (A7) - 34,959
Exchange realignment P b R 2,371 1,987
Carrying amount at end of year RELRREE 64,829 62,458

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

BRI A TR AR EH EYKE SR KRR
BT

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FHTT

Neither past due nor impaired A H R ARE 400,297 71,363
Less than 1 month past due BEA LR E A 15,457 332,056
1 to 3 months past due wEITE3M[@A 60,602 79,145
476,356 482,564

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired and past due
but not impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers
for whom there was no recent history of default. The Group has
retained the legal ownership of the property sold to the purchasers
for debtor balances.

RN MORRE A K B B EME SRR E B FEMGRIR
HAETREFAR - WEFRIOWEARKCE -
AEEERBRFIREHREE TETNMEN
EEHARE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

26. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables 26. ARIE ~ ReRHEMERFRIE

Group REE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET
Prepayments SEUNE /O] 29,068 6,839
Receivables for disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) HEH B A RH) B YR IE
(Hfat36) 757,020 =
Deposits and other receivables = R H At I RRIA 80,718 27,166
866,806 34,005
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial Lt EEWESHSRE o R AR A BRI RS
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which B ERIANW R FREE 8 ©

there was no recent history of default.

27. Held for Trading Investments at Fair Value 27. ZBEZEUATFENRZIZEEE

Through Profit Or Loss BE
Group REE
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Listed investment funds at market value EMEEN ETIRERES 111,986 153,065
The above listed investment funds at 31 March 2012 and 2011 were MR2012F 2011638318 » it ETRER
classified as held for trading upon initial recognition, designated by SYTHARSERFEER - BRUERES
the Group as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss since FERNEHNHEESEE - WASEREEE
they were acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling REREEA RN AR BEEE

or repurchasing in the near term.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

28. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash  28. 4 RESZEYRSREES

Group REE
2012 2011
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
KiaE FExT FAET
Cash and bank balances IR MIRTTAE R 3,831,987 4,564,491
Less: Restricted cash B ZRBIEE * (516,330) (43,181)
Cash and cash equivalents e MREEEY 3,315,657 4,521,310
Company RKAE]
2012 2011
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cash and cash equivalents BERESEED 477,387 2,342,869

* Restricted cash mainly comprises (i) guaranteed deposits for the
mortgage loan facilities granted by the banks to purchasers of the
Group's properties; (i) guaranteed funds of construction projects
to meet local authorities’ requirements; (iii) certain amount of pre-
sale proceeds of properties to place as guaranteed deposits for the
construction of related properties; and (iv) certain amount of proceeds
from leases of several properties which have been placed as guaranteed
deposits for the borrowings.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
HK$2,966,824,000 (2011: HK$2,822,949,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted cash
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

* XBHRESFTERRE  (\HEERAEEMEZE
RERITE THIRBERBENRIRS © (i)
RIEEMRER - AFEEHHEEANELK (i)
MEBENETHERESE  IMEABBEDE
EROREFRS  RWEEMENE T HHER
BRIEBELEUMEABENRERS

REEHR - AEBUARE(ARE ) BEMN
#IR& NI & HE¥2,966,824,0007%8 7T (2011
F :2,822,949,000/87C) - ARBWTNAIE AR
BREHMEY - A - REEH BRI INEE G
1601 R AERE - B REERTE - ANEE ] AFER
BHEEITINEXBHRITIEARB LR AEME
Vgg o

TFRRITIR S IRIEE B IRT1TIF A RIZZ B FIR
REFE - EHAERFERNFRBER - B—RK
EZEAATE  BFAKERNKHNESHFRLM
JE 0 TS BHZ R 852 B BT KR R ERER - 4R
TTREBREXBHRSHFRNEER T BTAY
BERRFLERIRTT -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BRI M (4D

29. Trade and Other Payables 29. ESREMEMNRE

Group REE
2012 2011
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Kzt FTHET FET
Other payables and accruals HAb R R IE R EETIE B 350,893 348,014
Deposits and receipts in advance E& RIEWFIA 3,462,501 144,212
Construction fee and retention payables ENHESERNRERES (i) 2,716,337 831,825
6,529,731 1,324,051

(i)  An aged analysis of the construction fee and retention payables
as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

0

RBERREREBRRRE SR FIEN
BRER DT

Eg;

2012 2011

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Within 1 year 1R 2,593,409 605,813
Over 1 year HBiE1F 122,928 226,012
2,716,337 831,825

The construction fee and retention payables are non-interest-
bearing and repayable within the normal operation cycle or on
demand.

The other payables are non-interest-bearing.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

30. FHERITREMEE

2012 2011
Effective Effective
interest rate interest
(%) rate (%)
ERF= Maturity HK$'000 ERME Maturity HK$'000
Group XEE (%) Ep- THRT (%) e THT
Current ENER
Bank loans — unsecured RITET — mIKH 6.56%-7.54% OnDemand/ 1,145,241 4.78%-6.06%  On Demand/ 381,284
EER,/ JEEsk,/
2012-2013 2011-2012
Bank loans - secured RITER-HER 6.89%-7.87%  2012-2013 498,092 - - -
Other borrowing - unsecured ~ E £ & — E L 6.65% On Demand/ 163,976 5.40%  On Demand/ 237,560
BER/ B,/
2012-2013 2011-2012
Current portion of long term ~ REMRIT R HEEH
bank and other borrowings: BNERERS
bank loans - unsecured RITEHR - BER 6.65%  2012-2013 73,974 540%-560%  2011-2012 264,484
bank loans - secured BITER—FHEA 6.12%-6.65% 2012-2013 686,384 5.15%-5.96% 2011-2012 741,798
Other borrowing — unsecured  E & & — 4% 6.65%  2012-2013 172,606 6.10%  2011-2012 71,268
2,740,273 1,696,394
Non-current JEENER
Bank loans - unsecured RITEH - BEMR 6.65%  2013-2014 258,909 5.40%-5.60%  2012-2013 225,682
Bank loans - secured RITEHR-HHEM 5.98%-6.90%  2013-2020 1,774,200 515%-596%  2012-2020 2,154,329
Other borrowing - unsecured ~ EfpfEE — E T H - - - 6.10%  2012-2013 166,292
2,033,109 2,546,303
4,773,382 4,242,697
Annual Report 2011/12 3 157



158

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings 30. 3t 2R{TREMEE &)

(Continued)
Group
rEH
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Analysed into: DITFN A
Bank loans and overdrafts repayable: AR T HEEENRITER R
BEX

Within one year or on demand —F R EENR 2,403,691 1,387,566
In the second year F_F 576,599 894,085

In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=EENF(BEEEMSE
ER) 985,912 829,001
Beyond five years hFE 470,598 656,925
4,436,800 3,767,577

Other borrowings repayable: ARUTHREENEMESR
Within one year or on demand —F R EER 336,582 308,828
In the second year FF - 166,292
336,582 475,120
4,773,382 4,242,697
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings
(Continued)
Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i)  Certain of the Group’s buildings and hotel properties with
aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$42,002,000
and HK$42,017,000 as at 31 March 2012 and 2011,
respectively (note 14);

(i) Certain of the Group’s investment properties situated
in Mainland China with aggregate carrying values of
approximately HK$8,595,019,000 and HK$9,172,434,000 as
at 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively (note 15);

(i) Certain of the Group’s properties under development
situated in Mainland China with aggregate carrying values of
approximately HK$115,060,000 and HK$121,395,000 as at 31
March 2012 and 2011, respectively (note 16);

(iv) Certain of the Group's leasehold land with aggregate carrying
values of approximately HK$2,530,000 and HK$2,496,000 as
at 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively (note 17); and

(v) Certain of the Group's properties held for sale with aggregate
carrying values of approximately HK$100,476,000 and nil as at
31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively (note 24).

All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings bear interest at
floating rates ranging from 5.98% to 7.87% per annum and are
denominated in RMB.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
approximate to their fair values, which have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows at the prevailing interest
rates.

30. sSTESRITREMEE &)

REEETRITERH TFIFIRER

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

R2012F K 2011F3 A31BEREAESD A
#942,002,0007% 7t & 42,017,000 7T &9 A<
EEETEFRBEWEHE14)

M2012F %201143A31BERARED 5!
#98,595,019,000 /% 7T % 9,172,434,000 %
TTRAEBM NP EAENS TREE
(F$3E15)

R20125E %2011 E3 A31 BEREAED 7
#9115,060,0005% 7T & 121,395,000/ 7T HY
AEBMAFRRENS TERADEG
516) ¢

R2012F %2011F3A31 BEEERESD R
#92,530,0007% 7T & 2,496,000 T H) A &£
BETHELM(HTF17) + &

R2012F K%20114F3 A31 BERERED R
#9100,476,00078 7T M TR AL BE THHE
SHE M (MIFE24) -

A BIRIT R EMEEREF598%%7.87%
TERFEFIRTE - WAARE BN -

AEEFRRITRAMEENRAERLAFE

GEE=I

=
(=}
Ean

THRIAH R IER S RE N E R M KRBT
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31. Senior Notes

On 14 January 2011, the Company issued senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$250,000,000 (“the Senior
Notes”). The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. The Senior Notes carry interest at the rate
of 13.5% per annum, payable semi-annually on January 14 and July
14 in arrears, and will mature on 14 January 2016, unless redeemed
earlier. The offering price was at 97.381% of the principal amount
of the Senior Notes.

At any time on or after 14 January 2014, the Company may redeem
the Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal
to the percentage of principal amount set forth below plus accrued
and unpaid interest to (but not including) the redemption date if
redeemed during the twelve month period beginning on 14 January
of each of the years indicated below:

Period Redemption price
2014 106.750%
2015 and thereafter 103.375%

At any time prior to 14 January 2014, the Company may at its option
redeem the Senior Notes, in whole but not in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes
plus the applicable premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, to (but not including) the redemption date.

At any time prior to 14 January 2014, the Company may redeem up
to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes with
the net cash proceeds of one or more sales of common stock of the
Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of 113.5%
of the principal amount of the Senior Notes, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date,
provided that at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the
Senior Notes originally issued remains outstanding after each such
redemption and any such redemption takes place within 60 days
after the closing of the related sale of the Company’s capital stock
and subject to certain conditions.
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31.

BERE

R201MFE1R148 ARABTALEH
250,000,000 T B EEE([EBERE]) - B
EEERF I BARBARAR LM » B
ZERFHERIZ5%E  BEFM A48 R
7R148 8B - WiER20169F1 5 148 £ &
(BRIERFED) - BEEBRELERERASEN
97.381% °

201451 148 sk 2 B AERERR - ANAF AR
HERTAASBEEOHNERE - SNEEE
EIHE(ETEEZA)MRFTERANHE - B
2R BAEEEZE(WR TXAREEEREA
148 AR 1218 B HARI B ) -

HR EEE
20144 106.750%
2015F K2 1% 103.375%

201451 A14B B - NARIAJIRESE
NEEEEALEEI00%MELE  SNEEE
B HH(ETEEZR)ELEZRMNERRENR
2R RANFE(NE) - BEEEMEIEBHEL

7201451 A14B BT - AR R 0] AR
PEERETT— R S R EARNA T L BARFTES
MESHEFE  REAZBERSHE113.5%H
BEOE SNHEELAHETEEZA)NER
SARAMFE(E)  BRRZELAZEASE
RHI35%  HEBANERBELZBERETAS
BERLVS%ENAER - BERAREERDA
RIEBARRBRAHEELEREORNETRTE
FRAE T -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31. BEEE @)

31. Senior Notes (Continued)

The Senior Notes contain a liability component and the above early
redemption options:

(i) Liability component represents the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that time
applicable to instruments of comparable credit status and
providing substantially the same cash flows, on the same
terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the period is calculated by applying
an effective interest rate of approximately 14.57% per annum
to the liability component of the Senior Notes since they were
issued.

(i)  Early redemption options are regarded as embedded derivatives
not closely related to the host contract. The directors consider
that the fair value of the above early redemption options is
insignificant on initial recognition and at 31 March 2012.

On 30 September 2011 and 2 February 2012, the Company
repurchased the Senior Notes with principal amount of
US$5,000,000 and US$4,000,000, respectively, from the open
market. The total consideration of the repurchase was US$6,932,000
(equivalent to HK$54,069,000), which includes repurchase price
at 74.15% and 75.80%, respectively, of principal amount and
pro rata accrued and unpaid interest. The carrying amount of
the repurchased Senior Notes was US$8,729,000 (equivalent to
HK$68,087,000), resulting in a gain on repurchase of the Senior
Notes amounting to HK$14,018,000 in the current year. Up to the
report date, the repurchased Senior Notes have been cancelled.

BERBESHRESN D R LAEFREOHE

(@)

(ii)

BEBHIEANFBETARE S REREA
B LB BT AR AR R R R
BHARSREESRASTETANTA
& BRI BT TS A R TR -

HIRUER B B T B S RIR 1T LAY
BEANERERENEN1457%1E -

REEREWNEAWIEREENE R
FEHBRATET R - ESRARIIATER
N2012%3A318 » ERFELRENA
FETK -

201149 A30H 201262828 » AR A H
Bl B A B T 45 8 Bl A8 € B8 4 5,000,000 % 7T &
4,000,000 THELERE - RIEBREMNARKE
/46,932,000 7T (#HE 754,069,000/ 7T) * £
FEDBIAER S RE74.15% K 75.80% 5T E KB EIE
RIZLL GG E R 25T RAMNFIS - FIEEERERE
EHBRE(E £8,729,0003 7T (FHE 7268,087,000
L) - BRNAFE SIS ELELERNKE
14,018,000/8 7T « BEAMEAH - FrlERIE%
ZIEE FarsH o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31. Senior Notes (Continued)

The Senior Notes recognised in the statement of financial position

were calculated as follows:

31. BREE @)

ERMBIMNAERBAREATNT

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHTT

Carrying amount at the beginning of year REYREREEE 1,900,083 -
Initial fair value on the date of issuance REST A TIR AT E - 1,898,930
Transaction cost RS - (56,043)
Payment of interest SAFE (262,164) =
Repurchase of Senior Notes HBEELREE (68,087) -
Interest expenses B 275,152 57,196
Carrying amount at the end of year RERIREE 1,844,984 1,900,083

The fair value of the Senior Notes at 31 March 2012 amounted to
HK$1,669,432,000 (2011: HK$1,831,635,000). The fair value is
calculated using the market price of the Senior Notes on 31 March

2012.

32. Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year

are as follows:

BTISERETE -

32. IELEHIE

R2012F3A318  BEAEBENRAFEE
1,669,432,0005%8 7T (20114 : 1,831,635,000/%5
70) c A FENFERELAEEN201243A31H

FR - REEHAERBEREELSHNT

Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE
Group FEE
Accelerated  Revaluation
tax of investment Withholding
depreciation properties tax Total
MEBERE REVEEM B et
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TR FTHET THET
At 1 April 2011 201164818 75,093 2,116,343 155,921 2,347,357
Deferred tax charged to the income RS R AL
statement during the year (note 10)  IEIEFIIE (#1372 10) 30,207 279,424 93,589 403,220
Exchange realignment 0& 5 3,274 84,266 7,229 94,769
At 31 March 2012 720124638318 108,574 2,480,033 256,739 2,845,346
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BRI EE ()
32. Deferred Tax (Continued) 32. IELEBIE (&)
Deferred tax assets EERIBEESE
Group REE
Loss available
for offsetting  Provision for
against future  impairment
Tax effect taxable profits  of accounts
of LAT  ml{H3E 8RRk receivable
THIBERN  EREAEN PEWL AR Total
BBE 53 RERE #gt
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THERT FTHET THET
At 1 April 2011 201164818 142,753 541 16,709 160,003
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) HEMB AR (A£36) (17,704) - - (17,704)
Deferred tax credited to the income ~ F AT AUZEEERAH
statement during the year (note 10)  IEFERIE (177 10) 100,793 16,529 713 118,035
Exchange realignment [ 5, % 6,389 21 644 7,054
At 31 March 2012 2012438318 232,231 17,091 18,066 267,388
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAE
Group R EE
Accelerated Revaluation
tax  of investment Withholding
depreciation properties tax Total
MEHIBHE REMESH TAHIH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET
At 1 April 2010 2010F481H 37,724 1,667,579 69,764 1,775,067
Deferred tax charged to the income ~ FRPIEER AT E
statement during the year (note 10)  IEIERIIE(A13210) 34,846 366,042 81,081 481,969
Exchange realignment M W SR 2,523 82,722 5,076 90,321
At 31 March 2011 M201163H31H 75,093 2,116,343 155,921 2,347,357
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

32. Deferred Tax (Continued) 32. IERERIE ()

Deferred tax assets EEBIEEE
Group rEE

Loss available
for offsetting
against future
Tax effect  taxable profits

Provision for
impairment
of accounts

of LAT  AJftiKEARK receivable
THIEERA  ERBFEN JEUBR R Total
Bz 2 B8 B et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FHT FHT FHT
At 1 April 2010 R2010564A1A8 69,282 518 5613 75,413

Deferred tax credited to the income R AUzER AR

statement during the year (note 10)  EIERIB(H75410) 68,721 = 10,588 79,309
Exchange realignment Rk 4,750 23 508 5,281
At 31 March 2011 20114634318 142,753 541 16,709 160,003

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$120,832,000
(2011: HK$79,135,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose.

The Group also has tax losses in Mainland China of HK$104,772,000
(2011: HK$163,137,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008. In the current year, the Group accrued withholding
tax of HK$93,589,000 (2011: HK$81,081,000) for those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China.
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AEBNEBEERTIEEE120,832,00078 7T
(20114 : 79,135,000/ 7T ) o] 4E[R B4t &2 -
LASE SHEE £ B 1B M A RIAR SR FERRBUEF o

7S5 18 IR A R B K B E AE AR T E5 18 1104,772,000
(20114 : 163,137,000/ 7T) * BRA—2H
EREm - AR AR R ERTUEF o

BRZEFERBEHRER - RENNHEAR
EX - BRRRL A BEE 7t R A RBUR A
HEZEBANTIREE S ERZEER
ERELTHIREE -

RBEFESEMSTE - R BRSNS
WELEMBINEEESTRNKRBEAHNI0%
TEFF - RIARTHE20085F1 F1EEAR - I
TAR2007F12A31 BEBREEEF] o 5+
NEEELEIMEE BT RARER ] L RIS RAY -
AT AR TEHE - Bt - AEBEAR KR E
R AK S BT B A &)k 20084 1 B 1 B & P iR
AT KR EMAMBINT - RAFE - K&EE
BLE A B A K 37 BT B A Bl 2 FEETTE
HFi 593,589,000/ 7L (20114 © 81,081,000/
TT) °



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B M Rk AT (4E)
33. Share Capital 33. ®R&
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Authorised: SESE
30,000,000,000 (31 March 30,000,000,000/% (20114F

2011: 30,000,000,000) ordinary shares of 3A31H :30,000,000,0000%)

HK$0.01 each FHXEE0.01 ST A I mA% 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRER

5,987,564,000 (31 March 5,987,564,000/% (20114

2011: 5,987,564,000) ordinary shares of 3H31H : 5,987,564,000/%)

HK$0.01 each GREE0.01E T T @R 59,876 59,876
During the year ended 31 March 2012, there are no movements in BZE2012863A31 B ILFE - ERTRAES
issued capital. g o

Number of

shares in issue Issued capital

ERITROHE ERITRAE

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April 2010 K2010F4 /818 6,000,000,000 60,000

Repurchase of shares EAEIlG) (20,436,000) (204)

Exercise of share options TR g2 8,000,000 80

At 31 March 2011 and 2012 20114 K20129F3H31H 5,987,564,000 59,876
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B ISR M EE (48)
34. Share Options 34. B
(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Agreements (a) BRAHRERDAIBRERZ

The Company has granted certain share options for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Grantees of the share options include Directors
and certain employees of the Group. The share options were
approved by the Company on 13 October 2006 (“Pre-IPO
Options”).

The number of Pre-IPO Options upon their exercise was equal
to 3% of the Company’s issued ordinary shares for Initial Public
Offering (“IPO") of the listing on the Stock Exchange that was
of 180,000,000 ordinary shares. The options must be exercised
within two to three years following the IPO of the Company,
and the exercise price shall be 50% of the offer price of each
share in the IPO as at HK$1.05.

All Pre-IPO Options were granted in prior year, and their fair
value of HK$67,521,000 was estimated by Vigers Appraisal &
Consulting Ltd (“Vigers”). All the share option expenses were
recognised in the consolidated income statement in prior years.

The following share options were outstanding under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Agreements during the year:

AARERHETHERE mMATSEEZE
BRBIEL BRI E AR MEERHEE
NREN - BREARABREASEESZR
ETEE - AARIER2006F107 138t
EERE((ERARBERMATIERE] -

BRAREE RN AR TR AR
EAGEE S VNN )R T e TR =D/NYN g
ERG(ERARAEERMDDBFEHEITE
BARHY3% (BN180,000,000% &A% ) - BE
MAE B AR RETE R AR ERG
BERME=FNITE  TEERERAMAE
ERMDPFRFEEERS0% + BN1.0587T ©

FTEBE X ARBERMDAIBREE NBE
FEFRL HQAFEA67,521,000%8 7T
MEBNEETHERBRA A (BT
) #ETTEE - RBEFE @ B EARE
B B RERE S RIER o

AT BB AR I B R A B B S R AT AR
TR F AR TIE -

Year ended 31 March

BE3A31HLFE
2012 2011

Weighted Weighted

average average

exercise price exercise price
per share  Number of per share Number of
SR nkE options R ANHE options
FHTEE BREHE THTRE BEREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT T4 BT T1n
At beginning of year REF] 1.0500 172,000 1.0500 180,000
Exercised during the year FRITEE - (8,000)
Lapsed during the year FRKRK 1.0500 (40,000) = =
At end of year REL 1.0500 132,000 1.0500 172,000

During the current year, an aggregate amount of
HK$15,004,000 was transferred from share option reserve to
retained earnings for those share options that lapsed during
the current year.
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B iR MY =T (&)
34. Share Options (Continued) 34. ERAE )
(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Agreements (Continued) () BEXLAHRERGDAIBRERSR
()
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options HEREHER  KTEBRENTEER
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as ITEHRIOR -
follows:
2012 20124
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
BRESE TEE 1THEH
‘000 HK$ per share
TR BRERT
132,000 1.05 30-9-2009 to 29-9-2012
2009F9H30H £20129529H
2011 20114
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
B ES 11 E 111 EA
‘000 HK$ per share
TR BRAT
132,000 1.05 30-9-2009 to 29-9-2012
200949 A30H£201249H29H
40,000 1.05 30-9-2009 to 29-9-2011
200949 A30H =201149H29H
172,000
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

34. Share Options (Continued)
(b) Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4
September 2009 (the “Share Option Scheme”) to provide
incentives and reward to selected eligible persons which
includes directors, employees, officers, agents, consultants or
representatives of the Group for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company or its subsidiaries. The Share
Option Scheme became effective on 30 September 2009 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force
for 10 years from that date. Further details of the Share Option
Scheme are set out in “Report of the Directors” of this annual
report.

On 2 December 2010, the Company granted 6,000,000 share
options under the Share Option Scheme to an employee, with
the exercise price of HK$1.41 per share and an exercise period
ranging from 2 December 2011 to 1 December 2015. The fair
value of the share options granted was estimated by Vigers
at HK$1,992,000, of which the Group recognised a share
option expense of HK$994,000 during the current year (2011:
HK$396,000).

On 11 April 2011, a total of 226,900,000 share options under
the Share Option Scheme were granted to an executive director
and certain employees of the Company and its subsidiaries in
respect of their services to the Group. These share options have
an exercise price of HK$1.29 per share and an exercise period
ranging from 11 April 2011 to 10 April 2016. Of the total
226,900,000 share options, 15,000,000 share options were
granted to Xu Yang, an executive director of the Company,
and 211,900,000 share options were granted to certain
employees of the Group.
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34. [BRE®)
(b) FEARAESTE

AARBH2009F9 A4 B RN EET S
([FERAERTED) - MEARRARIHEMNBEA
AEL BB S EEEBNETREEIRA
T(BEAEEES  ES - 2f/%E - R
1B BEREAR) R EE R ER - Bk
2B 20099 A30 AN - WHEH
BEFETF (BRIEBUESEHBET) - BB
TR E — P ERRAF RPN ES

gHE] -

M2010F12 A28 © AR AIREBIET
Zim— %12 B 1% H6,000,00017 BEPEAE - 17
FEAER1.41ET - 1TFEEHA2011F12
A28 ZE2015F12 818 © BA&HT G T Fr%
AR E R A (B A1,992,0008 T &
AR 2N 4F S RE RS AR 1 5 52 994,000/ 7T
(20114 : 396,000/ 7T) °

R201MEF4 78118 @ RIBEIRET B AA
REIREWNBRAR —BRTEERET
EERFSAAEERENREELS
$£226,900,00017 #E I 42 - Z FEHEARAE D
TEEASRR1298 T 1TEHA201
FAA1MBE2016F4 108 - RA& K
226,900,000 17 f A% # & + 15,000,000 15
BRECE FTARRNTESHE 3
211,900,00017 B Ak 1 A T A S B R T1E

=
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

34. Share Options (Continued)
(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

34. BERE )
(b) BARAESTEI(2)

The fair value of the 226,900,000 share options granted was
HK$58,175,000, of which the Group recognised a share option
expense of HK$41,320,000 during the current year (2011: Nil).
These share options were estimated as at the date of grant by
Vigers, using a binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model:

RARERE - FTiRH226,900,00017 R RHE 2
ANF{EA58,175,0008 7T« P AEERE
288 M #ERY 2 41,320,000/ 7T (20114 -
) o BASRETINME L B SR —EE A 8
ZEBBREETE - EREZRERE
TR B ISR A - TRIIRFTAE
HHEA(E :

Share price at the date of grant (HK$) RIEE B ZRECET) 1.26
Exercise price (HK$) TTEECET) 1.29
Dividend yield (%) 1% B2 (%) 1.59
Expected volatility (%) TR HR B 1% (%) 30.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) R A2 (%) 2.04
Exercise multiple 1T fEE 1.63-2.20

The expected life of the options is based on historical data
and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that
may occur. The expected volatility was determined based on
the movement of the share price of the company since listing,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No
other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

The following share options were outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme during the year:

BRENERFRDRELBESE &
ANBBERAIREBREMTTERBR - RN
k8 L AR R BRE 2 EE W
BE  AVRERER - FTEQTER
A & B FTI H HORB AR RO EL AR R -

TOIRBAE RN F AR BB AR 8 H R1T
1%

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2012 2011

Weighted Weighted

average average

exercise price exercise price
per share  Number of per share Number of
SR nkE options SR nAE options
FiI9ITEE  BRERE TETHRE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT T4 BT F15
At beginning of year REL] 1.4100 6,000 1.4100 6,000
Granted during the year FREH 1.2900 226,900 - -
Forfeited during the year FRRUL 1.2900 (14,700) - -
At end of year REK 1.2933 218,200 1.4100 6,000
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B iR M =T (&)
34. Share Options (Continued) 34. BRE®)
(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (b) BARAESTEI(2)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options HEREHER  RTEERENTEER
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as 1TEHAINT ¢
follows:
2012 20125
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
BREZE THEE T
‘000 HK$ per share
TR sRERT
2,000 1.4100 2-12-2011 to 1-12-2015
2011512B2HZ2015%1281H
2,000 1.4100 2-12-2012 to 1-12-2015
201212828 E2015%1281H
2,000 1.4100 2-12-2013 to 1-12-2015
2013512B2HZ2015%1281H
78,700 1.2900 11-04-2011 to 10-04-2016
201154 811HZ2016F4810H
57,400 1.2900 11-04-2012 to 10-04-2016
2012548118 ZE20165F4H10H
57,400 1.2900 11-04-2013 to 10-04-2016
201354 A11B £201654 8 10H
18,700 1.2900 11-04-2014 to 10-04-2016
20144 811HZ2016F4810H
218,200
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34. Share Options (Continued)
(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2011

BRE®)
(b) BARAESTEI(2)

20115

Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
BEH A 1IRE 17 E
‘000 HK$ per share
T BB
2,000 1.4100 2-12-2011 to 1-12-2015
20114F12 A2HE2015412A1H8
2,000 1.4100 2-12-2012 to 1-12-2015
201212 A2H=2015%12H1H
2,000 1.4100 2-12-2013 to 1-12-2015
201312 A2H=2015F12H1H
6,000

At the end of reporting period, the Company had 350,200,000
share options outstanding under Pre-IPO Share Option
Agreements and the Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 5.85% of the Company’s shares in issue as at
that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 350,200,000 additional ordinary shares of
the Company and additional share capital HK$3,502,000 and
share premium of HK$417,296,000 (before issue expenses).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a total of
14,200,000 share options were lapsed due to the resignation
of the granted employees, 6,000,000 of which have an exercise
price of HK$1.41 per share while the rest have an exercise price
of HK$1.29 per share.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 336,000,000 share options outstanding under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Agreements and the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 5.61% of the
Company'’s shares in issue as at that date.

RIREBRRE - BEBEHXLRABITRG
AR ERERBERETSE - XAFA
350,200,000f& RITEFE B - HERAK
NAElE BEBEITRINAS.85% ° IRIEAR
AERMNEAREENS @ 2BTHERTE
HE I 7 18 & B BUAR 2 | % 97 350,200,000
A% BB AN 38 AR S BB IIMIR A5 3,502,00078 7T K&
417,296,000 7T iz 7 5 (B (FIFR 1T X
A) °

RS IR % - A $£14,200,00017 BE i 42
I B B B T 2820 - HH76,000,00017
WITEBATR1.41BT  MESRNTTE
EAERI1 2987 °

REZEFHERERIEE B - RBE XA
BT BB s R IERRMERT &) - K
A R)7336,000,0000% R FTIFEERAE - HHE
RARFE BEEITRNA5.61% °
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

35. Reserves

(a)

(b)

Group

35. 15
(a) =x&H

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements

therein for the current year and the prior year are presented in

the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 79
to 80 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of the
Group'’s subsidiaries which are established in the PRC has been
transferred to the statutory reserve which is restricted as to use.

AEERES ERRAER B EF R
IR TR B 3 79 ER0 R M & 1B
ST TEELIR

REFINEEEREBERIENR A%
%] P T £ R B RS B B 2 B RO BE 0
EHREREXRHINEERESR

Company (b) AR
Capital Share Share
redemption option premium Retained
reserve reserve account profits Total
N e
fE BRERE RORER REFE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT FAET FHET TAT
At 31 March 2010 R201043 8318 - 67,520 3,039,402 352,267 3,459,189
Profit for the year FAFHE = - - 131,680 131,680
Repurchase of shares (note 33)  BEE (#15233) 204 = = (24,616) (24,412)
Exercise of share options 1TE R A = (3,001) 11,321 = 8,320
Equity-settled share option AR EER
arrangement RERRREZ - 396 - - 396
Proposed final dividend (note 12)  #HRARHIRE S (H5112) = = = (149,689)  (149,689)
At 31 March 2011 2011438318 204 64,915 3,050,723 309,642 3,425,484
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

35. Reserves (Continued)

35. FE )

(b) Company (Continued)

(b) KT (&)

Capital Share Share
redemption option premium Retained
reserve reserve account profits Total
EARER
e BRERE ROZER REFIE Mgt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THET THET THET TExT
At 31 March 2011 M201143 /4318 204 64,915 3,050,723 309,642 3,425,484
Profit for the year FAFHE - - - 275,100 275,100
Lapse of share option (note 34)  BERRAERZN(H7734) - (15,004) - 15,004 -
Equity-settled share option DA i H IRt
arrangement (note 34) (B17#34) - 42,314 - - 42,314
Proposed final dividend (note 12) ¥R AREIRR 2. (H5212) - - - (449,067)  (449,067)
At 31 March 2012 20129383108 204 92,225 3,050,723 150,679 3,293,831

36. Disposal of Subsidiaries

On 28 September 2011, the Group entered into a share transfer
and loan assignment agreement (the “Agreement”) with two
independent third parties (the “Purchaser”). Pursuant to the
Agreement, the Group transferred its 100% equity interests
in three subsidiaries of the Group, namely China South City
Enterprise (Heyuan) Co., Ltd. (the “Heyuan Enterprise”), Fortune
Pace Investments Limited and Fortune Great Investment Limited
to one of the independent parties for a cash consideration of
RMB730,000,000 (equivalent to HK$894,469,000). Furthermore,
pursuant to the Agreement, the Group’s loan due from Heyuan
Enterprise was assigned to the other independent party (the
“Assigned Loan”) with the consideration of RMB237,824,000
(equivalent to HK$291,406,000), which was the same as the carrying
amount of the loan as at 28 September 2011.

36. HEMBELQA

20114 9H28H  AEBEMEELIE=FH
(TEF DA BmhEERER L E R (17
Z] - BERE AEEURSREARE
730,000,000 7T (#8 E 7 894,469,000 7T ) #5 &
=XRMBAE(BNERMEECTR)BERAA
(DTREZE]) - HARESRAREKERES
FRAR)EI100% B AR ERETHP -2/
E=F o N BEWRE  AEBERYTRE
X¥MEREUREARY237,824,000T (HHE
7291,406,000 L) BT S —RBILE=FH
([HFEER])  ZeBEZEETN2011F9A4
28HHBREEAER °
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

36. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued)

36. HEMNB AT (&)

Net assets of the three disposed subsidiaries on the disposal date =REEHMBATREL Az EEFEN
were as follows: TS ¢
28 September
2011
201149 H28H
Notes HK$'000
Mt FHTT
Net assets disposed of: FrEHEESE :
Property, plant and equipment Y - B R 14 3,050
Properties under development G ES 16 321,633
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE B 32 17,704
Properties held for sale FEHEME 330,396
Trade receivables E 5 EWGRIE 200,373
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTRIE « e REA RN FRIA 23,046
Cash and bank balances R e RIRTTAH 142,591
Trade and other payables B 5 M H M FERFRIA (433,024)
Tax payable FER IR (131,981)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTRRITREAMEE (196,048)
277,740
Release of capital reserve R B AN * 88,181
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve FR R DB 35, B (6 (17,172)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKB ARz ke 5 545,720
894,469
Satisfied by: B
Cash received and receivables B R & REWRIA ** 894,469

* On 19 July 2010, the Group acquired a 30% non-controlling interest

* 7201067 H 198 - AR&EE A& 120,000,000

in Heyuan Enterprise with a consideration of HK$120,000,000. FETTUERTIR B X MN30% SEIE RS - BEIK
Following the purchase, Heyuan Enterprise was 100% owned by REFEHANEEES 100% e o FHERER
the Group. The difference of HK$88,181,000 between the carrying HUHE B HAFAREI{E31,819,00078 T L UK B R (2
amount of HK$31,819,000 of the non-controlling interests as at the 120,000,000 Tt #) Z #88,181,000/8 LN &L =
acquisition date and the purchase consideration of HK$120,000,000 20113 A3 1B L FENGAMERERAREE
was accounted for as a deduction of capital reserve in the consolidated RNEBIDR - RAFE - aREETREE -
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011. During the BRFEEERERENGRE -

current year, the capital reserve was transferred to the consolidated
income statement due to the disposal of Heyuan Enterprise.
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36. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued)

** As at 31 March 2012, the Group has collected in aggregate

36.

RMB350,000,000 (equivalent to HK$428,855,000) from the
Purchaser for the cash consideration of RMB730,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$894,469,000). The remaining cash consideration of
RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to HK$465,614,000) will be settled
by 15 June 2012 and by 31 July 2012 with RMB50,000,000 and
RMB330,000,000, respectively, as agreed by the Group and the
Purchaser on 28 March 2012. The Group had collected RMB50,000,000
on 14 June 2012 from the Purchaser accordingly.

The consideration of RMB237,824,000 (equivalent to

HK$291,406,000) for the Assigned Loan will be settled by 31 July funt

2012 as agreed by the Group and the Purchaser on 28 March 2012.

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

a5 15 £

a H TA

ENBAT (&)

R2012F3A31H ' XEEERBRREREA
IR 730,000,000 7T (#8572 894,469,000 7% 7T )
M E 5 W E A H£ AR 350,000,0007T (HER
428,855,000 70) - B THR S KRBARME
380,000,000 7T (48 % 4 465,614,00078 7T ) #5 1%
AEBEE HR20129F3 A28 Frtps - 2 7
201246 A158 B % 201247 A31 BRIER A
R #50,000,0007T & A K # 330,000,000 7T °
It AEBEER2012F6 A148RE HKRE AR

#150,000,0007T °

AN EFEE R 2012493 A28 B Frifas
BB A R #237,824,000 7T (FHE R
291,406,000/ 70 ) #5522012F7 A31 BHAESRT -

REEMNBRARZRERREEEMRAFED

of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: TEAR
2012
Note HK$'000
Mt FET
Cash consideration for the disposal of subsidiaries H&H B A RHIESKE 894,469
Cash consideration for the assigned loans EWERERESRE 291,406
Cash receivables IR & FEUGRIE 26 (757,020)
Cash and bank balances disposed of P& R & RIRTTAE R (142,591)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in MHENBARIZRE R
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries ReEBMRANFE 286,264
37. Pledge of Assets 37. EEER
Details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings, which are UAREBREEERFRITREMEEFIESH
secured by the assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, 15, 16, REFFRZEMEE14 1516~ 17 » 24%30
17, 24 and 30 to the financial statements.
38. Contingent Liabilities 38. HAAE

At the end of each reporting period, contingent liabilities not

REREHR - BHREARERENXARE

provided for in the financial statements were as follows: W
Group Company
rEH PN
2012 2011 2012 2011
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ ™ 000
Htat FHET FAT FAET FAET
Guarantees given to BT & H R
banks in connection with BLE i mERTT
facilities granted to: AR -
Subsidiaries )= YNG]] (i) - = 61,645 138,577
Third parties E=H (ii) 352,639 152,621 - -
Heyuan Enterprise ARE S (iii) 78,906 = - =
431,545 152,621 61,645 138,577
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BA RS AR MY AL (48D

38. Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

0)

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 March 2012, the banking facilities granted to
a subsidiary subject to guarantees given to the banks by
the Company were utilised to the extent of approximately
HK$61,645,000 (2011: HK$138,577,000).

The Group has provided guarantees in respect of banking
facilities granted by certain banks in connection with the
mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of the Group’s
trade centres and residential properties and bank loans
entered into by lesses of the Group’s residential properties
and commercial properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, if there is default of the loan payments by these
purchasers and lessees, the Group is responsible to repay the
outstanding loans together with accrued interest thereon and
any penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers and lessees to
banks. The Group is then entitled to take over the legal title
and usage rights of the related properties. For trade centre
units and residential properties sold, the guarantee period
commences from the dates of grant of the relevant loans
and ends when the purchasers obtain the building ownership
certificate which will then be pledged with the banks. For
leased residential and commercial properties, the guarantees
will be released accordingly along with the repayment of loan
principal by the lessees.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the financial
years in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers and lessees of the Group’s
properties. The directors consider that in case of default on
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties
can cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty, and therefore
no provision has been made in connection with the guarantees.

The Group provided guarantees for bank facility granted to
Heyuan Enterprise before its disposal. The guarantee balance
was HK$78,906,000 as at 31 March 2012. As agreed by both
the Group and the Purchaser on 28 March 2012, the guarantee
provided by the Group for Heyuan Enterprise will be released
by 31 July 2012 or otherwise the Purchaser will pay on behalf
of the Group for any payments requested by the bank relating
to the bank facility.

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HIZRGR A 7

38.

HAEE®)

0

(ii)

(iii)

MR201243 8318 © AR MABTIRME
ER—ZXMBRARERNRTREPD
61,645,000 7T (20114F : 138,577,000/%
JTC)EEA -

ATRTEAAEERZGHOREEYWES
REAGEHEEETRERYEAHEAD B
VIEBERRRITER - AEERZFR
TTEREHRER - REZSFERGT -
ZEBRNABAERERER - AEE

A% =T E
BREERRNER  EREAFE UK
RAER ARG RIBITHERSE ©

~

Hig AEEBRZEREBYENARR
ENERE - BEERZPOEHEIEEY
Ehm - EROGERERELAHNES
BEXRGERERTRITHNELERERE
HiF- EEEEREENEMS - #R
RBEREANEEE XA -

AREBRPHRFERNLERRAEEBYE
BRMAEABRIZISRE Priz HIE R
BEMEREE - EFRE - WHRER
HRIRRER - HEYERN A EIFE R A
XN AREEIRBEFERE A EE B &
SR MESLERAT IR A -

REEFTRE N HERIER L MRTT
BB RRRIEIR o SZIEIRIR2012F3 A31H
H) & %8 478,906,000/ 7T © a0 AN 5 E
B R2012F3 A28 FTias - A5 E R
TREERENEREN201267 43118
AIRRR - BRIE A BRRANEEZFRIT
PERITRE ZE K 2 FH -
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39. Operating Lease Arrangements

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) and
properties sold with cooperation arrangements and leasing
arrangements under operating lease arrangements negotiated
for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years. The terms of the leases
also require the tenants to pay security deposits.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

39. KEHERH
(a) FEHRHBEA

AEEREBEEEHETHHELREY X
(15 RIABF LR REBELZHNHE
W WEMIZ10FNHEER - BEHR
TREBRPINALE -

MEBREHRR - FEBRFEBF T
TR HEKEMEZ TIIEHAZRK &K
EEMES@EENT

Group NEH
2012 2011
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT BT
Within one year —F A 174,322 127,856
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_ZERF(BREEEMFEN) 246,209 154,590
After five years R 151,645 72,920
572,176 355,366

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its land and buildings, vehicles and
properties sold under operating lease arrangements. Leases are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group and the
Company had total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

(b) EHREBEA

AEENREHELHHES T L RE
B ABEREEYE  UHH—E=0LFH
HEH -

REREHR - AEERARBRENA
A HRERER TR A 2 RARHEHE
THFENT

Group Company
REE YN
2012 2011 2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET THET FHET
Within one year —FR 78,167 76,622 1,441 1,441
In the second to fifth years, FE_ZEZERF
inclusive (BREEEMFEAN) 70,472 124,700 1,382 2,823
Total st 148,639 201,322 2,823 4,264
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40. Commitments 40. 7&4E
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note B £SO EE39(h) S M AS B TR E AR - NS
39(b) above, the Group had the following commitments at the end REHRIR - NEEA THIHRIE :

of each reporting period:

Group REE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Contracted, but not provided for: EHEVEEST-E
Properties under development BRPYE 3,129,592 966,079
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Authorised, but not contracted for: EIREERETY)
Properties under development EREPYE 2,731,722 6,408,729
41. Related Party Transactions 4. BEALRS
(a) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the (a) BREMBREZERBENZZI  RER
financial statements, the Group had the following material NEEEEHEALTHETT TIERRZS
transactions with related parties during the year:
Group rEE
2012 2011
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Htat FTERT FAT
Companies in which a director of the  ZRA A1E FHE(EIE R
Company is a controlling shareholder: NG
Rental expense and related service fees  #tAEHITE £ Bz LA
for office building BR7%5 2 A (i) 1,822 1,884
Rental expense for trade centres RESHRLHAEEFHET (ii) 819 838
Notes: Kt
(i)  The rental expense and related service fees for the office building () WoENHEEHEIRARREEAE—XR
were related to the leasing of office space provided to the Group BEARMASRBEEEARAETHEEFEA -
by a related company. The fees were based on terms mutually ERERBRBEE T IBEENGTE -
agreed between both parties.
(i)  The rental expense was related to leasing of trade centres iy MHEWAHBEEALIRAEELBERSH
provided to the Group by related parties. The rental was based DB - MEREFTIHERTENIRRETE

on terms mutually agreed between the parties.
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41. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(b)

(9]

(d)

41. BEATRZ )

Commitments with related parties (b) EEREEE A L 2 BRRIE

On 23 February 2011, the Company entered into a lease MR20115F2A230 - AREIEREBKRE

agreement for the period ending 16 March 2014 with Man BRAR(ARRAR]—BESEZERRR)E]

Sang International Limited, a company of which a director of SV R2014F3 16 BEmMBEE R -

the Company is a controlling shareholder. The amount of lease NHEERY @ EEHNMBHRERMFT416)

expenses for the year is included in note 41(a) to the financial REBTEE2013F R2014FRBHAERT
statement. The Group expects total lease expense in 2013 and 73 Rll41441,900,0007% 7T K. 1,800,000/ 7T

2014 to be approximately HK$1,900,000 and HK$1,800,000,

respectively.

Outstanding balances with related parties: () EREEA L Z2ENKRENEERR :

(i)  Details of the Group’s amounts due from/to its jointly- ()  AEERSHEEIRA B/ E R
controlled entities and associates as at the end of each EHIEE R —RBE R RREFES
reporting period are disclosed in notes 20 and 21, BITEMIFE20 21 # % o
respectively.

(i) As disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial (i) NEERMBERRERPHEE  AEE
position, the Group had an outstanding balance due PR ER 3R B B A SR B G R FE R R
to non-controlling interests of HK$53,113,000 (2011: %% X 853,113,000 7% 7T (2011 4F :
HK$51,170,000) as at the end of the reporting period. 51,170,000/ 7T ) ° A B 318 A 1K
The balance is unsecured, interest-free and not repayable B RTR—FRERE -
within one year.

Compensation of key management (d) XEEFTEEIEASHE :

personnel of the Group:

Group rEE

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT

Short term employee benefits EHEERET 36,137 25,151

Post-employment benefits BRI R 24 24

Share-based payments LA S E MBI ER 3,468 -

Total compensation paid to XNFFEEEBEAS

key management personnel B B4 5 39,629 25,175

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8
to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of rental expense and
related service fees for office buildings above also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BEEMEE - SHBENYBREME
8o

FREBERABNESH X RERREE

REBEA TR S IEK LT AIE 14A
EEBNHERFRFEWERS °
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42. Financial Instruments by Category
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

42. SRITESE
BESHT ANREHAMERERNT -

Financial assets MBERE
2012 20125
Group
rEE
Financial assets
at fair value
Loans and  through profit
receivables or loss Total
L AFEFIIRN
BERREWRRIE BKEE 5t
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FTER FERT
Amounts due from jointly-controlled FEURH RIS B BE5RIA
entities (note 20) (Bi7t20) 1,208 - 1,208
Finance lease receivables (note 22) R E R E W RIE
(B1at22) 38,445 - 38,445
Held for trading investments at fair value #3iB825IA N FETIBE
through profit or loss (note 27) FHEERRE (WiF27) - 111,986 111,986
Trade receivables (note 25) FEUE 5 BRI (M7#25) 525,630 - 525,630
Financial assets included in FEATENRIE - ke Kk
prepayments, deposits and other oAt FEWGRIE Y
receivables WBEE 828,701 - 828,701
Cash and cash equivalents and BeRREEEYR
restricted cash (note 28) SR EIRE (H7F28) 3,831,987 - 3,831,987
5,225,971 111,986 5,337,957
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

IR ER R EE ()
42. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued) 42. €T ES ¥
Financial assets (Continued) BMBREEw®
2011 20114
Group
NEE
Financial assets
at fair value
Loans and through profit
receivables or loss Total
ipti=
AR AT BRA)
B & e RIE HISEE Feb
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAT
Amounts due from jointly-controlled FEURH R+ B BE 5K IA
entities (note 20) (Kia£20) 11,479 = 11,479
Finance lease receivables (note 22) mERERKFIE
(Hiit22) 46,795 - 46,795
Held for trading investments at fair value %@ IARFEHIE Y
through profit or loss (note 27) FHEEERE (H:227) - 153,065 153,065
Trade receivables (note 25) FEWE 8RR (H15t25) 589,943 - 589,943
Financial assets included in FEATENRIE - ek
prepayments, deposits and other H A FEUCRRIR Y
receivables WIEEE 22,746 = 22,746
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted R4 RIRESZEEW R
cash (note 28) SIRHR S (H228) 4,564,491 = 4,564,491
5,235,454 153,065 5,388,519
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REBHERAI RN EEE
Group
AEE
2012 2011
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT FHETT
Amount due to an associate (note 217) N —REE QB RB(HE21) 3,094 2,984
Financial liabilities included in trade and FTAE S KR H M ER B
other payables B afE 3,308,612 1,134,611
Senior notes (note 31) BEER(HE31) 1,844,984 1,900,083
Interest-bearing bank and FFERITR
other borrowings (note 30) HAEE (A75730) 4,773,382 4,242,697
Amount due to non-controlling interests JE IS AR R 2
(note 41(c)(ii) SIB (K4 1(c) 53,113 51,170
9,983,185 7,331,545
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

IR ER R EE (&)
42. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued) 42. eRTES ¥
Financial assets at amortised cost BEER AR RN B EE
Company
RAF
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHT FHIT
Loan to a subsidiary (note 19) A—KHBARELA
ER(HEE19) 752,400 752,400
Due from subsidiaries (note 19) FEURE B A T FIB(H15E19) 2,250,736 968,195
Financial assets included in prepayments, FTATENFIE  RE Rk
deposits and other receivables HAb RBGRIEN M S & E 529 3,708
Cash and cash equivalents (note 28) Re RRSEBYW(HiE28) 477,387 2,342,869
3,481,052 4,067,172
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REBHERAI RN EEE
Company
¥ NG|
2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHT FHIT
Due to subsidiaries (note 79) FE SR B A BRI (A7 19) 899 899
Financial liabilities included in other payables, STAEMENIE « ERTTEE K&
accruals and deposits received BiliEEMMBAE 35,453 34,055
Senior notes (note 31) BEEE(H:31) 1,844,984 1,900,083
1,881,336 1,935,037
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

43. Fair Value Hierarchy

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's and the

43. N EEZERK
AEEMEAATCRTANETERATEN

Company'’s financial instruments are as follows: TS 8
Group REE
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE AEE
2012 2011 2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT FERT FAT
Financial assets BKEE
Amounts due from jointly-controlled — FEUL Rz & 82 $k1E
entities 1,208 11,479 1,208 11,479
Finance lease receivables & T E e U EIE 38,445 46,795 38,445 46,795
Held for trading investments at fair  Fi@IBFFANFEFEREZ
value through profit or loss BEEERE 111,986 153,065 111,986 153,065
Trade receivables FEYE 5 ERR 525,630 589,943 525,630 589,943
Financial assets included in FTABRRIE Rk
prepayments, deposits and other H b R TB R B S
receivables BE 828,701 22,746 828,701 22,746
Cash and cash equivalents and ReRRLEBYR
restricted cash XREIR S 3,831,987 4,564,491 3,831,987 4,564,491
5,337,957 5,388,519 5,337,957 5,388,519
Financial liabilities BgsaE
Amount due to an associate FER — K& A BIFRIR 3,094 2,984 3,094 2,984
Financial liabilities included in FTAE S R EAER
trade and other payables DEMNGAaE 3,308,612 1,134,611 3,308,612 1,134,611
Senior notes BRERg 1,844,984 1,900,083 1,669,432 1,831,635
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERIRTT R
borrowings HfbiEE 4,773,382 4,242,697 4,773,382 4,242,697
Amount due to non-controlling iARER
interests EESTRIE 53,113 51,170 53,113 51,170
9,983,185 7,331,545 9,807,633 7,263,097
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

43. Fair Value Hierarchy (Continued)

43. P EZER )

Company AAT
Carrying amounts Fair values
FREE AFE
2012 2011 2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT FET FAT
Financial assets BKEE
Loan to a subsidiary M—RHTE A REL
=N 752,400 752,400 752,400 752,400
Due from subsidiaries e NI e 2,250,736 968,195 2,250,736 968,195
Financial assets included in FTATBNRIE - RER
prepayments, deposits and other H b W GRTE R BA 7S
receivables EE 529 3,708 529 3,708
Cash and cash equivalents ReRESFED 477,387 2,342,869 477,387 2,342,869
3,481,052 4,067,172 3,481,052 4,067,172
Financial liabilities B®Ras
Due to subsidiaries U B B A BIFIE 899 899 899 899
Financial liabilities included in FFATENRUE - RER
other payables, accruals and E b EKGRTER
deposits received M EAE 35,453 34,055 35,453 34,055
Senior notes BREE 1,844,984 1,900,083 1,669,432 1,831,635
1,881,336 1,935,037 1,705,784 1,866,589

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liguidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash,
trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, and financial liabilities included in trade and
other payables, approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and finance lease receivables have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
The fair value of senior notes is calculated using the market price on
31 March 2012.

The fair values of held for trading investments at fair value through
profit or loss are based on quoted market prices.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

IR ER R EE (&)

43. Fair Value Hierarchy (Continued) 43. Y EER @)
Fair value hierarchy AEEEZER
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and REBEBER TSR  UECAERKEZESRTA Y
disclosing the fair values of financial instruments: NHE -
Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in F— - AR BEES B ERIERTIE 2
active markets for identical assets or liabilities BREAR) AR EAE N TFAE
Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for F UE A EENEERRE RS AFEAR
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair BAFEB B ABBRNTE A A ECATE

value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for B=M  LWEBEEHRATFEAERTE KA
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair AIEER IS5 88 (GE R EIRE A) 2 B A 8UE A9 FF
value are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) R EstE 2 N FE
Assets measured at fair value: BATEFECEE
Group NEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B EZR E= Fab
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FERT FHET FHET
As at 31 March 2012 M20125%3AH31H

Held for trading investments at %3818z A A FEIEZ
fair value through profit or loss — #{EE EI&E (Af:727)

(note 27) 111,986 - - 111,986
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— B_H F= FEG
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHT FAT FAT
As at 31 March 2011 #R201153H31H

Held for trading investments at  &EBIEaS AR F(ETIBR 2
fair value through profit or loss ~ FHEE EI&E (Hf:727)
(note 27) 153,065 - - 153,065

Annual Report 2011/12 3 185



186

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank and other
loans, senior notes, and cash and short term deposits. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets
such as trade receivables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and
equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group's borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment
of the Group's borrowings are disclosed in note 30 and 31 to
the financial statements. The Group’s policy is to obtain the most
favourable interest rates available for its borrowings.

The Group will constantly assess the interest rate risk it encounters to
decide whether it is required to hedge against the possible interest
rate risk that may arise.

On 31 March 2012, if the interest rate of bank borrowings had
increased/decreased by 0.5% and all other factors remained
unchanged, the profit after tax for the year of the Group would
have decreased/increased by approximately HK$17,900,000 (2011:
HK$15,910,000).

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which comprise cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, arises from default
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments. The Group is also exposed to credit
risk through the granting of financial guarantees, further details of
which are disclosed in note 38(ii) to the financial statements.

To manage the risk, deposits are mainly placed with licensing banks
which are all high credit quality financial institutions. The Group
trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. For the
sales of properties, the Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to buyers with appropriate financial strength and
appropriate percentage of down payments. The Group would not
release the property ownership certificates to the buyers before
the buyers fully settle the payment. It also has other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews regularly the
recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 25 to the
financial statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 44. BiRXEREEEEREE @)
Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk REBEEER

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of FEENEERERERRITEN  #IESH
funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans. BRI MR -

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end ANEBR R RIPEERENTE B ENREER
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted (BBRERATRMAZTOWT :

payments, was as follows:

Group EE
2012
On Within One to Two to Beyond
demand oneyear two years five years five years Total
FEZER - H-E=F H-FIHF h# st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET FET FET FET FER

Amount due to an R —FREE QR
associate I8 - - 3,094 - - 3,094
Financial liabilities SAERES R
included in trade and  Hfh T FIBH)
other payables MBaR - 3,308,612 - - - 3,308,612
Senior notes BERE - 253,773 253,773 2,387,346 - 2,894,892
Interest-bearing bank  FFEIRITR
and other borrowings ~ Ef{EE 240,097 2,719,840 684,870 1,165,199 514,334 5,324,340
Amount due to non-  JEfTFEEERRRERS
controlling interests B - - 53,113 - - 53,113
Total FC 240,097 6,282,225 994,850 3,552,545 514,334 11,584,051
2011
On Within One to Two to Beyond
demand one year two years five years five years Total
fEEK —FR F-ZE-F F-Z=RF hF#& 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHET FHT
Amount due to an JEN —KEE R A
associate g = = 2,984 = = 2,984

Financial liabilities STAERES R
included in trade and  E b ERT RIEHY

other payables MK EE - 1,134,611 = = - 1,134,611
Senior notes BERE - 263,250 263,250 2,739,750 - 3,266,250
Interest-bearing bank  EEIRITR

and other borrowings ~ EA{EE 406,778 1,513,013 1,185,882 1,024,690 732,853 4,863,216
Amount due to non- FEA IEFE RS 25

controlling interests IE - - 51,170 - - 51,170
Total st 406,778 2,910,874 1,503,286 3,764,440 732,853 9,318,231
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, was as follows:

44, BIEEBREEEERBE®)

REE S EBR ()
AR B E R A R 4 SRS M B RS B (B B ER AR
(RBARKFBRAZOMT :

Company VNN
2012
On Within One to Two to
demand oneyear twoyears five years Total
EER —FR F-ZE-F F-FEF 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT FTERT FET TERT
Due to subsidiaries e B B A 7B 899 - - - 899
Financial liabilities included in other &+ A E b & FUE
payables, accruals and deposits [EFTIEE REWIRE K
received HBasE - 35,453 - - 35,453
Senior notes BERE - 253,773 253,773 2,387,346 2,894,892
Total st 899 289,226 253,773 2,387,346 2,931,244
2011
On Within One to Two to
demand one year two years five years Total
JEE K —FR F-E-F F_ERF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FET FET TAT TET
Due to subsidiaries FEATB B A R IE 899 - - - 899
Financial liabilities included in other & A E i fE 4 Z0E
payables, accruals and deposits FEETIHA REWIZER
received B%aE = 34,055 = = 34,055
Senior notes BARR - 263,250 263,250 2,739,750 3,266,250
Total “a=t 899 297,305 263,250 2,739,750 3,301,204
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 44. BiRXEREEEEREE @)

Policies (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s only investment in China remains its operating vehicle,
which solely conducts business within Mainland China. Except for
interest payables, repayment of foreign currency loans obtained to
finance the Group’s operations and any potential future dividend its
subsidiaries might declare to its shareholders, the bulk of its revenue,
capital investment and expenses are denominated in RMB. At the
date of approval of the financial statements, the Group had not
experienced any difficulties in obtaining government approval for its
necessary foreign exchange purchases. During the year, the Group
did not issue any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets
and liabilities).

4B R

AEBETEEANRERB DARRLERR
ZAREBEPBEAELEER - RENMNE A
SE A LEMTEMESINE B TREVE AR
HfB AR A gERERRE RO EMNEERE
Sh - REDWA ~ BARKRE RHASIHAARE B
B - RS IRRILE R - AEEERRRT
BXARBEPARSNET E - KRB LAEAR R -
FA - AEEYEQLHBEOMBETEASRT
o

TRETEMEEMBEESEFTENERT - A
SEBAFEREE ARG AREERNATES
EEHNHRE - ARARAMNBNES HEREE
BEMABNHRFELIRSEATE -

Group rEE
Increase/
(decrease) in
Changes in  profit before tax
RMB rate  BéATFIMEI,
AR R OR4)
% HK$’000
FHT
2011 20114
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT ARKEESS 5 35,843
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB B TT A R i0g 3 (21,506)
2012 20124
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT AR BET 5 9,981
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB WS T 5 A R sE0g 3 (5,989)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)
Equity price risk
The equity price risk of the Group mainly arises from the changes in
market prices for held for trading investments at fair value through
profit or loss. The book values of this type of financial assets held by
the Group are recognised according to market quotes as at the end
of the reporting period.

On 31 March 2012, if the price of listed equity securities held by
the Group had increased/decreased by 10%, and all other factors
remained unchanged and excluding tax items, the book values
of the listed equity securities of the Group would have increased/
decreased by HK$11,199,000 (2011: HK$15,307,000).

Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total equity. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, senior notes, less cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting

period were as follows:

44. BIEEBEERERBE @)

EXREE®)

AEBERBERNBEL R (ERFRR AR
BEREABR - ERFRBEFERITRE
EE BERBRREIRSEEMRZRS
Be - RREHR BEABGELEMOT

Group rEE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Senior notes (note 37) BEZEH31) 1,844,984 1,900,083
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFRIRTTR
(note 30) HEMEE(#i#30) 4,773,382 4,242,697
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and B ReRBREEEEMR
restricted cash (note 28) SR HIRE (Ha£28) (3,831,987) (4,564,491)
Net debt B F 2,786,379 1,578,289
Total equity Tt FE 12,995,291 10,618,036
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 21% 15%
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

45. Events After the Reporting Period

(a)

On 9 April 2012, Shenzhen China South City Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“China South City Investment”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and the government of
Xin Zheng Shi of Henan province, the PRC, entered into an
agreement pursuant to which China South City Investment
has, in principle, agreed to undertake the construction and
development of a large-scale integrated logistics and trade
center (the “Zhengzhou Project”) with an estimated planned
total net land area of approximately 7 square kilo-meters in Xin
Zheng Shi, Henan Province, the PRC. The Zhengzhou Project
will accordingly be developed in phases and the development is
expected to be more than 10 years.

On 16 June 2012, Harbin China South City Company Limited
("CSC Harbin”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
has successfully bid for the land use rights to a land located
in Tuan Jie Town, Daowai District, Harbin, the PRC, with
a total site area of 263,463.8 square meters for a total
consideration of RMB239,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$293,970,000) at the auction held on 16 June 2012 in
which the land was put up for tender, auction and listing-
for-sale by the Harbin Bureau of Land and Resources. An
auction confirmation dated 16 June 2012 has been entered
into between the Harbin Land and Property Exchange Centre,
acting on behalf of the Harbin Bureau of Land and Resources,
and CSC Harbin in respect of the acquisition of land. The land
will be used for the development of the Harbin project.

46. Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 26 June 2012.
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